

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

Departamento de Botânica Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal



CÍNTIA DE ALMEIDA GONÇALVES

USO DE INTERAÇÕES MOLECULARES, IMUNOCITOQUÍMICA E GENÔMICA PARA CARACTERIZAÇÃO DE REVESTIMENTOS DE CÉLULAS DE MICROALGAS

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal do Departamento de Botânica do Instituto de Ciências Biológicas da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Doutor em Biologia Vegetal.

Área de Concentração: Fisiologia vegetal/ Ecologia

BELO HORIZONTE – MG

2020



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS



Departamento de Botânica Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal

CÍNTIA DE ALMEIDA GONÇALVES

USO DE INTERAÇÕES MOLECULARES, IMUNOCITOQUÍMICA E GENÔMICA PARA CARACTERIZAÇÃO DE REVESTIMENTOS DE CÉLULAS DE MICROALGAS

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal do Departamento de Botânica do Instituto de Ciências Biológicas da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Doutor em Biologia Vegetal.

Área de Concentração: Fisiologia vegetal/ Ecologia

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Cleber Cunha Figueredo Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais

Coorientadores: Prof. Dr. Tiago A. O. Mendes Universidade Federal de Viçosa

> Profa. Dra. Rute Cunha Figueiredo Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto

BELO HORIZONTE – MG

2020

043 Gonçalves, Cíntia de Almeida.

Uso de interações moleculares, imunocitoquímica e genômica para caracterização de revestimentos de células de microalgas [manuscrito] / Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves. – 2020.

124 f.: il.; 29,5 cm.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Cleber Cunha Figueredo. Coorientadores: Prof. Dr. Tiago A. O. Mendes e Profa. Dra. Rute Cunha Figueiredo. Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal.

 Microalgas. 2. Clorófitas. 3. Chlorella vulgaris. 4. Comunicação Celular. 5.
Parede Celular. 5. Genoma. 6. Imuno-Histoquímica. I. Figueredo, Cleber Cunha.
II. Mendes, Tiago A. O. III. Figueiredo, Rute Cunha. IV. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais. Instituto de Ciências Biológicas. V. Título.

CDU: 581

Ficha catalográfica elaborada pela bibliotecária Rosilene Moreira Coelho de Sá - CRB 6 - 2726



Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais ICB - Departamento de Botânica

Tese defendida por Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves em 29 de setembro de 2020 e aprovada pela Banca Examinadora constituída pelos professores:

Dr. Cleber Cunha Figueredo (orientador)

liguendo

Dr. Marcelo Gomes Marcal Vieira Vaz

maralo gomo m. 21 2/04

Dra. Gabriela von Rückert Heleno

Dr. Marcel Giovanni Costa França

Bickert

Dra. Adaíses Simone Maciel da Silva

Adaises Simore Mariel da Silva

Agradecimentos

A Deus. Por tudo: a vida, a experiência, as dificuldades, as soluções, as ideias, os aprendizados, as pessoas e principalmente pelos amigos que fiz.

A UFMG e ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Vegetal pela oportunidade de realizar o doutorado.

Ao Cleber, meu orientador de longa data. Tanto, que agora acho que posso chamar de amigo. Agradeço pela orientação, pela enorme paciência, pelas incontáveis horas que dispendeu com meu trabalho e comigo, para minha formação profissional e também pessoal. Eu, assim como todos que trabalham com o Cleber, me tornei uma pessoa melhor, porque ele nos incentiva a isso, sem querer e sem perceber, apenas por ser quem é e agir como age. E por isso, posso dizer que tudo já valeu muito a pena. Agradeço por ter sido sempre tão compreensivo e principalmente, por sua amizade.

Aos meus co-orientadores Rute Figueiredo e Tiago Mendes por todo o suporte, tempo, ensinamentos e tudo o que foi necessário para a viabilização desse projeto. Agradeço ao Tiago, por ter disponibilizado seu laboratório, sua equipe, equipamentos e verbas para execução desse projeto e por ter sido sempre, muito compreensivo e solícito.

À professora Alessandra Giani, por todo tempo dedicados a mim e aos meus trabalhos. Pela confiança, pela disponibilização de seu laboratório, equipamentos, pelas culturas de algas e pela parceria em todo o projeto.

À professora Rosy Isaías, pela parceria no capítulo 2 dessa tese. Por ter disponibilizado tudo o que foi necessário para a execução dos experimentos. Pelos valiosos ensinamentos não só nesse capítulo, mas nos vários momentos em que participou da minha formação.

À professora Queila Garcia, sempre muito solícita e disponível em todas as demandas que tive no laboratório de Fisiologia Vegetal. Obrigada pela confiança e livre acesso ao laboratório sempre que precisei usá-lo.

A todos os professores e colegas do Departamento de Botânica pela convivência e amizade. E um agradecimento especial para aqueles que direta ou indiretamente colaboraram para a realização desse projeto.

A Denise Márcia, secretária do PPGBV, que sempre resolveu prontamente e com muita gentileza, todos os problemas e demandas que tive durante o doutorado.

A CAPES, pelo fomento da minha bolsa durante todo o período de doutoramento.

Aos técnicos de laboratório, Elenice, Wagner e Michele por toda ajuda e ensinamentos a mim dedicados.

Aos meus queridos colegas de laboratório: Gustavo, Lucas, Leandro, Jeremias, Ronaldo, Scarlet, Ana Luiza, Priscila, Arthur, Ariadne, Mayara, Franciele e Mônica pela amizade, ajudas, dicas, idéias e principalmente por tornarem a rotina de trabalho leve e divertida.

A todos os meus colegas do laboratório de Ficologia pelo carinho e convivência. Um agradecimento especial para Valquíria Lima, Leandro Ambrózio e Laísa Marques pela imensa ajuda com protocolos e procedimentos diversos.

A Gracielle Bragança, pela amizade e imensa ajuda com estudos imunohistoquímicos.

A Leilane Barreto, pela ajuda com a extração de proteínas e ensaios afins.

Aos colegas do laboratório de bioquímica (LBM) da UFV, que me receberam com muita atenção e carinho. Um agradecimento especial para Renato Senra e Raquel Cosate que dedicaram seu tempo para me ajudar e ensinar uma infinidade de coisas e processos e sempre, com muito sorriso e boa vontade.

Ao Túlio Morgan, pelas incontáveis horas dedicadas a me ensinar, explicar e ajudar com toda a parte de bioinformática. Obrigada por ter sido sempre tão solícito e gentil.

Aos colegas do laboratório de Ficologia (UCP) da UFV, por todo apoio e ajuda. Em especial, agradeço ao Allan Victor, que sempre esteve disponível para me auxiliar em tudo que precisei.

Agradeço a minha família, minha base e bem maior. Não teria sido possível sem a dedicação da minha mãe Dulcinha, meu irmão Éverson e meu marido Éder. Agradeço por cuidarem de tudo enquanto eu cuidava desse trabalho. Agradeço por aceitarem com paciência as minhas ausências e irritações e por sempre apoiarem e compartilharem dos meus sonhos e objetivos. Agradeço ao Murilo César, meu pequeno grande amor, minha fonte inesgotável de energia e vontade de fazer sempre o melhor. E ao Carlos Augusto, meu outro pequeno grande amor e minha outra fonte, rsrs...

Índice

Folha de rosto
Resumo 10
Introdução geral14
Referências
Capítulo 1: What we really know about the composition and function of microalgae cell
coverings? - an overview
Abstract
1 - Introduction
2-Types and composition of cyanobacteria and microalgae coverings 21
2.1 - Inner cell coverings
2.1.1 – Amphiesma
2.1.2-Periplast
2.2 - Extracellular coverings
2.2.1-Cyanobacterial cell wall
2.2.2- Eukariotic microalgae cell wall
2.2.3- Organic scales
2.2.4-Coccoliths
2.2.5- Lorica
2.2.6- Silica scales
2.2.7-Frustule
3- Coverings affect commercial exploration of microalgae: limitations and tools to disrupt
cells and assess products
4 - Conclusion
5- References
Rashidi B, Trindade LM. 2018. Detailed biochemical and morphologic characteristics of
the green microalga Neochloris oleoabundans cell wall. Algal Research 35: 152-159 52

Reimann BEF, Lewin JC, Volcani BE. 1965. Studies on the biochemistry and fi	ne
structure of silica shell formation in diatoms. I. The structure of the cell wall	of
Cylindrotheca fusiformis Reimann and Lewin. Journal of Cell Biology 24: 39-55	52
Capítulo 2: How similar are microalgal and plant cell walls? Applying methods develop	ed
for plants to elucidate microalgal cell wall composition	55
Abstract	56
1-Introduction	57
2- Materials and methods	62
2.1- Species and culture conditions	62
2.2- Cytochemistry: Detection of cellulose by Calcofluor white	62
2.3- Immunocytochemistry	63
2.2.1- Detection of pectins	63
2.2.2- For detection of hemicelluloses:	64
3- Results	65
3.1- Cytochemistry	65
3.2- Imunocytochemistry	66
3.2.1- Detection of pectins	66
3.2.2- Detection of hemicelluloses	66
4- Discussion	72
5- References	76
McCartney, L., Marcus, S.E. & Knox, J.P. (2005). Monoclonal antibodies to plant cell wa	all
xylans and arabinoxylans. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 53:543-546	80
Capítulo 3: Composition of glycidic receptors in cell surface of green microalgae chang	es
with cell aging	83
1- Introduction	85
2- Material and Methods	87
4-Discussion	92
5- References	96

Capítulo 4: Binding proteins of D-mannose, L-fucose and N-acetylgalactosamine on
Coelastrum microporum cell surface: Are they lectins? Detection with glycodendrons and
genomic analysis 101
Abstract
1- Introduction
2- Material and methods
2.1- Culture
The <i>Coelastrum microporum</i> culture was obtained from the Collection of Algae and Cyanobacteria of the Phycology Laboratory of the Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil. This culture is maintained in CHU 10 medium at 20(±1) °C and 22(±0,1) µmol photons m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , under a light: dark cycle of 12:12 h. The experiments were performed at four growing ages: 3, 10, 19 and 26 days of growth. All experiments and analyses were
performed in triplicate, using living cells, and with no fixation process
2.2- Synthesis of the glycodendrons
2.3- Exposition of the species to the glycodendrons
2.4- Cultivation and Genomic DNA Isolation
2.5- Genome Sequencing and Assembly
2.6- Genome annotation
2.7- Comparison of chlorophyte genomes
3- Results
3.1- Detection of glycidic receptors
3.2- Assembly and functional annotation of <i>Coelastrum microporum</i> genome 108
4- Discussion
5- References
Considerações finais
Referências

Resumo

Microalgas são um grupo muito diversificado de organismos fotoautotróficos com importantes papéis ecológicos e sendo atualmente consideradas uma fonte de compostos de alto valor agregado e de matéria prima para produção de biocombustíveis. Tais compostos se encontram, na maioria das vezes, internamente à célula, fazendo com que o revestimento celular atue como uma primeira barreira para acessá-los. A ruptura das células algais nem sempre é um processo simples e de baixo custo, havendo um variado repertório de estruturas de revestimento encontradas nesses organismos. As estruturas rígidas de revestimento são pouco conhecidas ou o conhecimento é restrito a poucas espécies, sendo muito pouco representativo considerando o grande número de espécies. Porém, as superfícies celulares também possuem uma composição de biomoléculas que são muito variáveis dentre as microalgas e são ainda menos conhecidas. Sabe-se que dentre essas biomoléculas as mais importantes são os carboidratos e as lectinas, cuja interação entre si medeiam importantes processos fisiológicos. Assim, tanto as estruturas rígidas de revestimento quanto as superfícies celulares guardam informações importantes sobre a ecologia, morfologia e fisiologia das células. Nesse trabalho, os objetivos principais foram avaliar o conhecimento atual a respeito das estruturas de revestimento de microalgas, elucidar as composições da parede celular e dos receptores glicídicos das superfícies celulares de seis e cinco espécies de microalgas respectivamente. Para isso foram elaborados quatro capítulos, correspondentes a quatro manuscritos, os quais, em seu conjunto, foram baseados em uma aprofundada revisão da literatura sobre o tema, aplicação de técnicas de cito e imunocitoquímica, uso de glicodendrons como sondas, uso de microscopia confocal e também, para uma espécie (Coelastrum microporum), sequenciamento e análise genômica. A parede celular das espécies testadas apresentou uma composição de celulose, pectinas e hemiceluloses que parece ser espécie-específica. Essa composição também variou de acordo com a idade das células, sugerindo que a composição da parede celular está associada ao momento fisiológico. *Coelastrum microporum* foi a espécie que mais se assemelhou à parede de plantas em termos de composição e dinâmica de esterificação de pectinas. Nas superfícies celulares foram detectados receptores glicídicos (lectinas) para os carboidratos de D-manose, L-fucose e *N*-acetilgalactosamina. A composição dos receptores também variou entre as espécies e de acordo com a idade das células. A análise do genoma de *C. microporum* mostrou a presença de uma lectina e muitas outras proteínas (137) com grandes chances de também serem lectinas devido às suas características. Estudos mais refinados, incluindo proteômica, são necessários para caracterização e confirmação da identidade e função dessas proteínas receptoras de carboidratos.

Palavras chave: Chlorophyta, *Chlorella vulgaris*, interação celular, parede celular, genoma.

Abstract

Microalgae are a very diverse group of photoautotrophic organisms with important ecological roles and are currently considered a source of compounds with high added value and raw material for biofuels production. Such compounds are found, most of time, inside the cell with the cell covering acting as a first barrier to access them. The rupture of algal cells is not always a simple and low-cost process due the varied repertoire of coating structures found in these organisms. Rigid coverings structures are poorly known or knowledge is restricted to a few species, being very unrepresentative considering the large diversity of microalgae. Cell surfaces also have a composition of biomolecules that are very variable among microalgae and are even less known. It is known that among these biomolecules carbohydrates and lectins are the most important, whose interaction between them mediate important physiological processes. Thus, both the rigid coverings structures and the cell surfaces hold important information about the ecology, morphology and physiology of cells. In this work, the main goals were to evaluate the current knowledge regarding the microalgae covering structures, to elucidate the cell wall and glycidic receptors compositions of the cell surfaces of six and five microalgae species respectively. For this, four chapters were prepared, corresponding to four manuscripts, which, taken as a whole, were based on a thorough review of the literature on the subject, application of cyto and immunocytochemistry techniques, use of glycodendrons as probes, use of confocal microscopy and also, for a species (Coelastrum microporum), sequencing and genomic analysis. The cell wall of the tested species showed a composition of cellulose, pectins and hemicelluloses that appears to be species-specific. This composition also varied according to the age of the cells, suggesting that the composition of the cell wall is associated with the physiological moment. Coelastrum microporum was the species that most resembled the plant wall in terms of composition and dynamics of pectin esterification. On cell surfaces, glycidic receptors (lectins) for the D-mannose, L-fucose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine carbohydrates were detected. The composition of the receptors also varied between species and according to the age of the cells. The analysis of the *C*. *microporum* genome shows the presence of one lectin and many others encoding proteins (137) with a high chance of being lectins. More refined studies, including proteomics, are needed to characterize and confirm the identity and function of these carbohydrate receptor proteins.

Keywords: Chlorophyta, Chlorella vulgaris, cell interaction, cell wall, genome.

Introdução geral

O termo microalgas é frequentemente aplicado para descrever um vasto e diversificado grupo de organismos eucariotos e procariotos (cianobactérias) fotoautotróficos (Gigova and Marinova 2016), embora o ideal seja que as cianobactérias sejam tratadas como um grupo a parte. As microalgas e cianobactérias são onipresentes na natureza e desempenham importantes papéis ecológicos, como ciclagem de nutrientes, manutenção dos níveis de oxigênio (na água e na atmosfera) além de estarem na base da cadeia alimentar aquática (Hopes and Mock 2015). Além de sua importância ecológica, as microalgas e cianobactérias são vistas como uma fonte alternativa de matéria-prima para a produção de biodiesel (Wu et al. 2017) e extração de compostos de alto valor agregado (ácidos graxos, vitaminas e pigmentos) que podem ser utilizados em diversos segmentos industriais como de cosméticos, fármacos e nutracêuticos (Du et al. 2016).

Os compostos extraídos de microalgas encontram-se, na maioria das vezes, internamente à célula, sendo necessária à sua ruptura para acesso a tais compostos. (Dixon and Wilken 2018). No entanto, essa ruptura nem sempre é um processo fácil, pois depende da composição do envoltório celular de cada espécie. As algas possuem uma grande variedade de envoltórios celulares que por sua vez, são diversificados em termos de composição química e arquitetura. Essa diversificação das coberturas celulares algais é, inclusive, usada como carácter taxonômico em alguns grupos (Cavalier-Smith 2016, Eikrem et al. 2017). Apesar disso, poucas espécies têm a ultraestrutura e a composição de suas coberturas celulares bem elucidadas e o conhecimento sobre tais revestimentos ainda é muito limitado, principalmente considerando a grande diversidade do grupo. Em consequência, frequentemente são feitas muitas generalizações que sequer são aplicáveis,

pois as coberturas celulares algais podem ser muito variáveis até mesmo dentro de um mesmo grupo taxonômico (Baudelet et al. 2017).

Assim como as coberturas, as superfícies celulares das algas também possuem características que podem ser espécie-específicas, além de guardar informações importantes sobre a fisiologia das células. As superfícies celulares são compostas por biomoléculas que formam a primeira estrutura de contato entre o organismo e o ambiente. Dentre essas moléculas, destacam-se os carboidratos e as lectinas, que são os grandes protagonistas em processos em que o reconhecimento celular é necessário (Bulgakov et al. 2004). Lectinas estão presentes em células de todos os seres vivos e são proteínas de origem não imune, conhecidas por sua capacidade de reconhecimento de carboidratos de forma reversível e altamente específica (Santos et al. 2014). Lectinas de algas vem ganhando interesse entre os pesquisadores devido ao seu potencial para uma variedade de aplicações biomédicas (Singh et al. 2015, 2018) e, em adição, são moléculas importantíssimas para os organismos por mediarem uma série de processos fisiológicos. O conhecimento dessas moléculas, portanto, é fundamental e muito importante por ampliar os conhecimentos sobre a morfologia, fisiologia e ecologia dos organismos.

Nesse contexto, esse trabalho consiste em uma busca para ampliar o conhecimento sobre as coberturas e superfícies celulares de seis espécies de microalgas: *Chlorella vulgaris, Coelastrum microporum, Mougeotia* sp., *Pseudopediastrum boryanum* e *Spirogyra* sp. Para isso, foram utilizadas como ferramentas de trabalho: uma revisão da literatura bastante completa, técnicas de cito e imunocitoquímica, métodos de microscopia confocal e glicodendrons como sondas e, finalmente, sequenciamento e análise genômica para uma das espécies (*Coelastrum microporum*). O estudo é composto por quatro capítulos. No capítulo 1, foi feita uma compilação das informações disponíveis na literatura sobre coberturas celulares de microalgas com o objetivo de mostrar o que

realmente se sabe sobre essas estruturas. No capítulo 2 foi feito um estudo sobre a parede celular (um dos tipos de cobertura celular de algas) de seis espécies de microalgas. Foram utilizadas técnicas de cito e imunocitoquímica para detecção dos componentes da parede celular. Também foi avaliado se a composição da parede celular dessas espécies se altera com o tempo de crescimento da cultura após o repique. No capítulo 3, receptores glicídicos das superfícies de cinco espécies de microalgas foram detectados utilizando glicodendrons como sondas e microscopia confocal. As espécies foram testadas em quatro idades de cultivo diferentes para averiguação de possíveis mudanças na expressão desses receptores ao longo da vida dos organismos. Finalmente, no capítulo 4, foi feito um estudo dos receptores glicídicos encontrados na superfície de *Coelastrum microporum*. Foram utilizados três glicodendrons como sondas e sequenciamento e análise do genoma da espécie.

Referências

- Baudelet, P.H., Ricochon, G., Linder, M. & Muniglia, L. 2017. A new insight into cell walls of Chlorophyta. *Algal Res.* 25:333–71.
- Bulgakov, A.A., Park, K. Il, Choi, K.S., Lim, H.K. & Cho, M. 2004. Purification and characterisation of a lectin isolated from the Manila clam Ruditapes philippinarum in Korea. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 16:487–99.
- Cavalier-Smith, T. 2016. Higher classification and phylogeny of Euglenozoa. *Eur. J. Protistol.* 56:250–76.
- Dixon, C. & Wilken, L.R. 2018. Green microalgae biomolecule separations and recovery. *Bioresour. Bioprocess.* 5.
- Du, Y., Schuur, B., Kersten, S.R.A. & Brilman, D.W.F. 2016. Microalgae wet extraction using *N*-ethyl butylamine for fatty acid production. *Green Energy Environ*. 1:79–83.

- Eikrem, W., Medlin, L.K., Henderiks, J., Rokitta, S., Rost, B., Probert, I. & Throndsen, J. 2017. Handbook of the Protists.
- Gigova, L. and & Marinova, G. 2016. Significance of microalgae-grounds and areas. *Genet. Plant Physiol.* 6:85–100.
- Hopes, A. & Mock, T. 2015. Evolution of Microalgae and Their Adaptations in Different Marine Ecosystems. *eLS*. 1–9.
- Santos, A.F.S., Da Silva, M.D.C., Napoleão, T.H., Paiva, P.M.G., Correia, M.T.S. & Coelho, L.C.B.B. 2014. Lectins: Function, structure, biological properties and potential applications. *Curr. Top. Pept. Protein Res.* 15:41–62.
- Singh, R.S., Thakur, S.R. & Bansal, P. 2015. Algal lectins as promising biomolecules for biomedical research. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 41:77–88.
- Singh, R.S., Walia, A.K., Kaur, J., Singh, D.P. & Rajput, A. 2018. New cell surface bound lectins with complex carbohydrate specificity from members of green algae. *Indian J. Exp. Biol.* 56:484–92.
- Wu, C., Xiao, Y., Lin, W., Li, J., Zhang, S., Zhu, J. & Rong, J. 2017. Aqueous enzymatic process for cell wall degradation and lipid extraction from Nannochloropsis sp. *Bioresour. Technol.* 223:312–6.

Capítulo 1: What we really know about the composition and function of microalgae cell coverings? - an overview

Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves¹ and Cleber Cunha Figueredo^{1*}

¹Departmento de Botânica, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627, Pampulha, Caixa Postal 486, 31270-970, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brasil.

*Corresponding author: cleberfigueredo@ufmg.br Phone: +553134093030

Abstract

Cell coverings can be observed in all major groups of organisms, which include animals, plants, fungi, protists and prokaryotes. They play a key role in guaranteeing the cell survival or adaptation to certain environmental conditions. Since the term algae refers to a polyphyletic and very artificial group, the cell coverings among these organisms show a very diverse molecular composition and different arrangements. Differences have taxonomic value since they allow to distinguish microalgae phyla or even minor taxonomic groups, such as classes, orders or families. Understanding the cell covering structure is also fundamental for the use of microalgae to obtain products of commercial value. Despite its importance, the composition and architecture of microalgae coverings is still poorly understood, mainly when considering the great diversity of organisms. Diatom frustules are the most studied covering due their uses in areas of bio and nanotechnology. There is a lack of information about cell wall, lorica, periplast, amphiesma and scales. This study is a review to synthesize literature information on the microalgae cell coverings, describing their compositions, arrangements, functions and industrial uses.

Key words: algal coverings variety, cell surface, molecular structures, taxonomical value, biological interactions.

1 - Introduction

Microalgae comprise eukaryotic and procariotic organisms (cyanobacteria) (Gigova & Marinova 2016), commonly studied together due to their similar photoautotrophic metabolism (Saad & Atia 2014). They show many differences in cell structure and physiology due to their polyphyletic origin and also because they evolved to adapt to many different environments, such as freshwater, seawater, salt lakes, soil, arctic environments, deserts (Raja *et al.* 2014; Zancan *et al.* 2006) and even in association with other organisms such as corals, plants and fungi (in lichens) (Sanders 2001, Wooldridge 2013). Among the particularities used to characterize the different groups of microalgae and cyanobacteria there are the cell coverings, which are the special structures that surround their cells.

The many types of cell coverings are related to the needs of different microalgae, which include interactions with chemical substances, connection between cells, fixation in substrates, protection, communication, reproduction and maintenance of the cell shape (Peterson & Quie 1981, Hoson 2002; Okuda 2002; Yoshimi *et al.* 2017). Microalgae cell coverings have been studied for decades, but details about their ultrastructure and composition are not well known, especially when compared to the higher availability of information about other structures, or even about pigments and reserve substances. Due to economic interests, the studies are focused on diatoms, chlorophytes and charophytes, with some generalizations being established for these phyla. There is a lack of recent studies about the cell coverings of other phyla. Further, generalizations have low value even for the well-known phyla since studies are concentrated in few species although species-specific particularities are commonly reported (Domozych *et al.* 2012).

Here, we present a review to synthesize the available information about composition, architecture and function of the different types of cell coverings present in cyanobacteria and microalgae.

2 – Types and composition of cyanobacteria and microalgae coverings

The cell coverings of autotrophic microorganisms have different names according to their particular structure, position in relation to cell surface and chemical composition (Okuda, 2002). Table 1 synthesizes information about these coverings' types, their major compounds and taxonomical groups in which they are present.

Cell covering	Class	Major compounds	References
Cell wall	Cyanophyceae	Peptidoglycans	Rudolf <i>et al.</i> 2015
Amphiesma	Dinophyceae	Cellulose	Chan <i>et al</i> . 2019;
			Loeblich 1970
Periplast	Cryptophyceae	Proteins	Hoef-Emden & Melkonian
			2003; Brett <i>et al.</i> 1994
Pellicle		Proteinaceous strips	Cavalier-Smith 2017;
renicie	Eugleponbycese		Sommer 1965
Lorica	Lugienophyceae	Mucopolysaccharides and minerals	Poniewozik 2017
Coccolith	Haptophyceae	Calcium carbonate	Walker <i>et al.</i> 2018; Faber &
(calcified scale)	haptophyceue		Preisig, 1994
Fructulo	Bacillariophyceae	Silica	De Tommasi et al. 2017;
Tustuic			Nakajima & Volcani, 1969
Lorica	Chrysonhyceae	Chitin and cellulose	Herth <i>et al.</i> 1977; Herth &
Lonca	emysophyseae		Zugenmaier, 1979
Silica scales	Chrysophyceae	Silica	Leadbeter & Barker 1995
	Sinurophyceae	Silica	Sandgren & Hall 1996
Cell wall	Chlorophysooo	Cellulose	Okuda 2002
Organic scales	Спюторпусеае	2-keto sugar acids	Becker <i>et al.</i> 1994
Cell Wall	Charophyceae	Cellulose	Okuda 2002

Table 1: Types and composition of cell covering found in algae and cyanobacteria.

Some coverings are located internally in relation to the plasma membrane. They are found in Dinophyta, Cryptophyta and Euglenophyta and are called amphiesma, periplast and pellicle, respectively (Gantt 1971; Morril & Loeblich 1983; Leander *et al.* 2001). Cyanobacteria and some microalgae have coverings that are located externally the plasma membrane. Even the cell walls of Cyanobacteria and the eukaryotic green algae (Chlorophyta and Charophyta) being different in structure and composition, they are an example of external coverings with similar function. Other external structures are the lorica present in some Euglenophyta and Ochrophyta, the scales of some Ochrophyta and Haptophyta and the frustules of Bacillariophyta, which is one of the most particular algal coverings. Details on each covering type are presented in the following items.

2.1 - Inner cell coverings

2.1.1 – Amphiesma

Dinoflagellates can be divided into two major groups: naked organisms with no thick coverings and armored organisms, which have an amphiesma (Gómez 2007). This term (from Greek, amphi = around, esthma = clothing) was coined by Schutt (1895) and refers to the complete covering of armored dinoflagellates, which includes the plasma membrane as the outermost layer (Sekida *et al.* 2004; Morrill 1984), a layer of membranous vesicles, which may contain glucan tecal plates, and a pellicle (Pozdnyakov & Skarlato 2012) (Fig. 1). The term theca can be also used (Dodge & Crawford 1970), but not as a synonym for amphiesma since it refers only to the layer formed by the vesicles containing thecal plates in armored (thecate) dinophytes. The thecal plates are described originally as a cellulosic structure (Swift & Remsen 1970; Okuda & Sekida 2007), but a recent study (Wang *et al.* 2011) showed that proteins are also present. The number and disposition of thecal plates are important features for dinoflagellates classification (Dodge

1983). These membranous vesicles are empty or contain amorphous materials in athecate dinoflagellates (Dodge & Crawford 1970).

The innermost layer is a membrane that some authors consider as a part of the amphiesma, but others (see Morril & Loeblich 1983) consider it as a pellicle. This layer is present in some species and contains sporopollenin-like substances that confers resistance to it (Morril & Loeblich 1983; Okuda 2002). In some athecate dinoflagellates, the pellicle may be the most important layer to confer resistance to the cell surface, maintaining the cell's shape (Saldarriaga & Taylor 2017).

The amphiesma is a dynamic structure that undergoes many changes throughout the life cycle of the organisms (Sekida *et al.* 2004; Pozdnyakov & Skarlato 2012;). Despite all published studies, the structure and genesis of the amphiesma remain not fully understood (Pozdnyakov & Skarlato 2012). Sekida *et al.* (2001) showed that the vesicles are formed in the non-motile phase of the life cycle and after that the thecal plates are formed inside them in the motile phase.



Fig. 1 - Schematic representation of a cell of Dinophyta (A), showing its two typical flagella. Representation of the structural components of the amphiesma (B): The pellicle layer; (C) Outer plate membrane; (D) Techal vesicle; (E) Techal plate; (F) Cytoplasmatic membrane and the outermost membrane (G). Adapted from Wang *et al.* (2011).

2.1.2-Periplast

The cryptophytes have an asymmetric cell shape with clearly defined dorsiventral/right-left sides (Hoef-Emden & Melkonian 2003) that has taxonomic significance. This shape partially results of the presence of a vestibule, which is a subapical invagination of plasma membrane, but it is mainly related to a rigid periplast, which is the typical cell covering in this phylum (Brett *et al.* 1994). It covers the entire cell, except the flagella and the vestibular/gullet region (Perasso *et al.* 1997). The vestibule (from where the flagella emerge) can extend internally to form a gullet or continue along the ventral surface to form a furrow (Kugrens & Lee 1991).

The periplast of cryptophytes is composed of two proteic layers, the inner periplast component (IPC) and the surface periplast component (SPC), with the plasma membrane sandwiched between them (Gantt 1971, Brett *et al.* 1994) (Fig. 2). Nevertheless, there are also some species that have a simpler periplast composed by only the plasma membrane and the inner layer (Kugrens & Lee 1987). The totality of characteristics and functions of the periplast are uncertain, but stiffness, flexibility and elasticity are commonly attributed to it (Faust 1974). A fourth possible function is to protect the integrity of the cell membrane during the explosive discharges of the ejectisomes, a type of extrusive organelles (Hausmann 1978, 1979).

The morphology and organization of the periplast are different among Cryptophyceae and more than one type of IPC were described (Brett & Wetherbee 1986). The IPC develops within specific regions called anamorphic zones that are located around the vestibule (Brett & Wheterbee 1996). The IPC is able to grow throughout the life cycle, allowing the elongation and expansion of the cell (Brett & Wheterbee 1996). Depending of the taxon, the IPC is formed by a unique continuous layer or it could be formed by several scales arranged internally in relation to the plasma membrane (Brett *et al.* 1994). The SPC may appear as dense mats of an unidentified fibrillar material, complex rosulate scales or highly ordered surface plates (Brett & Wheterbee 1986; Brett *et al.* 1994;). The microarchitecture of these plates were described in detail by Brett & Wheterbee (1996b), who showed that these plates are formed by aligned tiny subunits. Studies suggest that these subunits of SPC are produced in the Golgi apparatus and secreted through the endomembrane system to be added at the edges of the periplast (Brett *et al.* 1994, Perasso *et al.* 1997).

The periplast is a complex and unique type of cell covering and some researchers dedicated their work to elucidate its formation, structure and composition by using refined techniques such as immunocytochemistry (Perasso *et al.* 1997), scanning electron microscopy, freeze-fracture and freeze-etch (See review: Brett *et al.* 1997). However, even with the necessity to better understand the periplast structure and functioning, there are few recent studies focused on this type of cell covering. As can be seen in this review, relevant researches are dated from the 1970s to the 1990s.



Fig. 2- A-Scheme of a cell of Cryptophyta. B-Representation of structural components of the periplast: Inner periplast component (IPC), surface periplast component (SPC) and the plasma membrane (PM). Adapted from Brec *et al.* (1999).

Although the pellicle can be found among the dinophytes, it is much more complex in Euglenophyta. It is the most important covering in this phylum and is the most rigid structure in the cell surface of most species. The pellicle of euglenophytes can be described as a complex region containing proteinaceous strips, microtubules and tubular cisternae of endoplasmic reticulum that runs along the length of the cell beneath the plasma membrane (Leedale 1964; Sommer 1965; Schwelitz *et al.* 1970; Vismara *et al.* 2000; Strother *et al.* 2019) (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3- Scheme of a cell of Euglenophyta (A). Magnification of the pellicle (B) showing the strips (C), the pores (D) and the spaces between the strips (E). Schematic representation of the pellicle's components and organization (F-J). The plasma membrane (F) covers the strips (G) that are connected by the centrines (H). In J and I the endoplasmic reticulum and the microtubules are represented respectively. Adaptaded from Cavalier Smith (2017) and Leander *et al.* (2001).

The strips are considered the major component of the euglenids pellicles, and their general ultrastructure is relatively well understood (Strother et al. 2019). They are composed by proteins named articulins which are arranged in parallel and result in a typical ultrastructure that can be used to differentiate species or genera (Cavalier-Smith 2017). The quantity of strips has taxonomic value since it varies widely among species, but is conserved within them (Cavalier-Smith 2016). Another important aspect of strips is how they are organized in cell surface, since they can be arranged in longitudinal rows or helically twisted (Leander et al. 2007). When arranged longitudinally, the strips make the pellicle rigid and prevent changes in the cell's shape, as observed in the most primitive euglenoids that form the classes Entosiphonea, which has fewer strips (12 or less), Stavomonadea and Ploeotarea (superclass Rigimonada) (Cavalier-Smith 2016; Cavalier-Smith 2017). The pellicles with helical strips are found in euglenoids of the superclass Spirocuta, comprising heterotrophic Peranema Stein, 1859, and ancestrally photosynthetic Euglenophyceae, which in turn have several strips (14-80) (Cavalier-Smith 2016; Cavalier-Smith 2017). These pellicles show higher malleability and are often associated with a peculiar mode of cellular locomotion called metabolic or "euglenoid movement" (Leander et al. 2001).

At the junctions between the strips there are the pellicle pores. They are small openings whose function is to provide access for two different ejectile organelles (muciferous bodies and mucocysts) to the cell surface (Leander *et al.* 2001). The strips are connected each other by oblique traversing fibres of centrin, which is a calcium-sensitive contractile protein closely related to the body's reorientations during photophobic responses and flagellar contractions (Höhfeld *et al.* 1988). Intimately associated with each strip there is still the cisterna of endoplasmic reticulum, that pump and store calcium for release when centrin contractions are required (Cavalier-Smith 2017).

2.2 - Extracellular coverings

2.2.1-Cyanobacterial cell wall

Cyanobacteria are a special type of bacteria since they are the only group of prokaryotes that can perform oxygenic photosynthesis (Zhang *et al.* 2018). They are ubiquitous organisms mainly due to their adaptation to various types of environments and their tolerance to extreme conditions (Gaysina *et al.* 2019). Their cell wall is part of their adaptive success.

Bacteria are generally classified as gram positive or negative according to the chemical and physical properties of their cell walls (Hiremath & Bannigidad 2011). Cyanobacteria are gram-negative bacteria, with the cell wall located externally to the plasma membrane. This wall consists of a peptidoglycan layer that is involved by a superficial layer, also called outer membrane (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4- A- Representation of a filamentous Cyanobacteria. B-Scheme showing the components of the gram-negative cell wall of Cyanobacteria. The outermost layer is composed of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (E) that are found on the surface of the outermost plasma membrane (F). In this membrane are located some integral proteins (C) and porins (D). Just below there is a peptidoglycan layer (G), composed of pentaglycine cross-links (a) and alternating polymers of *N*-acetylmuramic acid and *N*-acetylglucosamine (b). Below this layer is another layer of phospholipid membrane (H). Adapted from Aiad *et al.* (2016).

The plasma membrane is also commonly called inner membrane by some authors, who consider it as a third layer composing the cell wall (Silhavy *et al.* 2010). The outer membrane is a particularity of Gram-negative bacteria and it is formed by an asymmetric bilayer, in which the inner face is composed of phospholipids, while the outer face is composed of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (Zhang *et al.* 2013) that play a key role in bacterial pathogenicity (Maldonado *et al.* 2016). The outer membrane is a selective permeation barrier (Nikaido 2003) that is involved in cell nutrition and also confers resistance to a variety of detergents and antibiotics (Doerrler 2006).

The peptidoglycan layer is composed by repeated units of the disaccharide *N*-acetylglucosamine and by *N*-acetylmuramic acid, which are cross-linked by pentapeptide side chains (Vollmer *et al.* 2008). This layer gives rigidity to the cyanobacterial cells, maintaining their shape. It also confers a protection against differences in osmotic pressure between the external and internal media, and also serves as a scaffold for anchoring proteins and teichoic acids (See review: Irazoki *et al.* 2019). Despite its rigidity, the peptide glycan layer is sufficiently dynamic to allow cell growth, division and morphogenesis (Zhang *et al.* 2018).

Although the general structure of cyanobacterial cell walls is the same observed in gram-negative bacteria, some characteristics of gram-positive walls and other particularities are also present (Hoiczyk & Hansel 2000). Their peptidoglycan layer, for example, is considerably thicker (reaching 700 nm in larger species, like *Oscillatoria princeps* Gomont, 1892) than those observed in most gram-negative bacteria (5-10 nm) (Hoiczyk & Hansel 2000). In *Synechocystis* Sauvageau, 1892, the degree of cross-linking between peptidoglycan chains is greater than that usually found in heterotrophic gram-negative bacteria and is more similar to the reported values for gram-positive bacteria (Hoiczyk & Hansel 2000). Further, cyanobacteria cell walls have components that are

absent in the cell walls of other gram-negative bacteria. For example, they have carotenoids (Resch & Gibson 1983) and the fatty acid b-hydroxypalmitic as a substitute for the hydroxymyristic acid commonly found in other gram-negative bacteria (Jurgens & Weckesser 1985).

2.2.2- Eukariotic microalgae cell wall

Among the microalgae coverings, the term "cell wall" is reserved for a thick, rigid and continuous structure that is mainly composed of cellulose microfibrils (Okuda 2002). This kind of cell covering is found in the green algae (Chlorophyta and Charophyta). The molecular structure of the cellulose of these algae is the same of the cellulose found in plants, which is a linear polymer of β -(1-4)-linked d-glucose (Baldan et al. 2001, Fry 2003). However, the structure of the cellulosic walls is not the same for the both groups (Okuda 2002), except for few algal taxa more related to plants (Sørensen *et al.* 2011; Domozych *et al.* 2012). Beyond cellulose, other polymers like xylans and mannans may also occur as the major structural polymer in some algae (Okuda 2002) and some species of Chlorophyta have no cellulose (Iman *et al.* 1985).

The structural polymers are embedded in an amorphous matrix composed by polysaccharides, which varies among different green algae taxa (Domozych *et al.* 2012). Then, together with cellulose, hemicellulose, pectins, and other polysaccharides composing this matrix were described in cell walls of various microalgae (Sorensen *et al.* 2011, see table 2) (Fig. 5). However, there is a lack of information about the complete structure and composition of algae cell walls. Recently, more attention has been paid to algal cell wall due to the new tools and techniques allowing to do very detailed studies and mainly due to the need to better understand these structures. This knowledge is fundamental to solve questions about the morphology and physiology of these organisms and their interaction with the environment. It is also necessary for the development of methods to disrupt cells

for the extraction of various compounds of economic interest (Baudelet *et al.* 2017), such as pigments and fatty acids.

Phylum	Cell wall componentes	References
Charophyta	Uronic acids	Pooper and Fry 2003
	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Domozych <i>et al.</i> 2010 Sorensen <i>et al.</i> 2011
	Pectins	Domozych <i>et al.</i> 2007 Eder and Lutz-Meindl 2008 Eder and Lutz-Meindl 2010 Domozych <i>et al.</i> 2011
	Cellulose	Wurdack 1923 Herburguer and Holzinger 2015
	AGPs and hemicelluloses	Eder et al. 2008
	Chitin	Wurdack 1923
	Cellulose	Parker 1964 Yamada and Sakaguchi 1982 Baldan <i>et al.</i> 2001 Nemcová 2003
	Glycoproteins	Goodenough and Heuser 1985
Chlorophyta	Sporopollenin	He et al. 2016
	Aminoacids and saccharides	Abo-Shady et al. 1993
	HRGP and hemicelluloses	Estevez et al. 2009
	Cellulose and other polysacharides	Piro et al. 2000
	Chitin	Wurdack 1923
	D-glucose, D-mannose	Parker 1964
		Wurdack 1923
	Pectins	Bisalputra and Weier 1963 Yamada and Sakaguchi 1982

Table 2: Chemical composition of green-algae cell walls.



Fig. 5 - A- Representation of a colony of Chlorophyta. B- Magnification showing the main components of the green algae cell wall. In C is represented the layer of pectic compounds in which the microfibrils of cellulose (D) and hemicellulose (E) are immersed.

2.2.3- Organic scales

Members of Prasinophyceae (Chlorophyta) have their cells covered by organic scales. These scales are mainly composed of acid polysaccharides (2-keto sugars), with some proteins being present in lesser amount (Becker *et al.* 1994). Prasinophyceae scales are synthesized in the Golgi cisterns and transported to the cell surface by exocytosis (Moestrup & Walne 1979). Interestingly, a cell can show many types of scales arranged in several layers (1-5) on the surface of the cell body and even of the flagella (Becker *et al.* 1994) (Fig. 6). Less common, it is also observed the scales fused in one piece, as occurs in the genera *Tetraselmis* Stein, 1878, and *Scherffelia* Pascher, 1912 (Arora *et al.* 2013). In the order Pyramimonadales the scales are arranged in 3 layers. These are considered the most complex among the Prasinophyceae. In the innermost layer, the scales are small, square or pentagonal; in the middle layer the scales of the outer layer have the shape of a spider web or the form of a box, while the scales of the outer layer have the shape of a crown (Daugbjerg *et al.* 2000). The scales morphometry is widely varied and very

important as a taxonomic character to differentiate between orders, families and genera (Becker *et al.* 1994).



Fig. 6- Scheme of a cell of *Pyramimonas diskoicola* (A) and its types of organic scales (B). Adapted from Harðardóttir *et al.* (2014.)

Some haptophytes (such as *Phaeocystis* Scherffel, 1899, *Prymnesium* Carter, 1937, *Pavlova* Butcher, 1952, and *Chrysochromulina* Lackey, 1939) have their cells covered with organic scales (Young & Henriksen 2003). Composed by cellulose, these scales are produced in the Golgi apparatus and transported through vesicles to the cell surface (Jordan & Chamberlain 1997). In some cases, they can also cover the haptonema or one of the flagella (De Vargas *et al.* 2007). Scales morphology varies among taxa within this phyllum and then these structures are commonly used as a taxonomic character (Eikrem *et al.* 2016). In Pavlovophyceae, for example, the scales are structurally simpler and have a knoblike form, while in the Prymnesiophyceae, the scales are more ornamented and shaped like plates (De Vargas *et al.* 2007). For many species, the organic scales serve as a

calcification matrix for the formation of rigid scales that are named coccoliths (Houdan *et al.* 2004, Liu *et al.* 2010). These structures are special scales that are only observed in Haptophyta and a detailed description will be presented in the next item.

2.2.4-Coccoliths

Coccoliths are the most common cell covering found in haptophytes. They are calcified plates (CaCO₃ as calcite) that cover the cells forming a coccosphere (Taylor *et al.* 2016; Müller 2019) (Fig. 7). The arrangement of these plates is a taxonomic character that is used for even distinguish organisms in the species level (Chrétiennot-Dinet *et al.* 2014). The coccoliths are formed in the cisterns of the dicytiosomes (Mantoon 1966) and are released to the cell surface by fusion of the plasmalema with the cisternal membrane (Eikrem *et al.* 2017).



Fig. 7- Schematic representation of a coccolithophore (A) and an amplification of the structural unit that form its covering, the coccolith (B).

There are two main types of coccoliths, the heterococcoliths and the holococcoliths, based on their ultrastructure and morphology (Braarud *et al.* 1995). Some possible functions attributed to coccoliths are protection against predation and virus attack (Monteiro *et al.* 2016), optimization of light absorption by the cell (Young 1994), dissipation of excessive absorbed light energy to avoid photo damage under nutrient

limitation (Paasche 2002), regulation of buoyancy (Young 1994) and carbon concentration mechanism (Sikes *et al.* 1980). However, these hypotheses have not yet been proven (Eikrem *et al.* 2017) and none of them has sufficient and consistent evidence to be scientifically accepted (Müller 2019).

The species of coccholite-coated haptophyta are commonly called coccolithophore. The oldest recorded coccolithophores are from the upper Triassic sediments, approximately 225 Ma. (Bown *et al.* 2004). They were and are abundant in the marine phytoplankton and show a historical and current very important role in carbon cycling. Biomineralization of coccolithophores controls the alkalinity, chemistry of photic zone carbonates of the oceans, and the carbonate precipitation (through the calcification reaction) is a short-term source of CO_2 to the high ocean and atmosphere (De Vargas *et al.* 2007).

2.2.5- Lorica

The particularity of lorica in relation to other coverings is that it is not adhered to the plasma membrane, being similar to an envelope or armor. Lorica can be found in some Euglenophyta and Ochrophyta. For Euglenophyta, pellicle is their typical covering but some genera such as Strombomonas Deflandre, 1930, Trachelomonas Ehrenberg, 1834, and Ascoglena Stein, 1978, additionally have lorica (Duangjan & Wolowski 2013). This rigid mucilaginous protective envelope covering is а and composed by mucopolysaccharides and minerals (mainly iron and sometimes manganese) (Poniewozik 2017) that surround the cell and have a gap from which the flagellum emerges (Fig. 8-A). The lorica surface can be smooth, but it usually presents granular or rough appearance due to the agglutination of particles from the environment. The lorica shape and its ornamentation are very important taxonomic characters to differentiate genera and species among the euglenophytes (Brosnan *et al.* 2005). Lorica can be colorless, but they generally have a yellow-brown or orange color due to the impregnation of minerals (Leedale 1975).

Although chrysophyceans (Ochrophyta) lorica are similar to euglenophytes lorica in relation to minerals impregnation, colors and microarchitecture (Dunlap *et al.* 1987), their coverings are mainly composed of chitin and cellulose (Herth & Zugenmaier 1979). In some Chrysophyceae, the organization of lorica can be simplified in foot, stalk and cup (Fig. 8-B). These structures have species-specific features (see Peck 2010) with evident taxonomic significance, such as shape, size and ornamentation (Belcher 1969; Kapustin 2019). Composition and architecture are also important (Dunlap *et al.* 1987). *Dinobryon* Ehrenberg, 1834, for example, has a lorica with a vase or beaker-shaped form, while *Chrysococcus* Klebs, 1892, has globular and *Lagynium* present a flask-shaped lorica (Kristiansen & Škaloud, 2017). As observed in euglenophytes, manganese and iron compounds can be present and are responsible for the dark and opaque color of some chrysophycean lorica (Dunlap *et al.* 1987).



Fig. 8- Schematic representation of some types of Euglenophyta lorics (A). A *Dinobryon* colony and a detailed vision of the main regions (B): The cup (C), the stalk (D) and the foot (E). Adapted from Conforti (2010).
The formation of a new lorica is not well understood for many species, but it is better understood for *Dinobryon*. It was observed that the formation of a new lorica in this genus begins after cell division. The daughter cell moves to the edge near the opening of the parent lorica, where it connects and fixes. After that, it will first secret the small basal cone and then the complete cup-shape of the lorica (Karim & Round, 1967).

2.2.6- Silica scales

Chrysophyceans (Ochrophyta) of the family Paraphysomonadaceae, mainly the genera *Chrysosphaerella* Lauterborn, 1896, and *Paraphysomonas* De Saedeleer, 1930, *do* not have lorica, but silicified scales covering their cells (Kristiansen 2008). They are attached outside to the plasma membrane (Nemcová & Pichrtová 2012) with no defined pattern. Silica scales are radially or biradially symmetrical and their sizes vary from about 1 to 10 μ m (Škaloud *et al.* 2013).

The scales of chrysophyceans have an endogenous origin and are formed inside a vesicle of deposition of silica, which is in turn derived from the endoplasmic reticulum (Lee 2008). The scales are extruded from the cell and placed in the correct position on its surface (Kristiansen 1986). The covering formed by scales is a dynamic structure that allows the addition of new scales during both growth and division (Škaloud *et al.* 2013). Techniques of electron microscopy allowed to know much about the structure of the scales, which is highly variable among species (Kristiansen & Skaloud 2017) and therefore have taxonomic significance. However, a basic structure is common for all species, and it can be described as a perforated plate that can have ribs, spines and other ornaments (Kristiansen 1986).

Silica scales are also found in Synurophyceae (Ochrophyta) cells. They are formed internally in silica deposition vesicles and then they are transported to the cell surface (Wee 1997). Interestingly, several scale types can occur on the same cell and each type show a particular distribution on the cell surface (Neustupa *et al* 2010; Skaloud *et al*. 2012) (Fig. 9). The genus *Synura* Ehrenberg, 1834, for example, has three distinct scales by cell: body, apical and rear scales that are characterized by their different length to width ratios (Skaloud *et al*. 2012). Abiotic factors in the environment like pH (Siver 1989) and temperature (Řezáčová-Škaloudová *et al*. 2010) seems to have some influence on the morphological differentiation of the scales. The morphology is specie-specific and have highlighted taxonomy significance (Kristiansen 2002), especially the body scales, that exhibit the most highly developed and complex characters (Skaloud *et al*. 2012).



Fig. 9- Scheme of silica scales found in the genus *Mallomonas*. Scale found in the species *M. flora* (A), *M. matvienkoae* (B), *M. ouradion* (C). Adapted from Peck (2010).

2.2.7-Frustule

Diatoms are one of the most easily recognizable groups among the algae due to the presence of its characteristic silicified cell wall covering (Reimann *et al.* 1965). This special cell wall is named frustule and is formed by two parts of similar size that are called valves. One valve is slightly larger than the other, with the smaller valve fitting inside the

larger one. This fitting is connected by structures called girdle bands that allow preciselly link these valves around the protoplasm (Kröger & Poulsen 2008; Tesson & Hildebrand 2010). The large valve is named epitheca and the smaller is the hypotheca (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10- A-Scheme of a closed frustule of a penate diatom. B- The main components of the frustule: The epitheca (C), the girdle bandes (D) and the hypotheca (E). Adapted from Cox (2014).

A symmetrical structure of the leaflets divides the diatoms into two generic groups: centric, with radial symmetry and as pennates with bilateral symmetry, sometimes with a transverse groove, the raphe.

The frustule is mainly composed by silica, that gives rigidity to its structure, but it is in association with an organic wall composed by proteins, polyamines and polysaccharides (Nakajima &Volcani 1969; Swift & Wheeler 1992; Krögger 1999; Gügi *et al.* 2015). The organic matter seems to play a role in cell adhesion to surfaces and protection to cell desiccation (Kröger & Poulsen, 2008). Four families of proteins have been described in diatom's cell walls: frustulins, pleuralins, p150 family and silaffins (Kröger *et al.* 1994; 1996; 1997; 1999; 2000; 2001; Kröger & Poulsen 2008). Silaffins are suggested to be the molecule involved in silica formation (Kröger & Poulsen 2008). In relation to the carbohydrates (mono or polysaccharides), there are many types that were

observed in frustule (Table 3). Chitin, for example, is a polysaccharide that was detected in association with silica (Gügi *et al.* 2015). A detailed study of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Bohlin, 1898, showed the presence of glucuronic acid and mannose (Ford & Percival 1965). These carbohydrates are common in high amounts in frustules of several species of diatoms while the quantity of fucose and xylose is more variable (Gügi *et al.* 2015).

The knowledge on frustule composition, structure and synthesis has not only taxonomical importance, but this cell covering has also commercial value and many industrial uses. The ease of cultivation in artificial environments (culture media) and the availability of fossilized frustules (diatomite) make diatom silica a promising natural alternative to synthetic materials for biomedical, environmental, agricultural, and energy applications (Maher *et al.* 2018; Terraciano *et al.* 2018). Diatoms have been currently studied for biotechnological and nanotechnological purposes, being involved in techniques of nanofabrication, chemo and biosensor, classification and control of particles in micro and Nano fluid (Jamali *et al.* 2012). Dolatabadi and La Guardia (2011) for example, present in their review the applications of silicious diatoms and nanomaterials in biosensing (drug and gene delivery) and their utility to form complex metallic nanostructures.

	Chemical comp	References					
Inorganic	silica		Nakajima &Volcani 1969				
		Frustulins					
	Ductoing	p150 family	Kröger et al. 1994; 1996; 1997; 1999;				
	Proteins	silaffins	2000; 2001; Kröger & Poulsen 2008				
		pleuralins,					
	Polyamines		Krögger 1999				
Organic		Rhamnose	Hecky et al. 1973				
		Fucose	Hecky <i>et al.</i> 1973 Gügi <i>et al.</i> 2015				
		Ribose	Hecky et al. 1973				
		Arabinose	Hecky et al. 1973				
	Monosaccharides	Xylose	Hecky <i>et al.</i> 1973 Gügi <i>et al.</i> 2015				
		Mannose	Hecky <i>et al.</i> 1973 Ford & Percival 1965				
		Galactose	Hecky et al. 1973				
		Glucose	Hecky et al. 1973				
		Glucuronic acid	Ford & Percival 1965				
	Polysaccharide	Chitin	Gügi et al. 2015				

Table 3- Main compo	nents of the fru	istule.
---------------------	------------------	---------

3- Coverings affect commercial exploration of microalgae: limitations and tools to disrupt cells and assess products

Algal cell walls are one of the main products of exploitation among marine macroscopic algae, from which sulfated polysaccharides and other compounds are extracted and used in a wide variety of industrial segments (Jönsson et al. 2020). In relation to the microscopic ones, diatom frustules, as already mentioned, have been studied for use in biotechnological and nanotechnological purposes (Jamali et al. 2012). Other products not related to covering composition are also of commercial interest. Algae, and especially microalgae, has been increasingly targeted as a sustainable source of high added

value compounds used by the industry of pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and nutrition, and some are also alternative feedstocks for biofuel production (Wu *et al.* 2017; Dixon & Wilken 2018). Various microalgae and cyanobacteria are known to produce these targeted compounds, but commercial exploration and research are concentrated in few genera, as summarized in the table 4.

Table 4: Most commonly cultivated microalgae and cyanobacteria for commercial purposes or for researches to support a possible future exploration. The major compounds of interest by genus or species are also presented.

Phyllum	Genus or species	Compounds of interest	References	
	Botryococcus	Hydrocarbons	Metzger & largeau 2005	
	Chlorella		Safi <i>et al</i> . 2014	
_	Scenedesmus	- Pigments and lipids	Wiltshire <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Chlorophyta	Dunaliella	β-Carotene	Raja <i>et al</i> . 2007	
_	Haematococcus	Astaxanthin	Shah <i>et al</i> . 2016	
-	Tetraselmis	Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), Vitamin E	Pereira <i>et al.</i> 2019	
Haptophyta	Isochrysis galbana	Fatty acids	Bandarra <i>et al.</i> 2003	
Cuanchastaria	Limnospira maxima	nutritional supplements	Priyadarshani & Rath 2012	
Cyanobacteria —	Arthrospira platensis	Human nutritional supplements	Colla <i>et al</i> . 2007	
De sille sie scherte	Odontella aurita		Pasquet <i>et al.</i> 2014	
Bacillariophyta –	Phaedactylum tricornutum	- Fatty acids	Yongmanitchai & Ward 1991	
Euglenophyta	Euglena gracilis	Vitamin E	Takeyama <i>et al</i> . 1997	
Rhodophyta Porphyridium cruentum		Polysaccharides	Balti et al. 2018	

Although many microalgae and cyanobacteria are cultured, only four species have been the focus for biotechnological application through the last decades: *Arthrospira* *platensis* Gomont, 1892 (commercially known and marketed as *Spirulina*), *Chlorella vulgaris* Beyerinck, 1890), *Dunaliella salina* Teodoresco, 1905, and *Haematococcus pluvialis* Flotow, 1844 (Mobin & Alam 2017). More recent studies expanded the attention to other microalgae with potential for biofuel production, but large-scale cultivation is still rare. Among the four commercially important species mentioned above, *Arthrospira platensis* is a Cyanobacteria, but all the other are chlorophytes. Chlorophytes have a thick cell wall that exhibits a wide variety of chemical composition and morphology within the group (Rashidi & Trindade 2018). In fact, a great variability has been reported for the cell wall composition and structure among chlorophyte genera, species and even among lineages or the life stage of the cell (Domozych *et al.* 2012).

As mentioned before in this review, little is known about the cell wall structure for many species of microalgae (Scholz *et al.* 2014) and generalizations are frequently made based on few studies considering a very small number of species. This is frequently a problem, since the compounds of interest are mostly found within the cells (Baudelet *et al.* 2017) and the cell wall can be acting as a barrier to access these products (Kim *et al.* 2016). Taxonomy, although being a strong tool, is not enough to appropriately deduce the composition of the algae wall in order to reduce costs and time for development of rupture processes for them (Baudelet *et al.* 2017). In this context, knowledge of the composition and architecture of algal cell coverings is essential to optimize the extraction and recovery of the compounds of commercial interest (Dixon & Wilken 2018).

The lack of knowledge on algal cell coverings contributes with the difficulty to disrupt algal cells to extract compounds, which is one of the biggest obstacles to the industrial use of microalgae on a large scale (Wu *et al.* 2017). Several methods of disrupting microalgae cells were developed and their applications depend on the characteristics of the cell and on which compounds are of interest (Dixon & Wilken 2018).

These methods can be mechanical or non-mechanical. Mechanical methods include treatments with high pressure homogenization techniques, high speed homogenization, ultrasound and pulsed electric field (Aarthy *et al.* 2018). Non-mechanical methods can be thermal (microwave, autoclave or freezing), chemical (organic solvent, osmotic shock and acid-alkaline reactions) and biological (microbial or enzymatic degradation) (Dixon & Wilken 2018). Despite all these methods, the disruption of algae cell coverings remains a problem since they are often expensive and inefficient. Cell disruption is crucial for the valorization of algal biomass, however, obtaining efficient and economically attractive cell disruption methods and for all species of interest is still a challenge (D'Hondt *et al.* 2017).

4 - Conclusion

As mentioned in this review, cell coverings generally play important roles in cellular physiology and each type of covering must meet the specific needs of each group. This study tried to organize the knowledge about the several types of coverings of microalgae and cyanobacteria and highlighted how diverse they are. Cell coverings can be intra or extracellular and have a variety of mainly components depending of group and most of them are considered a taxonomic feature due to their group or species-specific morphology. This review allows us to notice that despite all the research cited, very little is known about microalgae coverings, considering the diversity of species. Some few groups, such as diatoms, are in general the most studied group due to their possibilities of use in the areas of bio and nanotechnology. However, algae in general are a very diverse group and have been increasingly studied for different purposes, which requires a better understanding of various aspects of these organisms, especially the morphological ones.

5- References

Aarthy A, Kumari S, Turkar P, Subramanian S. 2018. An insight on algal cell disruption for biodiesel production. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research 11:21-26.

Abo-shady AM., Mohamed YA, Lasheen T. 1993. Chemical composition of the cell wall in some green algae species. Biologia Plantarum, 35:629-632.

Aiad I, Riya MA, Tawfik SM, Abousehly MA. 2016. Synthesis, surface properties and biological activity of N, N, N-tris(hydroxymethyl)-2-oxo-2-(2-(2-(alkanoyloxy) ethoxy) ethoxy) ethoxy) ethoxy) ethoxyo ethoxyo ethoxyo ethoxyo ethoxyo ethoxyo ethoxyo.

Arora M, Anil AC, Leliaert F, Delany J, Mesbahi E. 2013. *Tetraselmis indica* (Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyta), a new species isolated from saltpans in Goa, India. European Journal of Phycology 48:61-78.

Baldan B, Andolfo P, Navazio L, Tolomio C, Mariani P. 2001. Cellulose in algal cell wall: an "in situ" localization. European Journal of Histochemistry 45:51-56.

Bandarra MN, Pereira PA, Batista I, Vilela MH. 2003. Fatty acids, sterols and α -tocopherol in *Isochrysis galbana*. Journal of Food Lipids 10:25-34.

Baudelet PH, Ricochon G, der M, Muniglia L. 2017. A new insight into cell walls of Chlorophyta. Algal Research 25:333-371.

Balti R, Le Balc'h R, Brodu N, Gilbert M, Le Gouic B, Le Gall S, Sinquin C, Massé A. 2018.Concentration and purification of *Porphyridium cruentum* exopolysaccharides by membrane filtration at various cross-flow velocities. Process Biochemistry 74:175-184.

Becker B, Marin B, Melkonian M. 1994. Structure, composition and biogenesis of prasynophyte cell coverings. Protoplasma: 181:233-244.

Belcher JH. 1969. A morphological study of the phytoflagellate *Chrysococcus Rufescens* Klebs in culture. British Phycological Journal 4:105-117.

Bisalputra T, Weier W. 1963. The cell wall of *Scenedesmus quadricauda*. American Journal of Botany 50: 1011-1019.

Bown PR, Lees JA, Young JR. 2004. Calcareous nannoplankton evolution and diversity through time. In: Thierstein, H.R., Young, J.R. (Eds.), Coccolithophores: From Molecular processes to Global Impact. Springer, Berlin, 481-508.

Braarud T, Deflandre G, Halldal P, Kamptner E. 1995. Terminology, nomenclature, and systematics of the Coccolithophoridae. Micropaleontology 1: 157-159.

Brec LC, Kugrens P, Lee RE. 1999. A revised classification of Cryptophyta. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 131: 131–151.

Brett SJ, Wetherbee R. 1996. Periplast development in Cryptophyceae II. Development of the inner periplast component in *Rhinomonas pauea*, *Proteomonas sulcata* [haplomorph], *Rhodomonas baltica* and *Cryptomonas ovata*. Protoplasma 192:40-48.

Brett SJ, Wetherbee R. 1996b. Periplast development in Cryptophyceae III. Development of crystalline surface plates in *Falcomonas daucoides*, *Proteomonas sulcata* [haplomorph], and *Komma caudata*. Protoplasma 192:49-56.

Brett SJ, Wetherbee R. 1986. A Comparative Study of Periplast Structure in *Cryptomonas cryophila* and *C. ovata*. Protoplasma 131:23-31.

Brett SJ, Perasso L, Wetherbee R. 1994. Structure and development of the cryptomonad Periplast: a review. Protoplasma 181:106-122.

Brosnan S, Brown PJP, Farmer MA, Triemer RE. 2005. Morphological separation of the euglenoid genera *Trachelomonas* and *Strombomonas* (Euglenophyta) based on lorica development and posterior strip reduction. Journal of Phycology 41:590-605.

Caffall KH, Mohnen D. 2009. The structure, function, and biosynthesis of plant cell wall pectic polysaccharides. Carbohydrate Research 344:1879-1900.

Cavalier-Smith T. 2016. Higher classification and phylogeny of Euglenozoa. European Journal of Protistology 56: 250-276.

Cavalier-Smith T. 2017. Euglenoid pellicle morphogenesis and evolution in light of comparative ultrastructure and trypanosomatid biology: Semi-conservative microtubule strip duplication, strip shaping and transformation. European Journal of Protistology 61:137-179.

Chan WS, Kwok ACM, Wong JTY. 2019. Knockdown of Dinoflagellate Cellulose Synthase CesA1 Resulted in Malformed Intracellular Cellulosic Thecal Plates and Severely Impeded Cyst-to-Swarmer Transition. Frontiers in Microbiology: 10: 546.

Chrétiennot-Dinet MJ, Desreumaux N, Vignes-Lebbe R. 2014. An interactive key to the *Chrysochromulina* species (Haptophyta) described in the literature. PhytoKeys 34:47-60.

Conforti V. 2010. Ultrastructure of the lorica of species (Euglenophyta) from New Jersey, USA. Algological Studies 135:15-40.

Cosgrove DJ. 1997. Assembly and enlargement of the primary cell wall in plants. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 13:171-201.

Colla LM, Reinehr CO, Reichert C, Costa JAC. 2007. Production of biomass and nutraceutical compounds by *Spirulina platensis* under different temperature and nitrogen regimes. Bioresource Technology 98:1489-1493.

Cox EJ. 2014. Diatom identification in the face of changing species concepts and evidence of phenotypic plasticity. Journal of Micropalaeontology 33: 111-120.

D'Hondt E, Martin-Juarez J, Bolado S, Kasperoviciene J, Kor-eiviene J, Sulcius S, Bastiaens L. 2017. Cell disruption technologies. In R. Muñoz, & C. Gonzalez-Fernandez (Eds.) Microalgae-based biofuels and bioproducts (pp. 133–154). Cam-bridge, UK: Woodhead Publishing.

Daugbjerg N. 2000. *Pyramimonas tychotreta* sp. nov. (Prasinophyceae), a new marine species from Antarctica: light and electron microscopy of the motile stage and notes on growth rates. Journal of Phycology 36:160-71.

De Tommasi G, Gielis J, Rogato A. 2017. Diatom frustule morphogenesis and function: a multidisciplinary survey. Marine Genomics 35:1-18.

De Vargas C, Aubry MP, Probert I, Young J. 2007. Origin and evolution of coccolithophores: from coastal hunters to oceanic farmers. In: Evolution of Primary Producers in the Sea (eds Falkowski, P.G. & Knoll, A.H.). Elsevier, New York, 51-285.

Dixon C, Wilken LR. 2018. Green microalgae biomolecule separations and recovery. Bioresources and Bioprocessing 5:14.

Dodge JD. 1983. Dinoflagellates: Investigation and phylogenetic speculation. British Phycological Journal 18:335-356.

Dodge JD, Crawford RM. 1970. A survey of thecal fine structure in the Dinophyceae. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 63:53-67.

Doerrler WT. 2006. Lipid trafficking to the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. Molecular Microbiology 60:542-552.

Domozych DS, Ciancia M, Fangel JU, Mikkelsen MD, Ulvskov P, Willats WGT. 2012. The cell walls of green algae: a journey through evolution and diversity. Frontiers in Plant Science 3:1-7.

Domozych DS, Brechka H, Britton A, Toso M. 2011. Cell wall growth and modulation dynamics in a model unicellular green alga - *Penium margaritaceum*: Live cell labeling with monoclonal antibodies. Journal of Botany:1-8.

Domozych DS, Sørensen I, Pettolino FA, Bacic A, Willats WGT. 2010. The cell wall polymers of the charophycean green alga *Chara corallina*: immunobinding and biochemical screening. International Journal of Plant Sciences 171:345-361.

Domozych DS, Serfis A, Kiemle SN, Gretz MR. 2007. The structure and biochemistry of charophycean cell walls: I. Pectins of *Penium margaritaceum*. Protoplasma 230:99-115.

Duangjan K, Wołowski K. 2013. New taxa of loricate euglenoids *Strombomonas* and *Trachelomonas* from Thailand. Polish Botanical Journal 58:337-345.

Dunlap JR, Walne PL, Preisig HR. 1987. Manganese mineralization in chrysophycean loricas. Phycologya 26:394-396.

Eder M, Lütz-Meindl U. 2010. Analyses and localization of pectin-like carbohydrates in cell wall and mucilage of the green alga *Netrium digitus*. Protoplasma, 243:25-38.

Eder M, Lütz-Meindl U. 2008. Pectin-like carbohydrates in the green alga *Micrasterias* characterized by cytochemical analysis and energy filtering TEM. Journal of Microscopy, 231:201-214.

Eder M, Tenhaken R, Driouich A, Lütz-Meindl U. 2008. Occurrence and characterization of arabinogalactan-like proteins and hemicelluloses in *Micrasterias* (Streptophyta). Journal of Phycology, 44:1221-1234.

Eikrem W, Medlin LK, Henderiks J, Rokitta SD. Rost I. 2017. Haptophyta. In Archibald, J. M., A. G. B. Simpson & C. H. Slamovits (eds), Handbook of the Protists, 2nd ed. Springer, 893-953.

Estevez JM, Fernández PV, Kasulin L, Dupree P, Ciancia M. 2009. Chemical and in situ characterization of macromolecular components of the cell walls from the green seaweed *Codium fragile*. Glycobiology 19: 212-228.

Faber WW, Preisig HR. 1994. Calcified structures and calcification in protists. Protoplasma 181:78-105.

Faust MA. 1974. Structure of the periplast of *Cryptomonas ovata* var. *palustris*. Journal of Phycology 10: 121–124.

Fry SC. 2003. The plant cell wall. Rose JKC, ed 2003. Oxford: CRC Press. 381 pp. PMCID: PMC4242239.

Gantt E. 1971. Micromorphology of the periplast of *Chroomonas* sp. (Cryptophyceae). Journal of Phycology 7:177-184.

Gaysina LA, Saraf A; Singh P. Cyanobacteria in Diverse Habitats. In Cyanobacteria; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands:1-28.

Goodenough UW, Heuser JE. 1985. The *Chlamydomonas* cell wall and its constituent glycoproteins analyzed by the quick-freeze, deep-etch technique. Journal of Cell Biology, 101:1550-1568.

Gow NAR, Latge JP, Munro CA. 2017. The fungal cell wall: structure, biosynthesis, and function. Microbiology Spectrum 5:1-25.

Gómez F. 2007. Gymnodinioid Dinoflagellates (Gymnodiniales, Dinophyceae) in the Open Pacific Ocean. Algae 22:273-286.

Gregson AJ, Green JC, Leadbeater BSC. 1993. Structure and physiology of the haptonema in *Chrysochromulina* (Prymnesiophyceae). I. Fine structure of the flagellar/haptonematal root system in *C. acantha* and *C. simplex*. Journal of Phycology 29:674-686.

Gügi B, Le Costaouec T, Burel C, Lerouge P, Helbert W, Bardor M. 2015. Diatom-specific oligosaccharide and polysaccharide structures help to unravel biosynthetic capabilities in diatoms. Marine Drugs 13: 5993-6018.

Harðardóttir S, Lundholm N, Moestrup Ø, Nielsen TG. 2014. Description of *Pyramimonas diskoicola* sp. nov. and the importance of the flagellate *Pyramimonas* (Prasinophyceae) in Greenland Sea ice during the winter–spring transition. Polar Biology 37:1479-1494.

Hausmann K. 1979. The Function of the Periplast of the Cryptophyceae during the Discharge of Ejectisomes. Archieves Protistenk 122:222-225.

Hausmann, K. 1978. Extrusive organelles in protists. International Review of Cytology 52:197-276.

He X, Dai J, Wu Q. 2016. Identification of sporopollenin as the outer layer of cell wall in microalga *Chlorella protothecoides*. Frontiers of Microbiology, 7:1-11.

Herburger K, Holzinger A. 2015. Localization and quantification of callose in the streptophyte green algae *Zygnema* and *Klebsormidium*: Correlation with desiccation tolerance. Plant Cell Physiology, 56:2259-2270.

Herth W, Zugenmaier P. 1979. The Lorica of *Dinobryon*. Journal of Ultrastructure Research 69:262-272.

HerthW, Kuppel A, Schnepf E. 1977. Chitinous fibrils in the lorica of the Flagellate chrysophyte *Poteriochromonas stipitata* (syn. *Ochromonas malhamensis*). The Journal of Cell Biology 73: 311-321.

Hiremath PS, Bannigidad P. 2011. Automated Gram-staining characterisation of bacterial cells using colour and cell wall properties. International Journal of Biomedical Engineering and Technology 7:257-265.

Hoef-Emden K, Melkonian M. 2003. Revision of the Genus *Cryptomonas* (Cryptophyceae): A combination of molecular phylogeny and morphology provides insights into a long-hidden dimorphism. Protist 154:371-409.

Höhfeld I, Otten J, Melkonian M. 1988. Contractile eucaryotic flagella: Centrin is involved. Protoplasma 147: 16-24.

Hoiczyk E, Hansel A. 2000. Cyanobacterial cell walls: News from an unusual prokaryotic envelope. Journal of Bacteriology 182: 1191-1199.

Houdan AC, Marie D, Not F, Saez AG, Young JR, Probert I. 2004. Holococcolithophoreheterococcolithophore (Haptophyta) life cycles: Flow cytometric analysis of relative ploidy levels. Systematics and Biodiversity:453-465.

Hoson T. 2002. Physiological functions of plant cell coverings. Journal of Plant Research 115:277-282.

Imam SH, Buchanan MJ, Shin HC, Snell WJ. 1985. The *Chlamydomonas* cell wall: characterization of the wall framework. The journal of Cell Biology 101:1599-1607.

Irazoki O, Hernandez SB, Cava F. 2019. Peptidoglycan muropeptides: Release, perception and functions as signaling molecules. Frontiers in Microbiology10:500.

Jamali AA, Akbari F, Mohamad MG, de la Guardia M, Khosroushahi AI, Jürgens UJ, Weckesser J. 1985. The fine structure and chemical composition of the cell wall and sheath layers of cyanobacteria. Annales de l'Institut Pasteur Microbiologie 136: 41-44.

Jönsson M, Allahgholi L, Sardari RRR, Hreggviðsson GO, Karlsson EN. 2020. Extraction and Modification of Macroalgal Polysaccharides for Current and Next-Generation Applications. Molecules 25: 930.

Jordan RW, Chamberlain AHL. 1997. Biodiversity among haptophyte algae. Biodiversity and Conservation 6:131-152.

Kapustin DA. 2019. Nomenclatural notes on triporous taxa of *Chrysococcus* G.A. Klebs (Chrysophyceae). Phytotaxa 387: 071-072.

Karin AGA, Round FE. 1967. Microfibrils in the lorica of the freshwater alga *Dinobryon*. The New Phytologist 66: 409-412.

Kim DY, Vijayan D, Praveenkumar R, Han JI, Lee K, Park JY, Chang WS, Lee JS, Oh YK. 2016. Cell-wall disruption and lipid/astaxanthin extraction from microalgae: *Chlorella* and *Haematococcus*. Bioresource Technology 199:300-310.

Kristiansen J, Škaloud P. 2017. Chrysophyta. In Handbook of the Protists, Springer International Publishing AGJM.

Kristiansen J. 2008. Dispersal and biogeography of silica-scaled chrysophytes. Biodiversity and Conservation 17: 419-426.

Kristiansen J. 2002. The genus *Mallomonas* (Synurophyceae) – a taxonomic survey based on the ultrastructure of silica scales and bristles. Opera Botanica 139: 1-218.

Kristiansen J. 1986. The ultrastructural bases of chrysophyte systematics and phylogeny. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 4: 149-211.

Kugrens P, Lee RE. 1991. Organization of Cryptomonads. In Patterson OJ, Larsen J (eds) The biology of free-living heterotrophic flagellates. The Systematics Association Special Volume 45: 219-233.

Kugrens P, Lee RE. 1987. An ultrastructural survey of cryptomonad periplasts using Quick-freezing freeze fracture techniques. Journal of Phycology 23: 365-376.

Lahaye M. 2001. Chemistry and physico-chemistry of phycocoloides. Cahiers de Biologie Marine 42: 137-157.

Lee RE. 2008. Phycology. Fourth edition. Cambridge University Press the Edinburgh Building, Cambridge CB2 8RU, UK. 547 pages.

Leadbeater BSC, Barker DAN. 1995. Biomineralization and scale production in the Chrysophyta. In: Sandgren CD, Smol JP, Kristiansen J (eds) Chrysophyte algae: ecology, phylogeny and development. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (in press).

Leander BS, Esson HJ, Breglia SA. Macroevolution of complex cytoskeletal systems in euglenids. 2007. BioEssays 29:987-1000.

Leander BS, Witek RP, Farmer MA. 2001. Trends in the evolution of the euglenid pellicle. Evolution 55:2215-2235.

Leedale GF. 1975. Envelope formation and structure in the euglenoid genus *Trachelomonas*. British Phycological Society 10:17-41.

Leedale GF. 1964. Pellicle structure in Euglena. British Phycological Bulletin 2:291-306.

Liu H, Aris-Brosou S, Probert I, de Vargas C. 2010. A time line of the environmental genetics of the haptophytes. Molecular Biology and Evolution 27:161-176.

Loqué D, Scheller HV, Pauly M. 2015. Engineering of plant cell walls for enhanced biofuel production. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 25: 151-161.

Maher S, Kumeria T, Aw MS, Losic D. 2018. Diatom silica for biomedical applications: Recent progress and advances. Advanced Healthcare Materials:1-19.

Maldonado RF, Sá-Correia I, Valvano MA. 2016. Lipopolysaccharide modification in gram-negative bacteria during chronic infection. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 40: 480-493.

Manton I. 1966. Observations on scale production in *Prymnesium parvum*. Journal of Cell Science 1:375-380.

Marrs JA, Bouck GB. 1992. The two major membrane skeletal proteins (articulins) of *Euglena gracilis* define a novel class of cytoskeletal proteins. The Journal of Cell Biology 118:1465-1475.

Metzger P, Largeau C. 2005. *Botryococcus braunii*: A rich source for hydrocarbons and related ether lipids. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 66:486-496.

Mobin S, Alam F. 2017. Some promising microalgal species for commercial applications: A review. Energy Procedia 110: 510-517.

Moestrup O, Walne PL. 1979. Studies on scale morphogenesis in the Golgi apparatus of *Pyramimonas tetrarhynchus* (Prasinophyceae). Journal of Cell Science 36:437-459.

Monteiro FM, Bach LT, Brownlee C, Bown P, Rickaby REM, Poulton AJ, Tyrrell T, Beaufort L, Dutkiewicz S, Gibbs S, Gutowska MA, Lee R, Riebesell U, Young J, Ridgwell A. 2016. Why marine phytoplankton calcify. Science Advances 7: 1-14.

Morrill LC. 1984. Ecdysis and the location of the plasma membrane in the dinoflagellate *Heterocapsa niei*. Protoplasma 119:8-20.

Morrill LC, Loeblich AR. 1983. Ultrastructure of the dinoflagellate amphiesma. International Review of Cytology 82:151-180.

Müller MN. 2019. On the genesis and function of coccolithophore calcification. Frontiers in Marine Science 6:49.

Nakajima T, Volcani BE. 1969. 3,4 Dihydroxyproline: a new aminoacid in diatom cell walls. Science 164: 1400.

Němcová Y, Pichrtová M. 2012. Shape dynamics of silica scales (Chrysophyceae, Stramenopiles) associated with pH. Fottea Olomouc, 12: 281-291.

Němcová Y. 2003. Detection of cell wall structural polysaccharides by cellulase-gold and chitinase-gold complexes. Czech Phycology Olomouc 3:31-36.

Nikaido H. 2003. Molecular Basis of Bacterial Outer Membrane Permeability Revisited. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 67:593-656.

Neustupa J, Řezáčová-Škaloudová M, Němcová Y. 2010. Shape variation of the silicascales of *Mallomonas kalinae* (Mallomonadales, Synurophyceae) in relation to their position on the cell body. Nova Hedwigia: 33-41.

Okuda K. 2002. Structure and phylogeny of cell coverings. Journal of Plant Research 115:283-288.

Okuda K, Sekida S. 2007. Cellulose-synthesizing complexes of a dinoflagellate and other unique algae. In book: Cellulose: Molecular and Structural Biology, 199-215.

Paasche, E. 2002. A review of the coccolithophorid *Emiliania huxleyi* (Prymnesiophyceae), with particular reference to growth, coccolith formation, and calcification-photosynthesis interactions. Phycologia 40:503-529. Pasquet V, Ulmann L, Mimouni V, Guihéneuf F, Jacquette B, Morant-Manceau A, Tremblin G. 2014. Fatty acids profile and temperature in the cultured marine diatom *Odontella aurita*. Journal of Applied Phycology 26:2265-2271.

Peck RK. 2010. Structure of loricae and stalks of several bacterivorous Chrysomonads (Chrysophyceae): taxonomical importance and possible ecological significance. Protist 161:148-159.

Perasso L, Ludwig M, Wheterbee R. 1997. The surface periplast component of the protist *Komma caudata* (Cryptophyceae) self-assembles from a secreted high-molecular-mass polypeptide. Protoplasma 200:186-197.

Pereira H, Silva J, Santos T, Gangadhar KN, Raposo A, Nunes C, Coimbra MA, Gouveia L, Barreira L, Varela J. 2019. Nutritional potential and toxicological evaluation of *Tetraselmis* sp. CTP4 microalgal biomass produced in industrial photobioreactors. Molecules 24:3192.

Peterson PK, Quie PG. 1981. Bacterial surface components and the Pathogenesis of infectious diseases. Annual Review of Medicine 32:29-43.

Piro G, Lenucci M, Dalessandro G, La Rocca N, Rascio N, Moro I, Andreoli C. 2000. Ultrastructure, chemical composition and biosynthesis of the cell wall in *Koliella antarctica* (Klebsormidiales, Chlorophyta). European Journal of Phycology, 35:331-337.

Poniewozik M. 2017. Element composition of *Trachelomonas* envelopes (Euglenophyta). Polish Botanical Journal 62:77-85.

Popper ZA, Fry SC. 2003. Primary cell wall composition of bryophytes and charophytes. Annals of Botany 91:1-12.

Pozdnyakov I, Skarlato S. 2012. Dinoflagellate amphiesma at different stages of the life cycle. Protistology 7:108-115.

Priyadarshani I, Rath B. Commercial and industrial applications of micro algae- A review. Journal of Algal Biomass Utilization 3:89-100.

Raja R, Shanmugam H, Ganesan V, Carvalho IS. 2014. Biomass from Microalgae: An Overview. Oceanography 2:1-7.

Raja R, Hemaiswarya S, Rengasamy R. 2007. Exploitation of *Dunaliella* for β -carotene production. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 4:517-523.

Rashidi B, Trindade LM. 2018. Detailed biochemical and morphologic characteristics of the green microalga *Neochloris oleoabundans* cell wall. Algal Research 35: 152-159.

Reimann BEF, Lewin JC, Volcani BE. 1965. Studies on the biochemistry and fine structure of silica shell formation in diatoms. I. The structure of the cell wall of *Cylindrotheca fusiformis* Reimann and Lewin. Journal of Cell Biology 24: 39-55.

Resch CM, Gibson J. 1983. Isolation of the carotenoid-containing cell wall of three unicellular cyanobacteria. Journal of Bacteriology 155: 345-350.

Řezáčová-Škaloudová M, Neustupa J, Němcová Y. 2010. Effect of temperature on the variability of silicate structures in *Mallomonas kalinae* and *Synura curtispina* (Synurophyceae). Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 136:55-70.

Rudolf M, Tetik N, Ramos-León F, Flinner N, Ngo G, Stevanovic M, Burnat M, Pernil R, Flores E, Schleiff E. 2015. The peptidoglycan-binding protein SjcF1 influences septal junction function and channel formation in the filamentous cyanobacterium *Anabaena*. mBio 6:1-11.

Saad A, Atia A. 2014. Review on Freshwater Blue-Green Algae (Cyanobacteria): Occurrence, Classification and Toxicology. Biosciences biotechnology research11: 1319-1325.

Safi C, Camy S, Frances C, Varela MM, Badia E, Pontalier P, Vaca-Garcia C. 2014. Extraction of lipids and pigments of Chlorella vulgaris by supercritical carbon dioxide: influence of bead milling on extraction performance. Journal of Applied Phychology: 26:1711-1718.

Saldarriaga JF, 'Max' Taylor FJR. 2017. Dinoflagellata. In: Handbook of the Protists. Springer, Cham. ISBN: 978-3-319-28147-6.

Sanders WB. 2001. Lichens: The Interface between Mycology and Plant Morphology. BioScience 51:1025-1035.

Sandgren CD, Hall SA, Barlow SB. 1996. Siliceous scale roduction in Chrysophyte and Synurophyte algae. I. Effects of silica-limited growth on cell silica content, scale morphology, and the construction of the scale layer of *Synura petersenii*. Journal of Phycology 33:675-692.

Schleifer KH, Kandler O. 1972. Peptidoglycan types of bacterial cell walls and their taxonomic implications. Bacteriological Reviews: 407-477.

Scholz MJ, Weiss TL, Jinkerson RE, Jing J, Roth R, Goodenough U, Posewitz MC, Gerken HG. 2014. Ultrastructure and Composition of the *Nannochloropsis gaditana* Cell Wall. Eukaryotic Cell 13:1450-1464.

Schütt, F. 1895. Die Peridineen der Plankton-Expedition. In: Ergebnisse der Plankton-Expedition der Humboldt-Stiftung: 1-170.

Schwelitz FD, Evans WR, Mollenhauer HH, Dilley RA. 1970. The Fine Structure of the Pellicle of *Euglena gracilis* as revealed by Freeze-etching. Protoplasma 69:341-349.

Schütt, F. 1895. Die peridineen der plankton-expedition. Ergebnisse der Plankton-Expedition der Humboldt-Stiftung 4:1-170.

Sekida S, Horiguchi T, Okuda K. 2004. Development of thecal plates and pellicle in the dinoflagellate *Scrippsiella hexapraecingula* (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae) elucidated by changes in stainability of the associated membranes. European Journal of Phycology 39:105-114.

Sekida S, Horiguchi T, Okuda K. 2001. Development of the cell covering in the dinoflagellate *Scrippsiella hexapraecingula* (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae). Phycological Research 49:163-176.

Shah MMR, Liang Y, Cheng JJ, Daroch M. 2016. Astaxanthin-producing green microalga *Haematococcus pluvialis*: from single cell to high value commercial products. Frontiers in Plant Science7:531.

Sikes CS, Roer RD, Wilbur KM. 1980. Photosynthesis and coccolith formation: Inorganic carbon sources and net inorganic reaction of deposition. Limnology and Oceanography 252:48-261.

Silhavy TJ, Kahne D, Walker S. 2010. The Bacterial Cell Envelope. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 2:1-16.

Siver PA .1989. The distribution of scaled chrysophytes along a pH gradient. Canadian Journal of Botany 67:2120–2130.

Škaloud P, Kristiansen J, Škaloudová M. 2013. Developments in the taxonomy of silicascaled chrysophytes – from morphological and ultrastructural to molecular approaches. Nordic Journal of Botany 31:385-402.

Škaloud P, Kynčlová A, Benada O, Kofroňová O, Škaloudová M. 2012. Toward a revision of the genus *Synura*, section Petersenianae (Synurophyceae, Heterokontophyta): morphological characterization of six pseudo-cryptic species. Phycologia 51:303-329.

Sommer JR. 1965. The ultrastructure of the pellicle complex of *Euglena gracilis*. The journal of cell Biology 24:253-257.

Sørensen I, Pettolino FA, Bacic A, Ralph J, Lu F, O'Neill MA, Fei Z, Rose JKC, Domozych DS, Willats WGT. 2011. The charophycean green algae provide insights into the early origins of plant cell walls. Plant Journal 68:201-211.

Strother PK, Taylor WA, Schootbrugge B, Leander BS, Wellman CH. 2019. Pellicle ultrastructure demonstrates that *Moyeria* is a fossil euglenid. Palynology: 1-12.

Swift E, Remsen CC. 1970. The cell wall of *Pyrocystis* spp. (Dinococcales). Journal of Phycology 6:79-86.

Takeyama H, Kanamaru A, Yoshino Y, Kakuta H, Kawamura Y, Matsunaga T. 1997. Production of Antioxidant Vitamins, β -Carotene, Vitamin C, and Vitamin E, by Two-Step Culture of *Euglena gracilis* Z. Biotechnology and Bioengineering:185-190.

Taylor AR, Brownlee C, Wheeler G. 2016. Coccolithophore cell biology: Chalking Up progress. Annuals Review of Marine Science 9:283-310.

Terraciano M, De Stefano L, Rea I. 2018. Diatoms green nanotechnology for biosilicabased drug delivery systems. Pharmaceutics 10:1-15.

Vismara R, Barsanti L, Lupetti P, Passarelli V, Mercati D, Dallai R, Gualtieri P. 2000. Ultrastructure of the pellicle of *Euglena gracilis*. Tissue & Cell 32:451-456.

Vollmer W, Blanot D, de Pedro MA. 2008. Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 32:149-167.

Walker JM, Marzec B, Lee RBY, Vodrazkova K, Day SJ, Tang CC, Rickaby REM, Nudelman F. 2018. Polymorph Selectivity of Coccolith-Associated Polysaccharides from *Gephyrocapsa Oceanica* on Calcium Carbonate Formation in Vitro. Advanced Functional Materials 29:1-10.

Wang DZ, Dong HP, Li C, Xie ZX, Lin L, Hong HS. 2011. Identification and characterization of cell wall proteins of a toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium catenella* using 2-D DIGE and MALDI TOF-TOF mass spectrometry. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: 1-11.

Wee JL. 1997. Scale biogenesis in synurophycean protists: phylogenetic implications. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 16: 497-534.

Wiltshire KH, Boersma M, Möller A, Buhtz H. 2000. Extraction of pigments and fatty acids from the green alga *Scenedesmus obliquus* (Chlorophyceae). Aquatic Ecology 34:119-126.

Wooldrigde SA. 2013. Breakdown of the coral-algae symbiosis: Towards formalizing a linkage between warm-water, bleaching thresholds and the growth rate of the intracellular zooxanthellae. Biogeosciences, 10:1647-1658.

Wu C, Xiao Y, Lin W, Li J, Zhang S, Zhu J, Rong J. 2017. Aqueous enzymatic process for cell wall degradation and lipid extraction from Nannochloropsis sp. Bioresource Technology 223:312-316.

Wurdack ME. 1923. Chemical composition of the walls of certain algae. The Ohio Journal of Science, 23:181-191.

Yamada T, Sakaguchi K. 1982. Comparative studies in *Chlorella* cell walls: induction of protoplast formation. Archives of Microbiology, 132:10-13.

Young JR, Henriksen K. 2003. Biomineralization within vesicles: The calcite of coccoliths. Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry: 189-215.

Young JR. 1994. Variation in *Emiliania huxleyi* coccolith morphology in samples from the Norwegian EHUX experiment 1992. Sarsia 79:417-425.

Yongmanitchai W, Ward P. 1991. Growth of and omega-3 fatty acid production by *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* under different culture conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57:419-425.

Yoshimi A, Miyazawa K, Abe K. 2017. Function and biosynthesis of cell wall -1,3-glucan in fungi. Journal of Fungi 3: 63.

Zancan S, Trevisan R, Maurizio GP. 2006. Soil algae composition under different agroecosystems in North-Eastern Italy. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 112:1-12.

Zhang JY, Lin GM, Xing WY, Zhang CC. 2018. Diversity of growth patterns probed in live cyanobacterial cells using a fluorescent analog of a peptidoglycan precursor. Frontiers in Microbiology 9:1-10.

Zhang GE, Meredith TC, Kahne D.2013. On the essentiality of lipopolysaccharide to gram-negative bacteria. Current Opinion in Microbiology 16:779-785.

Capítulo 2: How similar are microalgal and plant cell walls? Applying methods developed for plants to elucidate microalgal cell wall composition

Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves¹, Rosy Mary dos Santos Isaias¹, Alessandra Giani¹, Cleber Cunha Figueredo^{1*}

¹Departamento de Botânica, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627, Pampulha, PO BOX 486, 31270-970, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

* Corresponding author: cleberfigueredo@ufmg.br Phone: +553134093030

Abstract

Polysaccharides are molecules commonly found in cell walls, but little is known about the exact composition of these compounds and the level of taxonomic specificity in different algal groups. Here, we used calcofluor white to detect cellulose and the monoclonal antibodies JIM 5, JIM 7, LM5, LM 6, LM 19 and LM 20 to identify epitopes of pectins and LM 10, LM 15 and LM 21 to identify epitopes of hemicelluloses in living cells of six microalgae: Mougeotia sp., Spirogyra sp., Chlorella vulgaris, Coelastrum microporum, Pseudopediastrum boryanum and Pediastrum duplex. All experiments were performed in two different growth phases: phase I, at the beginning of the exponential growth phase, and phase II, at the end. Cellulose was detected in all species. The epitopes of pectins were labeled by JIM 5 and JIM7 in C. vulgaris, by JIM 5, JIM 7, LM 5, LM6 and LM 20 in C. microporum, and by JIM 7, LM 19 and LM 20 in P. boryanum. The epitopes of hemicelluloses were labeled by LM 10 and LM 15 in the cell walls of C. microporum, and by LM 21 in the cell walls of P. duplex. The results also showed that the six investigated species have different cell wall compositions, and some components appear to vary according to the stage of growth. C. microporum cell walls had the highest similarity to plants regarding the polysaccharide composition.

Key words: cellulose, hemicelluloses, pectins, monoclonal antibodies, growth phase, green algae.

1-Introduction

Algal cells have different types of coverings with varied biochemical composition, which can be found internally or externally to cell membrane depending on the taxonomic group (Okuda 2002). Nevertheless, definitions of algal cell walls are usually simplified, and their simplest characterization describes them as thick, rigid and continuous extracellular coverings, mainly made up of cellulose microfibrils (Okuda, 2002). Cellulose is a linear polymer of β -(1-4)-linked d-glucose that is indeed the major component in the cell wall of some algae (Baldan *et al.*, 2001) and plants (Festucci-Buselli *et al.* 2007). However, there are many components in algal and plant cell walls and their exact composition varies among taxon, tissue and cell types. Besides cellulose, other structural polysaccharides, such as hemicelluloses and pectins can be found (Costa & Plazanet 2016), as well as lignin in the secondary walls of plants (Anderson & Kieber 2020).

In plants, the cellulose presents individual glucose molecules closely aligned and connected to each other, resulting in highly ordered microfibrils, which contribute to the rigidity and strength of the walls (Thomas *et al.* 2013). These microfibrils are connected by hemicelluloses, which are flexible polysaccharides whose major function is to tether the cellulose microfibrils together while maintaining the wall strength (Scheller & Ulvskov, 2010). Xylans, xyloglucans and mannans are the most commonly found hemicelluloses in plants (Obel *et al.*, 2006). The network composed by cellulose and hemicelluloses is embedded in a hydrated gel phase composed by pectins (Alberts *et al.* 2002). Pectins are polysaccharides rich in galacturonic acid (GalA), which are involved in several cytological processes, such as cell expansion, growth regulation, defense, adhesion, signaling and porosity (McCann *et al.*, 2001). There are four major types of pectins in plant cell walls: homogalacturonan, rhamnogalacturonan-I, rhamnogalacturonan-II and xylogalacturonan (Ridley *et al.*, 2001). Homogalacturonan (HGA) is a linear chain of 1,4-linked a-d-

galactopyranosyluronic acid (GalpA) (Ridley *et al.*, 2001). HGA GalpA residues may be methyl-esterified at the C-6 carboxyl or acetylated at the O-2 or O-3, and the pattern and degree of methylesterification varies depending on the stage of development of the plant cells and tissues (Caffall & Mohnen, 2009). Rhamnogalacturonan-I (RG-I) is a family of pectic polysaccharides that contain a backbone of the repeating disaccharide [\rightarrow 4)-a-d-GalpA-(1 \rightarrow 2)-a-l-Rhap-(1 \rightarrow] and that can also have side chains that differ in length and structure (Mikshina *et al.* 2015) , while RG-II is much more complex with 12 different types of glycosyl residues, including the rare sugar species 2-O-methyl xylose, 2-O-methyl fucose, 32 aceric acid,33 2-keto-3-deoxy-D-lyxo heptulosaric acid (Dha),34 and 2-keto-3deoxy-D-manno octulosonic acid (Caffall & Mohnen 2009; O'Neill *et al.*, 2004).

Contrasting with the reasonable knowledge available on plants, there is a lack of information on algal cell walls. Some data are available for chlorophytes, charophytes, ochrophytes and rhodophytes (see table 1), but even these groups have not been thoroughly studied (Popper and Fry 2003), and the chemical profile of their cell walls is still poorly understood (Baudelet *et al.*, 2017). Some green algae show similar cell wall composition to that of plants, with presence of cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins (Domozych *et al.*, 2012), but with quite different organization of these molecules (Okuda, 2002). Some cell wall peculiarities within algal groups could even prove as valuable tools for their classification (Popper and Fry 2003). Certain species of the Chlorophyceae class, for example, produce coverings that are structurally and biochemically unique (Domozych *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, many polysaccharides are uniquely found as components of algal cell walls and differ from those observed in plants (see reviews: Baudelet *et al.*, 2017; Kinnaert *et al.*, 2017). Such as the agar and carrageenan present in seaweeds (Rhein-Knudsen *et al.*, 2015).

"Algae" is defined as a polyphyletic group that includes about 72,500 species (Guiry, 2012). The limited knowledge about algal cell wall structure and composition is a consequence of the taxonomic complexity of these organisms, added to the little focus given on this topic by phycologists. Studies may be even more limited if we consider that algal cell wall composition can vary depending on the cell's life stage (Hagen *et al.*, 2002; Takeda 1991). Algal cell wall research has especially focused on species of ecological and commercial importance (Popper & Tuohy 2010). Therefore, a deeper understanding on this topic would be useful for taxonomical support (Popper & Fry 2003), for the proper treatment and handling of algae of industrial importance (Li *et al.*, 2013), and to understand how the diversity of these compounds may affect the algal physiology and its interactions with other organisms and the environment (Popper *et al.*, 2014).

Many tools that have been employed for the study of plant cell walls, such as electronic and light microscopy, enzymatic techniques, and different probes and histochemical methods (Costa & Plazanet 2016; Paniagua *et al.*, 2014; Hervé *et al.*, 2011) and these techniques have also been used for studies on algal cell covering (see the review by Domozych *et al.*, 2012). Plant monoclonal antibodies, for example, originally used on plants, have also be employed for macroalgae (Domozych *et al.*, 2010) and microalgae (Eder *et al.*, 2008; Estevez *et al.*, 2008), generating some new information. In the present study, we aimed to characterize the cell wall composition of living cells of six green microalgae species by using probes and cytochemical techniques generally used for plants. Calcofluor white and eight monoclonal antibodies for the detection of the epitopes of the cell wall polysaccharides (cellulose, pectins and hemicelluloses) were used in two growth phases of the algal cultures. With the use of these techniques, we wanted to address the following questions: (1) how different or similar are these components in algal and plant cell walls? (2) Can the algal cell wall constituents change according to the cells age? (3)

Are the techniques developed for the study of plant cell walls also suitable for algal studies? To our knowledge, this is the first study using this combination of methods to evaluate the cell wall composition in various microalgal species at different growth phases.

Phylum	Species	Methods	Cell wall components	References	
		Enzymatic methods, HPLC and chromatographic analysis	Uronic acids	Popper and Fry 2003	
	Chara corallina	Cytochemistry and immunocytochemistry	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Domozych et al. 2010	
		Immunocytochemical and biochemical approaches	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Sorensen et al. 2011	
	Chlorokybus atmophyticus Coleochaete nitellarum Cosmarium turpini Klebsormidium flaccidum Micrasterias furcata Pleurotaenium trabecula Spirogyra sp.	Immunocytochemical and biochemical approaches	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Sorensen et al. 2011	
	Closterium acerosum	Cytochemistry	Pectins	Bisalputra and Weier 1963	
a	Coleochaete scutata	Enzymatic methods, HPLC and chromatographic analysis	Uronic acids	Popper and Fry 2003	
ophyt	Klebsormidium crenulatum, K. nitens, Zygnema sp.	Cytochemistry (Calcofluor White)	Cellulose	Herburguer and Holzinger 2015	
Char	Micrasterias denticulata	Immunocytochemistry and TEM	Pectins	Eder and Lutz-Meindl 2008	
		Immunocytochemistry and TEM	AGPs and hemicelluloses	Eder et al. 2008	
	Netrium digitus	Immunocytochemical and biochemical approaches	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Sorensen et al. 2011	
		Immunocytochemistry	Pectins	Eder and Lutz-Meindl 2010	
		Immunocytochemistry Immunocytochemistry	Pectins pectins	Domozych et al. 2007 Domozych et al. 2011	
	Penium margaritaceum	Immunocytochemical and biochemical approaches	Cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins	Sorensen et al. 2011	
	Spirogyra fluviatilis, Zygnema cruciatum	Biochemical approaches	Cellulose, pectins and chitin	Wurdack 1923	

Table 1- Main cell wall components already identified in algae.

Phylum	Species	Methods	Cell wall components	References	
	Chaetomorpha aerea	Enzyme-gold affinity	Cellulose	Baldan et al. 2001	
-	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Quick-freeze, deep-etch technique	Glycoproteins	Goodenough and Heuser 1985	
_	Chlorella protothecoides	TEM and FTIS	Sporopollenin	He et al. 2016	
	Chlorella. vulgaris (3 strains)	Cytochemistry (Calcofluor White and Ruthenium Red)	Cellulose and pectins	Yamada and Sakaguchi 1982	
-	C. vulgaris (2 strains) C. vulgaris	Biochemical approaches Celulase-gold complex	Aminoacids and saccharides Cellulose	Abo-Shady et al. 1993 Nemcová 2003	
	Chlorella ellipsoidea (3 strains) and Chlorella saccharophila	Cytochemistry (Calcofluor White and Ruthenium red)	Cellulose and pectins	Yamada and Sakaguchi 1982	
lyta	Codium fragile	Immunocytochemistry and SR-FTIR	HRGP and hemicelluloses	Estevez et al. 2009	
- obł	Enteromorpha intestinalis	enzyme-gold affinity	Cellulose	Baldan et al. 2001	
lor_	Kirchneriella lunaris	Biochemical approaches	Aminoacids and saccharides	Abo-Shady et al. 1993	
C	Koliella Antarctica	Biochemical approaches	Cellulose and other polysacharides	Piro et al. 2000	
	Gonium sociale, Oedogonium cardiacum	Electron microscopy, X·ray diffraction, and chromatographic Analysis	Cellulose	Parker 1964	
-	Oedogonium crissum, O. irregular, Cladophora glomerata, Draparnaldia plumosa	Biochemical approaches	Cellulose, pectins and chitin	Wurdack 1923	
-	Pediastrum tetras	Electron microscopy, X ray diffraction, and chromatographic Analysis	D-glucose, D-mannose	Parker 1964	
	Scenedesmus auadricauda	Celulase-goldcomplex	Cellulose	Nemcová 2003	
		Cytochemistry	pectins	Bisalputra and Weier 1963	
yta	Cystoseira barbata, Dictyota dichotoma, Fucus virsoides, Ulva laetevirens	Enzyme-gold affinity	Cellulose	Baldan et al. 2001	
- hq		Biochemical approaches	Cellulose, pectin and chitin	Wurdack 1923	
Ochre	Vaucheria geminata	X-ray analysis and electron microscopy	Glucose, ribose, xylose and arabinose	Parker et al. 1963	
•	Vaucheria sessilis (2 strains)	X-ray analysis and electron microscopy	Glucose, ribose, xylose and arabinose	Parker et al. 1963	
ţa –	Calliarthron cheilosporioides	Immunolabeling and DFRC	Lignin	Martone et al. 2009	
Rhodophy	Gracilaria verrucosa	Enzyme-gold affinity	Cellulose	Baldan et al. 2001	

Table 1: continued

Abbreviations: HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography; TEM: Transmission electron microscopy; FTIS: Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy; SR-FTIR: synchrotron radiation Fourier transform infrared; DFRC: Derivatization followed by reductive cleavage.

2- Materials and methods

2.1- Species and culture conditions

All analyses were performed on monoclonal cultures of six green algal species belonging to three different classes. The strains were obtained from the culture collection of the Phycology Laboratory of the Federal University of Minas Gerais, here indicated by their register numbers in the collection as: 35-Mougeotia sp. and 7-Spirogyra sp. (Zygnematophyceae), 56-Chlorella vulgaris (Trebouxiophyceae), 18-Coelastrum 29-Pediastrum duplex, 105-Pseudopediastrum microporum, and boryanum (Chlorophyceae). The species were chosen due to their close phylogenetic relationship with plants, since our major goal was to evaluate the efficiency of methods firstly developed for studies on plants. All species are very common in natural freshwater systems, and C. vulgaris is one of the most studied microalgae due to its economic value (Safi et al., 2014). Cells were grown in 50 mL of sterile CHU10 medium in erlenmeyer flask (volume, 125 mL), and incubated at 20°C (±1) °C under fluorescent light (22 ±0,1 μ mol photon m⁻². s⁻¹), photoperiod of light 12 h: dark 12 h. To verify if there were effects of culture aging, cell wall composition was evaluated in two different growth stages: phase I, at the beginning of the exponential growth phase (3 days of experiment), and phase II, at the end (of the exponential growth phase) (19 days of experiment). All experiments and analyses were performed in triplicate, using living cells, and with no fixation procedure. All the results presented here are representative of more than 90% of the individuals observed on the slides.

2.2- Cytochemistry: Detection of cellulose by Calcofluor white

Calcofluor white (CFW), a cellulose detection dyer (Herburger & Holzinger 2016), was used to identify cellulose. For this purpose, 1 mL of each algal culture was centrifuged during ten minutes at 12000 rpm in a microcentrifuge (Eppendorf 5424). The supernatant was discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 40 μ L of 50% CFW for five minutes, at room temperature. Finally, the treated cells were placed on a glass slide containing 50% glycerin, which were analyzed and photographed in a fluorescence microscope with excitation wavelength of 405 and 415-480 nm emission filter (Adapted from Hughes & McCully 1975). Positive results were evidenced by the blue color of the dye.

2.3- Immunocytochemistry

All the immunofluorescence labeling procedures (for pectins and hemicelluloses) used here were modified from Formiga *et al.* (2013). Antibodies commonly employed to identify pectin and hemicellulose epitopes in higher plants were tested in the six algal species. Briefly, we tested the following antibodies for pectins: JIM5, which is specific to low-methyl-esterified (up to 40%) homogalacturonans (Knox *et al.*, 1990); JIM7, specific to high methyl-esterified (15–80%) homogalacturonans (Willats *et al.*, 2000); LM19, which binds to non-esterified HGAs; LM20, which labels high methyl-esterified HGA (Verhertbruggen *et al.*, 2009); LM5, which is specific to $(1\rightarrow 4)$ β -D-galactan (Jones *et al.*, 1997), and LM6, which labels the $(1\rightarrow 5) \alpha$ -L-arabinans (Verhertbruggen *et al.*, 2009). For hemicelluloses, three monoclonal antibodies were applied: LM15, specific to xyloglucan epitopes (Marcus *et al.*, 2008); LM21, which labels the β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-manno-oligosaccharides (Marcus *et al.*, 2010), and LM10, specific to (1-4)- β -D-xylosyl residues (McCartney *et al.*, 2005).

2.2.1- Detection of pectins

For the analyses of pectins by immunocytochemical techniques, 1 mL of the culture of each algal species was centrifuged (microcentrifuge Eppendorf 5424) during ten minutes at 12000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was blocked with a 3% solution of powder milk for 30 minutes. Then, the pellet was resuspended with a sterile PBS solution (Phosphate buffered saline, 10x) and centrifuged again. Afterwards, the pellets were incubated for 2 hours, at room temperature, in a solution of PBS containing the primary antibodies JIM5, JIM7, LM5, LM6, LM19, and LM20 produced at the Centre of Plant Sciences, University of Leeds, UK. Then, the pellet was washed with PBS again and incubated, for 2 h in the dark, in a PBS solution containing secondary antibody anti-rat IgG FITC (Sigma). Finally, the pellet was washed with PBS, and placed on a glass slide containing 50% glycerin and analyzed in a Confocal Zeiss 5 LIVE microscope (belonging to the image processing acquisition center; CAPI-UFMG) under excitation wavelength of 488 and detection of emission by using a 505-610 nm filter. Secondary antibodies bind to the primary antibodies; thus, primary antibodies were omitted for labeling procedure to serve as control.

2.2.2- For detection of hemicelluloses:

For detection of hemicelluloses, 1 mL of culture was centrifuged (microcentrifuge Eppendorf 5424) during ten minutes at 12000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was pre-treated with pectolyase at 10 μ g/mL for 2 h at room temperature in 50 mM *N*-cyclohexyl-3-aminopropane sulfonic acid (CAPS), 2 mM CaCl2 buffer at pH 10 (Marcus *et al.*, 2008). The high pH of the enzyme buffer removes the homogalacturonan (HG) methyl esters in cell walls, which could mask the epitopes of hemicellulose compounds. After two hours, the pellet was washed with PBS solution, and blocked with a 3% solution of powder milk for 30 minutes. Then, the pellet was washed with sterile PBS solution (Phosphate buffered saline, 10x) and incubated, for 2 h at room temperature, in PBS solutions containing the primary antibodies LM10, LM15, and LM21 produced at the Centre of Plant Sciences, University of Leeds, UK. After the incubation, we followed the same steps described in the protocol for detection of pectins (see above).

3- Results

3.1- Cytochemistry

The cell walls of the six algal species were stained by calcofluor white. No differences were detected between the growth stages (Phase I and II) (Figure 1).



Fig. 1- Cellulose stained by calcofluor white (in blue) in cell walls of living microalgae in two stages of growth evidenced by fluorescence microscopy. a) *C. vulgaris*; b) *C. microporum*; c) *Mougeotia* sp. d) *P. duplex*; e) *P. boryanum*; f) *Spirogyra* sp. Phase I: a1 to f1. Phase II: a2 to f2. Scale bar: 10µm.

3.2- Imunocytochemistry

3.2.1- Detection of pectins

The results for the interactions between the six monoclonal antibodies used to detect pectins in the six algal species are compiled in the figures 2 (Phase I) and 3 (Phase II). The epitopes of HGAs were labeled by JIM5 and JIM7 in the cell walls of *Chlorella vulgaris* with 3 days of growth, but no labeling occurred in phase II (19 days old). The epitopes of HGAs were labeled by JIM5 and JIM7 in the cell walls of *Coelastrum microporum* in phase I, and by LM20 in phase II. Also, the epitopes of galactans and arabinans were labeled by LM5 and LM 6 in the cell walls of *Coelastrum microporum* in phase II. The strains *Mougeotia* sp., *Pediastrum duplex* and *Spirogyra* sp. were not labeled by any antibody in both phases of growth. The epitopes of HGAs were labeled only by JIM5 and LM19 in *P. boryanum* in phase I, and by LM19 and LM20 in phase II.

3.2.2- Detection of hemicelluloses

All results related to the monoclonal antibodies used to detect hemicelluloses are compiled in the figures 4 (3 days of growth) and 5 (19 days of growth). The epitopes of xylans, xyloglucans and mannans were not labeled by the antibodies LM10, LM15, and LM21 in both phases of growth in *Mougeotia* sp., *P. boryanum, Spirogyra* sp. and *Chlorella vulgaris*. The epitopes of (1-4)- β -D-xylosyl residues were labeled by LM10 in the cell walls of *Coelastrum microporum* in both phases of growth, and the epitopes of xyloglucans were labeled by LM15 only in phase I (3 days). The epitopes of β -(1 \rightarrow 4)manno-oligosaccharides were labeled by LM21 in cell walls of *P. duplex* cultures also in phase I. No labeling occurred for *P. duplex* cultures in phase II (19 days).



cell walls in phase I of growth. a) C. vulgaris; b) C. microporum; c) Mougeotia sp. d) P. duplex; e) P. boryanum; f) Spirogyra sp. Positive Fig. 2- Confocal images of immunocytochemistry for pectin epitopes labeled by JIM 5. JIM 7, LM 19, LM 20, LM 5 and LM 6 in living microalgae immunolabeling evidenced by green fluorescence. In red, chlorophyll autofluorescence. Scale bar: 10µm

9 5 19 IM 5 .M20 MIN Ο Ŧ а р S g

walls in phase II of growth. a) C. vulgaris; b) C. microporum; c) Mougeotia sp. d) P. duplex; e) P. boryanum; f) Spirogyra sp. Positive immunolabeling Fig. 3- Confocal images of immunocytochemistry for pectin epitopes labeled by JIM 5. JIM 7, LM 19, LM 20, LM 5 and LM 6 in living microalgae cell evidenced by green fluorescence. In red, chlorophyll autofluorescence. Scale bar: 10µm.



Fig. 4- Confocal images of immunocytochemistry for hemicellulose epitopes labeled by LM 10, LM 15 and LM 21 in living microalgae cell walls in phase I of growth. a) *C. vulgaris*; b) *C. microporum*; c) *Mougeotia* sp. d) *P. duplex*; e) *P. boryanum*; f) *Spirogyra* sp. Positive immunolabeling evidenced by green fluorescence. In red, chlorophyll autofluorescence. Scale bar: 10µm.



Fig. 5- Confocal images of immunocytochemistry for hemicellulose epitopes labeled by LM 10, LM 15 and LM 21 in living microalgae cell walls in phase II of growth. a) *C. vulgaris*; b) *C. microporum*; c) *Mougeotia* sp. d) *P. duplex*; e) *P. boryanum*; f) *Spirogyra* sp. Positive immunolabeling evidenced by green fluorescence. In red, chlorophyll autofluorescence. Scale bar: 10µm.

The synthesis of all results is presented in table 2, which allows the comparison of the species according to their interactions with calcofluor white and the monoclonal antibodies.

Table 2- Summary of the interactions between the probes and the algal species. The symbols (+) and (-) represent positive (presence) and negative (absence) of labeling, respectively. CFW: calcofluor white, JIM 5, JIM 7, LM 5, LM 6, LM 19 and LM 20: MAbs for pectins; LM 10, LM 15 and LM 21: MAbs for hemicelluloses.

	. .	Chlo vulg	rella garis	Coelastrum microporum		<i>Mougeotia</i> sp.		Pediastrum duplex		Pseudop. boryanum		<i>Spirogyra</i> sp.	
		Ph. I	Ph. II	Ph. I	Ph. II	Ph. I	Ph. II	Ph. I	Ph. II	Ph. I	Ph. II	Ph. I	Ph. II
Cellulose	CFW	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Pectins	JIM 5	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
	JIM 7	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	LM 19	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-
	LM 20	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
	LM 5	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	LM 6	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Hemicelluloses	LM 10	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	LM 15	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	LM 21	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-

4-Discussion

Our results partially highlighted the differences on cell wall composition among the six studied species of algae. The knowledge on these differences about the structure and composition of their cell wall can help clarifying some aspects of the organism structure, physiology and adaptations. In some algae, for example, cell wall composition confers vulnerability or resistance to interactions with the environment and other organisms (Dunker & Wihelm 2018). Additionally, as many algal compounds of industrial interest are located in protoplast, a better knowledge of cell wall composition may lead to the development of methods for a more accurate cell wall rupture and extraction of compounds (Li et al., 2013). Cellulose is one of the main molecules of algal cell walls and other polysaccharides, such as chitin and carrageenan, may also be present (Domozych, 2011). The proportion of cell wall components and the presence or absence of certain molecules are species-specific characteristics (Baldan et al., 2001). In the present work, we used innovative tools commonly applied in plant research for the detection of cell wall polysaccharides in algae. Calcofluor white is a blue fluorescent dye commonly used to detect cellulose in plant cell walls (Flores-Félix et al., 2015) or chitin in fungi walls, but it is rarely used for studies on algae. As expected, the cell walls of all species were stained with CFW in both growth stages, corroborating the phylogenetic relationship of green algae and plants, as far as cellulose as cell wall component is concerned (Baudelet et al., 2017; Domozych et al., 2010; Park et al., 2015; Estevez et al., 2008). The positive staining of the cell walls of C. vulgaris by CFW corroborates that cellulose is abundant in cell walls of green algae (see Yamada & Sakagushi 1982; He et al., 2016), but contradicts the absence of cellulose in *Chlorella*, previously proposed by Kapaum *et al.*, (1992).
Pectins correspond to approximately 35% of the dry weight of plant cell walls (Oliveira et al., 2014; Voragen et al., 2009; Jones et al., 1997), and are the major components of the mucilage of some algae (Eder & Lutz-Meindl 2008). In our study, the detection of pectins in algal cell walls by monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) revealed some peculiarities. MAbs labeled pectins in Chlorella vulgaris, Coelastrum microporum and *Pseudopediastrum* borvanum. The epitopes of the most common pectins. homogalacturonans (HGAs), in the cell walls of the last two species were labeled by JIM5 and JIM7 in both growth phases (I and II), but the labeling of pectins in C. vulgaris only in phase I suggested that cell wall composition may change during algal cell development. HGAs represent 60% of the total pectins in the cell walls of land plants (Voragen et al., 2009), and are involved in the control of cell expansion and adhesion (Formiga et al., 2013), but little is known about their presence and function in microalgae.

In previous works, JIM5 and JIM7 detected HGAs with different degrees of esterification in green algal species, such as *Netrium digitus* (Eder & Lutz-Meindl 2010) and *Oedogonium bharuchae* (Estevez *et al.*, 2008), and in our study, in *C. vulgaris, P. boryanum, and C. microporum*. However, this last species was the only positive labeling by LM20, that corroborates the high methyl-esterified nature of the epitopes in its cell walls, suggesting that the synthesis of pectins in *C. microporum* occurs throughout its development. This peculiarity seems to approximate the cell walls of *C. microporum* to the higher plants.

The lateral chains of RGI, $(1\rightarrow 4)$ β -D-galactan, and $(1\rightarrow 5)$ α -L-arabinans were positively labeled by LM5 and LM6, respectively, only in cultures of *C. microporum* in phase II, which also indicated some temporal changes in cell wall composition, and a possible involvement in flexibility and porosity, as already proposed for plant cell walls (McCartney *et al.*, 2000; Verhertbruggen *et al.*, 2013; Zynkwinska *et al.*, 2005). The cell walls of *Mougeotia* sp., *Spyrogira* sp., and *P. duplex* were not labeled, suggesting the absence of the epitopes of the pectins accessed by the MAbsAs *Spirogyra* sp. and *Mougeotia* sp. belong to the Zygnematophyceae class, the taxonomic group of algae more closely related to plants (Turmel *et al.*, 2006; Delwiche & Cooper 2015), some similarity in the chemical composition of cell walls were expected. Other species of charophytes, such as *Micrasterias denticulata*, *Penium margaritaceum* and *Chara corallina* have already been described to be positively labeled by JIM 5 and JIM7 (Lutz-Meindl & Brosch-Salomon 2000; Domozych *et al.*, 2007; Domozych *et al.*, 2010; Domozych *et al.*, 2011). It is possible that our *Spirogyra* sp. and *Mougeotia* sp. strains have pectins with a different chemical conformation, which could not be recognized by the antibodies used in our study.

The cell walls of *Pediastrum duplex* were not labeled by any of the MAbs for the epitopes of pectins, but it was the only algae species in which the epitopes of the β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-manno-oligosaccharides were labeled by LM21. These hemicelluloses, such as the mannans labeled by LM21, are non-cellulosic polysaccharides involved with cellulose and pectins in the structure of plant cell walls (Kinnaert *et al.*, 2017), and are less studied among the microalgae. Also, the epitopes of xylans and xyloglucans were labeled only in *C. microporum*, and the labeling of the epitopes of (1-4)- β -D-xylosyl residues by LM10 in cell walls of *C. microporum* in both phases of growth (I and II), particularly suggest the presence of these hemicelluloses during the entire life cycle of this species.

Xyloglucans, the most common hemicelluloses found in plants (Marcus *et al.*, 2008), have been previously detected in the charophyte *Micrasterias denticulata* (Eder *et al.*, 2008) and, in our study, were labeled by LM15 only in *C. microporum* (Chlorophyceae). Hemicelluloses were not detected in the charophytes *Mougeotia* and *Spirogyra*, contradicting the expectations. We believe that the use of monoclonal

antibodies, instead of the polyclonal antibodies used by Eder *et al.*, (2008), may have restricted the detection of hemicelluloses. In fact, polyclonal antibodies can recognize multiple epitopes on any type of antigens, while MAbs show high specificity of epitope recognition. The mannans, considered the main hemicellulose in charophytes (Popper & Fry 2003), and commonly found in green algae (Popper & Tuohy 2010), have not been detected either in *Spirogyra* sp. and *Mougeotia* sp. in our study. LM21 could label mannan epitopes in *P. duplex*, (Chlorophyceae) in phase I, but not in phase II, which indicates that this polysaccharide does not seem to be of overall occurrence along the alga life cycle.

The present study described the variety of algal cell wall components among the six species studied, employing MAbs. The addition of new evidences on cell wall composition is important because cell surface interactions can determine culture growth and development (Gonçalves et al., 2019). Challenge posed by the great diversity of algae relies on the lack of tools specifically applicable to study their cell walls. As a matter of fact, we took for granted the similarities on the composition of algae and plant cell walls, due to their evolutionary relationships, and we were able to detect few components in common between their cell walls. Indeed, the labeling of cellulose by CFW in the cell walls of the six microalgae was shown to be similar among them. Regarding pectins and hemicelluloses however, a mosaic of results was detected by the MAbs and their related epitopes. Pectins and hemicelluloses varied among species and growth phases and indicated Coelastrum microporum as the algal species most similar to plants in terms of polysaccharide composition and pectins. Spirogyra sp. and Mougeotia sp., despite representing the charophytes, i.e. the group evolutionarily closer to the plants, were not labeled for the majority of the carbohydrates tested, suggesting that despite the evolutionary proximity, these organisms may be different in terms of a more refined analysis of the carbohydrate composition of their cell walls. We concluded that among the

six algal species, *C. microporum* was the most similar to the plants in terms of cell wall composition, thus it could represent an interesting model for future researches focused on cell wall compounds common to plants and algae. We also believe that the development of specific epitopes for cell wall carbohydrates of algae, different from those produced for plants, could generate more reliable results. Additionally, regarding our comparative approach between algae and plants, we observed that the cell wall composition of algae is variable on a temporal scale, which can be related to functional aspects of the colonies.

Acknowledgements: C.C.F. thanks Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) for financial support. We also thank the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) for a scholarship to C. Almeida. R.M.S.I thanks Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-307011/2015-1) for financial support and research grant.

5- References

Alberts B., Johnson A., Lewis J., Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. (2002). The plant cell wall. In: Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th ed. New York: Garland Science:1118-1124.

Abo-shady, A.M., Mohamed, Y.A. & Lasheen, T. (1993). Chemical composition of the cell wall in some green algae species. *Biologia Plantarum*, 35:629-632.

Anderson, C.T. & Kieber, J.J. (2020). Dynamic Construction, Perception, and Remodeling of Plant Cell Walls. Annuals Reviews of Plant Biology, 71.

Baudelet, P.H., Ricochon, G., Linder, M. & Muniglia, L. (2017). A new insight into cell walls of Chlorophyta. *Algal Research*, 25:333-371.

Baldan, B., Andolfo, P., Navazio, L., Tolomio, C. & Mariani, P. (2001). Cellulose in algal cell wall: an *"in situ"* localization. *European Journal of Histochemistry*, 45:51-56.

Brown, Jr. R.M., Johnson, S.C. & Bold, H.C. (1968). Electron and phase-contrast microscopy of sexual reproduction in *Chlamydomonas moewusii*. *Journal of Phycology*, 4:100-120.

Caffall, K.H. & Mohnen, D. (2009). The structure, function, and biosynthesis of plant cell wall pectic polysaccharides. *Carbohydrate Research*, 344:1879-1900.

Ciancia, M., Quintana, I., Vizcargüénaga, M.I., Kasulin, L., De Dios, A., Estevez, J.M. & Cerezo, A.S. (2007). Polysaccharides from the green seaweeds *Codium fragile* and *C*.

vermilara with controversial effects on hemostasis. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 41:641-649.

Costa, G. & Plazanet, I. (2016). Plant cell wall, a challenge for its characterization. *Advances in Biological Chemistry*, 6:70-105.

Delwiche, C.F. & Cooper, E.D. (2015). The evolutionary origin of a terrestrial flora. *Current Biology*, 25:899-910.

Domozych, D.S., Serfis, A., Kiemle, S.N. & Gretz, M.R. (2007) The structure and biochemistry of charophycean cell walls: I. Pectins of *Penium margaritaceum*. *Protoplasma*, 230:99-115.

Domozych, D.S., Sørensen, I., Pettolino, F.A., Bacic, A. & Willats, W.G.T. (2010). The cell wall polymers of the charophycean green alga *Chara corallina*: immunobinding and biochemical screening. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 171:345-361.

Domozych, D.S. (2011). Algal Cell Walls. In: ELS. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester. UK.

Domozych, D.S., Brechka, H., Britton, A. & Toso, M. (2011). Cell wall growth and modulation dynamics in a model unicellular green alga - *Penium margaritaceum*: Live cell labeling with monoclonal antibodies. *Journal of Botany*: 1-8.

Domozych, D.S., Ciancia, M., Fangel, J.U., Mikkelsen, M.D., Ulvskov, P. & Willats, W.G.T. (2012). The cell walls of green algae: a journey through evolution and diversity. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 3:1-7.

Domozych, D.S. & Domozych, C.E. (2014). Multicellularity in green algae: upsizing in a walled complex. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5:1-8.

Dunker, S. & Wihelm, C. (2018). Cell wall structure of coccoid green algae as an important trade-off between biotic interference mechanisms and multidimensional cell growth. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9:719.

Eder, M. & Lütz-Meindl, U. (2008). Pectin-like carbohydrates in the green alga *Micrasterias* characterized by cytochemical analysis and energy filtering TEM. *Journal of Microscopy*, 231:201-214.

Eder, M., Tenhaken, R., Driouich, A. & Lütz-Meindl, U. (2008). Occurrence and characterization of arabinogalactan-like proteins and hemicelluloses in Micrasterias (Streptophyta). *Journal of Phycology*, 44:1221-1234.

Eder, M. & Lütz-Meindl, U. (2010). Analyses and localization of pectin-like carbohydrates in cell wall and mucilage of the green alga *Netrium digitus*. *Protoplasma*, 243:25-38.

Estevez, J.M., Leonardi, P.I. & Alberghina, J.S. (2008). Cell wall carbohydrate epitopes in the green alga *Oedogonium bharuchae* F. *minor* (Oedogoniales, Chlorophyta). *Journal of Phycology*, 44:1257-1268.

Estevez, J.M., Fernández, P.V., Kasulin, L., Dupree, P. & Ciancia, M. (2009). Chemical and in situ characterization of macromolecular components of the cell walls from the green seaweed *Codium fragile*. *Glycobiology* 19:212-228.

Festucci-Buselli, R.A., Otoni, W.C., Joshi, C.P. (2007). Structure, organization, and functions of cellulose synthase complexes in higher plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology 19:1-13.

Flores-Félix, J.D., Menéndez, E., Marcos-García, M., Celador-Lera, L. & Rivas, R. (2015). Calcofluor white, an alternative to propidium iodide for plant tissues staining in studies of root colonization by fluorescent-tagged Rhizobia. *Journal of Advances in Biology & Biotechnology*, 2:65-70.

Formiga, A.T., Oliveira, D.C., Ferreira, B.G., Magalhães, T.A., Castro, A.C., Fernandes, G.W. & Isaias, R.M.S. (2013). The role of pectic composition of cell walls in the determination of the new shape-functional design in galls of *Baccharis reticularia* (Asteraceae). *Protoplasma*, 250:899-908.

Fry, C.F. (2001). Plant cell walls. In: Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. Nature Publishing Group, London (also electronic edition 1999, http://www.els.net).

Fry, S.C. (2003). The plant cell wall. Rose JKC, ed 2003. Oxford: CRC Press. 381 pp. PMCID:PMC4242239.

Gonçalves, C.A., Figueiredo, R.C, Giani, A., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Rojo, J. & Figueredo, C.C. (2019). Detection of glycidic receptors in microalgae using glycodendrons as probes: a new tool for studies on cell surface interactions. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 31:211-221.

Guiry, M.D. (2012). How many species of algae are there? *Journal of Phycology*, 48: 1057–1063.

Goodenough, U.W. & Heuser, J.E. (1985). The *Chlamydomonas* cell wall and its constituent glycoproteins analyzed by the quick-freeze, deep-etch technique. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 101:1550-1568.

Hagen, C., Siegmund, S. & Braune, W. (2002). Ultrastructural and chemical changes in the cell wall of *Haematococcus pluvialis* (Volvocales, Chlorophyta) during aplanospore formation. *European Journal of Phycology*, 37:217-226.

Harris, P.J. (2006). Primary and secondary plant cell walls: A comparative overview. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science*, 36:36-53.

Hayashi, Y. & Ueda, K. (1987). Localization of mannose, N-acetylglucosamine and galactose in the Golgi apparatus, plasma membranes and cell walls of *Scenedesmus acuminatus*. *Plant Cell Physiology*, 28:1357-1362.

He, X, Dai, J. & Wu, Q. (2016). Identification of sporopollenin as the outer layer of cell wall in microalga *Chlorella protothecoides*. *Frontiers of Microbiology*, 7:1-11.

Herburger, K. & Holzinger, A. (2015). Localization and quantification of callose in the streptophyte green algae *Zygnema* and *Klebsormidium*: Correlation with desiccation tolerance. *Plant Cell Physiology*, 56:2259-2270.

Herburger, K. & Holzinger, A. (2016). Aniline blue and Calcofluor white staining of callose and cellulose in the streptophyte green algae *Zygnema* and *Klebsormidium*. *Bio Protocols*, 6: 1969.

Hervé, C., Marcus, S.E. & Knox, J.P. (2011). Monoclonal antibodies, carbohydratebinding modules, and the detection of polysaccharides in plant cell walls. In: Popper Z. A. [Ed] The Plant Cell Wall: Methods and Protocols. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 715:103-113.

Hughes, J. & McCully, M.E. (1975). The use of an optical brightener in the study of plant structure. *Stain Technology*, 50: 319-329.

Jones, L., Seymour, G.B. & Knox, J.P. (1997). Localization of pectic galactan in tomato cell walls using a monoclonal antibody specific to $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-galactan. *Plant Physiology*, 113:1405-1412.

Kapaun, E., Loos, E. & Reisser, W. (1992). Cell wall composition of virus-sensitive symbiotic *Chlorella* species. *Phytochemistry*, 31:3103-3104.

Kinnaert, C., Daugaard, M., Nami, F. & Clausen, M.H. (2017). Chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides related to the cell walls of plants and algae. *Chemical Reviews*, 117:11337-11405.

Knox, J.P., Linstead, P.J., King, J., Cooper, C. & Roberts, K. (1990). Pectin esterification is spatially regulated both within cell walls and between developing tissues of root apices. *Planta*, 181:512-521.

Li, X., Jackson, P., Rubtsov, D.V., Faria-Blanc, N., Mortimer, J.C., Turner, S.R., Krogh, K.B., Johansen, K.S. & Dupree, P. (2013). Development and application of a high throughput carbohydrate profiling technique for analyzing plant cell wall polysaccharides and carbohydrate active enzymes. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 6:1-12.

Lütz-Meindl, U. & Brosch-Salomon, S. (2000). Cell wall secretion in the green alga *Micrasterias. Journal of Microscopy*, 198: 208-217.

Marcus, S.E., Verhertbruggen, Y., Hervé, C., Ordaz-Ortiz, J.J., Farkas, V., Pedersen, H.L., Willats, W.G.T. & Knox, J.P. (2008). Pectic homogalacturonan masks abundant sets of xyloglucan epitopes in plant cell walls. *BMC Plant Biology*, 8:1-12.

Marcus, S.E., Blake, A.W., Benians, T.A.S., Lee, K.J.D., Poyser, C., Donaldson, L., Leroux, O., Rogowski, A., Petersen, H.L., Boraston, A., Gilbert, H.J., Willats, W.G.T. & Knox, J.P. (2010). Restricted access of proteins to mannan polysaccharides in intact plant cell walls. *Plant Journal*, 64:191-203.

Martone, P.T., Estevez, J.M., Lu, F., Ruel, K., Denny, M.W., Somerville, C. & Ralph, J. (2009). Discovery of lignin in seaweed reveals convergent evolution of cell-wall architecture. *Current Biology*, 19:169-175.

McCann, M.C., Roberts, K. & Carpita, N.C. (2001). Plant cell growth and elongation. Encyclopedia of life sciences /Macmillan Publishers Ltd, Nature Publishing Group.

McCartney, L., Ormerod, A.P., Gidley, M.J. & Knox, J.P. (2000). Temporal and spatial regulation of pectic $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-galactan in cell walls of developing pea cotyledons: implications for mechanical properties. *Plant Journal*, 22:105-113.

McCartney, L., Marcus, S.E. & Knox, J.P. (2005). Monoclonal antibodies to plant cell wall xylans and arabinoxylans. *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, 53:543-546.

Mikshina, P.V., Petrova, A.A., Gorshkova, T.A. (2015). Functional diversity of rhamnogalacturonans I. *Russian Chemical Bulletin* 64:1014-1023.

Něncová, Y. (2003). Detection of cell wall structural polysaccharides by cellulase-gold and chitinase-gold complexes. *Czech Phycology Olomouc* 3:31-36.

Obel, N., Neumetzler, L. & Pauly, M. (2006). Hemicelluloses and Cell Expansion. *Plant Cell Monographes*, 5:57-88.

Okuda, K. (2002). Structure and phylogeny of cell coverings. *Journal of Plant Research*, 115:283-288.

Oliveira, D.C., Magalhães, T.A., Ferreira, B.G., Teixeira, C.T., Formiga, A.T., Fernandes, G.W. & Isaías, R.M.S. (2014). Variation in the Degree of Pectin Methylesterification during the Development of *Baccharis dracunculifolia*. Kidney-Shaped Gall. *Plos One* 9: e94588:1-8.

O'Neill, M.A., Ishii, T., Albersheim, P. & Darvill, A.G. (2004). Rhamnogalacturonan II: Structure and Function of a Borate Cross-Linked Cell Wall Pectic Polysaccharide. *Annuals Reviews of Plant Biology*. 55:109-139.

Paniagua, C., Posé, S., Morris, V.J., Kirby, A.R., Quesada, M.A. & Mercado, J.A. (2014). Fruit softening and pectin disassembly: an overview of nanostructural pectin modifications assessed by atomic force microscopy. *Annals of Botany*, 114:1375-1383.

Park YB, Kafle K, Lee CM, Cosgrove DJ, Kim SH (2015) Does Cellulose II exist in native alga cell walls? Cellulose structure of Derbesia cell walls studied with SFG, IR and XRD. *Cellulose*, 22: 3531-3540.

Parker, B.C., Preston, R.D. & Fogg, G.E. (1963). Studies of the structure and chemical composition of the cell walls of *Vaucheriaceae* and *Saprolegniaceae*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society*, 158:435-445.

Piro, G., Lenucci, M., Dalessandro, G., La Rocca, N., Rascio, N., Moro, I. & Andreoli, C. (2000). Ultrastructure, chemical composition and biosynthesis of the cell wall in *Koliella antarctica* (Klebsormidiales, Chlorophyta). *European Journal of Phycology*, 35:331-337.

Popper, Z.A. & Fry, S.C. (2003). Primary cell wall composition of bryophytes and charophytes. *Annals of Botany*, 91:1-12.

Popper, Z.A. & Tuohy. M.G. (2010). Beyond the green: understanding the evolutionary puzzle of plant and algal cell walls. *Plant Physiology*, 153:373-383.

Popper, Z.A., Ralet, M.C. & Domozych, D.S. (2014). Plant and algal cell walls: diversity and functionality. *Annals of Botany*, 114:1043-1048.

Ridley, B.L., O'Neill, M.A. & Mohnen, D. (2001). Pectins: structure, biosynthesis, and oligogalacturonide-related signaling. *Phytochemistry*, 57:929-967.

Rhein-Knudsen, N., Ale, M.T. & Meyer, A.S. (2015). Seaweed hydrocolloid production: an update on enzyme assisted extraction and modification technologies. *Marine Drugs*, 13:3340-3359.

Roberts, K., Gurney-Smith, M., Hills, G.J. (1972). Structure, composition and morphogenesis of the cell wall of Chlamydomonas reinhardi I. Ultrastructure and preliminary chemical. *Journal of Ultrastructure Research*, 40:599-613.

Safi, C., Bachar, Z., Othame, M., Pierre-Yves, P. & Vaca-Garcia, C. (2014). Morphology, compositon, production, processing and applicatons of *Chlorella vulgaris*: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 35: 265-278.

Scheller, H.V. & Ulvskov, P. (2010). Hemicelluloses. Annuals Reviews of Plant Biology, 61:263-289.

Sørensen, I., Pettolino, F.A., Bacic, A., Ralph, J., Lu, F., O'Neill, M.A., Fei, Z., Rose, J.K.C., Domozych, D.S. & Willats, W.G.T. (2011). The charophycean green algae provide insights into the early origins of plant cell walls. *Plant Journal*, 68: 201-211.

Takeda, H. (1991). Sugar composition of the cell wall and the taxonomy of *Chlorella* (Chlorophyceae). *Journal of Phycology*, 27:224-232.

Takeda, H. (1993). Chemical-composition of cell walls as a taxonomical marker. *Journal of Plant Research*, 106:195-200.

Thomas, L.H., Forsyth, V. T., Sturcova, A., Kennedy, C. J., May, R. P., Altaner, C. M., Apperley D.C., Wess T.J., Jarvis M.C. (2013). Structure of cellulose microfibrils in primary cell walls from collenchyma. Plant Physiol. 161, 465-476.

Turmel, M., Otis, C. & Lemieux, C. (2006). The chloroplast genome sequence of *Chara vulgaris* sheds new light into the closest green algal relatives of land plants. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 23:1324-1338.

Verhertbruggen, Y., Marcus, S.E., Haeger, A., Ordaz-Ortiz, J.J. & Knox, J.P. (2009). An extended set of monoclonal antibodies to pectic homogalacturonan. *Carbohydrate Research*, 344:1858-1862.

Verhertbruggen, Y., Marcus, S.E., Chen, J. & Knox, J.P. (2013). Cell wall pectic arabinans influence the mechanical properties of *Arabidopsis thaliana* inflorescence stems and their response to mechanical stress. *Plant Cell Physiology*, 54:1278-1288.

Voragen, A.G.J., Coenem, G.J., Verhoef, R.P. & Schols, H.A. (2009). Pectin, a versatile polysaccharide present in plant cell walls. *Structural Chemistry*, 20: 263-275.

Willats, W.G.T., Limberg, G., Buchholt, H.C., Van Alebeek, G.J., Benen, J., Christensen, T.M.I.E., Visser, J., Voragen, A., Mikkelsen, J.D. & Knox, J.P. (2000). Analysis of pectic epitopes recognized by hybridoma and phage display monoclonal antibodies using defined oligosaccharides, polysaccharides, and enzymatic degradation. *Carbohydrate Research*, 327:309-320.

Wurdack, M.E. (1923). Chemical Composition of the Walls of Certain Algae. *The Ohio Journal of Science*, 23: 181-191.

Yamada, T. & Sakaguchi, K. (1982). Comparative studies in *Chlorella* cell walls: induction of protoplast formation. *Archives of Microbiology*, 132:10-13.

Zykwinska, A.W., Ralet, M.C.J., Garnier, C.D. & Thibault, J.F.J. (2005). Evidence for *in vitro* binding of pectin side chains to cellulose. *Plant Physiology*, 139:397-407.

Capítulo 3: Composition of glycidic receptors in cell surface of green microalgae changes with cell aging

Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves¹, Rute Cunha Figueiredo², Alessandra Giani¹, Javier Rojo³, Cleber Cunha Figueredo^{1*}

¹ Department of Botany, Institute of Biological Sciences, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627, Pampulha, Caixa Postal 486, 31270-970, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

² Department of Chemistry, Instituto de Ciências Exatas e Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto, Brazil.

³ Glycosystems Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones Químicas (IIQ), CSIC – Universidad de Sevilla, 41092, Sevilla, Spain.

*Corresponding author: cleberfigueredo@ufmg.br Phone: +553134093030

Abstract

Lectin-carbohydrate interaction mediates important physiological processes when cell recognition is required. This interaction is very specific and lectins have been widely used as probes to detect carbohydrates in cell surfaces. Here, in the opposite way, we used three different glycodendrons to detect lectins on the cell surface of four microalgae species (Chlorella vulgaris, Pseudopediastrum boryanum, Mougeotia sp. and Spirogyra sp.). The glycodendrons named GD-Fuc, GD-Man and GD-GalNac have three residuals of Lfucose, D-mannose and N-acetylgalactosamine, respectively. It was also our goal to identify if there are variations in lectins recognition at different times of cultivation (3, 10, 19 and 26 days of growth) of the microalgae. C. vulgaris did not interact with GD-Fuc at any time, but showed interaction for GD-Man with 26 days of cultivation and for GD-GalNac with 3 days. Spirogyra sp. interacted with all the glycodendrons but with differences according to the cultivation times tested. P. boryanum, seems to have shown greater stability in the recognition of glycodendrons, since it recognized all of them in practically all the cultivation times tested. Mougeotia sp., on the other hand, showed no interaction with any of the glycodendrons at any time. These differences in expression suggest these organisms could have great versatility in recognition at different times in their life cycles. Knowledge about the composition of algal cell surface biomolecules, especially considering growth times and life cycles is still limited and this study solve some questions and expand the knowledge for exploration based in new tools.

Key words: cell-cell interaction, chlorophyte, lectins, glycodendrons.

1- Introduction

Cell-cell interactions are ubiquitous in nature (Ohan et al. 2019) and most of them are only possible due to the precise recognition involving the cells' surfaces. These interactions are involved and necessary for many physiological processes such as reproduction and infection (Shi et al. 2017), as well as ecological relationships such as parasitism (Basseri 2002), symbiosis (Wood-Charlson et al. 2006) and mutualistic associations (Díaz et al. 2016). For algae, especially the microscopic ones, there are other processes that require cellular recognition, such as colony formation (Ingram 1985) and adhesion to substrates (Palacio-López et al. 2019). The mechanisms involving cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions seem to be mediated by specific recognition among carbohydrates and lectins (Melgarejo et al. 2005).

Lectins are proteins of non-immune origin widely distributed in nature that bind to carbohydrates and sugar containing substances in a high specific and reversible way (Hamid et al. 2013; Santos et al. 2014). The binding between lectins from a cell surface and carbohydrates from other cell surface results in an agglutinated cell mass. This ability of lectins to agglutinate cells distinguishes them from other proteins that bind to carbohydrates, like sensor/transport proteins and antibodies (Santos et al. 2014); Rüdiger and Gabius 2011). Another particularity of lectins is their capacity to binding glycans without altering their covalent structure (Bondar et al. 2016). Due to all these biochemical and biological properties, lectins attract attention and, in general, are very used in researches that investigates characterization and changes in saccharides of cells surfaces (Praseptiangga 2015).

Lectins and carbohydrates can be used as tools to identify their complementary receptor in studies of elucidation of cell surface components (Gonçalves et al. 2019). In algae, lectins are already extensively used as probes for the identification of glycans on cell surfaces

(Hori et al. 1996, Aguilera and González-Gil 2001, Tien et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2007). However, the use of carbohydrates as probes to detect and identify cell surface lectins is still uncommon. In a recent work, Gonçalves et al. (2019) demonstrated that fluorescent dendritic molecules containing carbohydrates residuals (glycodendrons) could be used as probes to identify potential receptors (lectins) on the surface of microalgae. Glycodendrons were pointed as promising tools for studies on interactions involving cell surfaces, being advantageous due to their size (nanometer scale) and mainly because they can present several copies of the carbohydrate units on the periphery of these structures, which allows them to mimic membrane oligosaccharides. In addition, since glycodendrimers are monodisperse polymers have a defined structure, which allows a more accurate assessment of the interaction.

Surface carbohydrates form a set of information that can be considered the cell's identity and they allow the interaction with other cells and with the environment. This process is commonly mediated by proteins, like lectins. It interesting to note that this cell's identity can be not totally stable. There are few studies showing that the glycidic composition of cell surfaces is dynamic and can vary depending of the cell's development stage (Zheng et al. 2005). In case of lectins, we don't know any study in literature related to the variation of their composition on cell surface. However, at least a study (Wang et al. 2004) mentions that the Chlorophyta *Haematococcus* shows a highly dynamic cell surface in terms of proteic composition. Thus, we can suppose that the composition of lectins maybe is also dynamic, occurring a coordinated expression according to the needs of the cells during their life cycles.

The aim of this work was to verify the presence of lectins on cell surfaces of four species of green microalgae using three different glycodendrons as probes. In addition, we also propose to identify if the expression of these lectins in cells varied according to the ages of the cultures.

2- Material and Methods

We used three different glycodendrons (GD-Man, GD-Fuc and GD-GalNAc) as probe to detect differences among cell surfaces to distinguish species and the cell aging. These glycodendrons are non-charged molecules that are formed by a dendritic structure containing a glycidic portion composed by residuals of D-mannose (in GD-Man), L-fucose (in GD-Fuc) or *N*-acetylgalactosamine (in GD-GalNAc). It was also synthesized an analogue control dendron containing diethylene glycol residuals instead the carbohydrate units. Diethylene glycol provides a soluble control molecule very similar to the other glycodendrons in terms of shape, no charge, size and solubility. All molecules used in this study were synthesized in analytical purity, according to a methodology previously described by Ribeiro-Viana (2012).

The experiments were performed with four species belonging to three taxonomic classes: Chlorophyceae (105-*Pseudopediastrum boryanum*), Trebouxiophyceae (56-*Chlorella vulgaris*) and Zygnematophyceae (35-*Mougeotia* sp. and 7-*Spirogyra* sp.). The species were obtained from the Collection of Algae and Cyanobacteria of the Phycology Laboratory of the Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil. They were cultivated in CHU 10 medium at $20(\pm 1)$ °C and $22 (\pm 0,1)$ µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹, under a light: dark cycle of 12:12 h. The experiments were performed at four growing stages of the cultures: 3, 10, 19 and 26 days growing after last inoculation. All experiments and analyses were performed in triplicate, using living cells and no fixation process was applied. The species were exposed to glycodendrons and subsequently evaluated using confocal microscopy, according described by Gonçalves et al. (2019). Briefly, the cells exposed to glycodendrons were analyzed in a confocal microscope (Zeiss 5-Live). The fluorophores on the slides were excited by a laser at 532 nm and the fluorescence was captured by a filter receiving waves from 550 to 615 nm. All the results presented here are representative of more than 90% of the individuals observed on the slides.

3- Results

Chlorella vulgaris was labeled by the glycodendrons GD-Man and GD-GalNac, but only for the cultures growing for 26 and 3 days of growth respectively (Figure 1). *Mougeotia* sp. showed no interaction with any of the glycodendrons tested in any of the growth times experienced (data not shown). All glycodendrons interacted with *Pseudopediastrum boryanum* growing during any period, except by the culture growing for 3 days with GD-GalNac, for which no fluorescence was detected by confocal microscopy (Figure 2). *Spirogyra* sp. was generally labeled after longer periods of culturing. This species was labeled by GD-Fuc after growing during 19 and 26 days, GD-Man for only 26 days of growth and by GD-GalNac with 3 and 26 days of growth (Figure 3). Unfortunately, it was not possible to verify the result of the interaction with GD-GalNac at the 19th day due to an artifact in the slide. A synthesis of all these results is presented in Table 1.



Fig. 1- Confocal images of *C. vulgaris* and the glycodendrons at the four stages of growth. Yellow: Fluorescence of the glycodendron. Scale bar: 10uM.



Fig. 2- Confocal images of *P. boryanum* and the glycodendrons at the four stages of growth. Yellow: Fluorescence of the glycodendron. Scale bar: 10uM.



Fig. 3- Confocal images of *Spirogyra* sp. and the glycodendrons at the four stages of growth. Yellow: Fluorescence of the glycodendron. Scale bar: 10uM.

Quadro	1: Synthesis	of the i	interactions b	etween glycod	lendrimers and the algal s	pecies.	(+)
positive	interaction,	(-) n	o interaction	n. GalNHAc:	N-acetylgalactosamine,	Man:	D-
mannos	e, Fuc: L-fuc	ose, GI	O glycodendr	on.			

	GD-FUC			GD-MAN Days of growth:					GD-GalNac			
	3	10	19	26	3	10	19	26	3	10	19	26
C. vulgaris	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-
<i>Mougeotia</i> sp.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
P. boryanum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
<i>Spirogyra</i> sp.	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	-		+

4-Discussion

The use of carbohydrates (glycodendrons) as probes to detect lectins is a recent tool in the study of algal surface. Here we evaluate if there are temporal changes in the recognition of these probes on the cell surfaces of four green microalgae species, according to different stages of culture growth. Our results suggest that the composition of the glycidic receptors is species-specific and can vary in the same species along its growth. Since the interactions between lectins and carbohydrates are very specific and mediate important processes involving cell recognition (Figueirôa et al. 2017), the variation recorded here may determine temporal variations in the ability of the cell recognizing other cells or biological substrates.

Three among the four species studied here (exception was *Spirogyra* sp.) were also tested with the same glycodendrons in a recent work (see Gonçalves et al. 2019), but for only one growth phase. The results presented here reinforced the previous study, but add new

information by showing that all species can express different surface composition over time.

A new interaction was detected for *Chlorella vulgaris*. In the previous study this species did not interact with GD-Man (Gonçalves et al. 2019), but here it showed a positive interaction with this dendron. Interestingly, this interaction was observed for only a later growth stage in relation to the stages evaluated before (see Gonçalves et al. 2019). In contrast, the well evidenced labeling by GD-GalNac was not detected here. Despite the culture being the same, the medium was differed between the two studies, which may have some influence in the metabolism of this species and, consequently, the composition of their cell surface. Differences in composition and concentration of nutrients in the culture medium can affect the composition of cell surfaces molecules, like observed by Martel (2009). This author found more mannose glycoconjugates in cell surface of *Isochrysis galbana* cultured in a medium with limiting nitrogen concentrations. Kremp and Anderson (2004) also showed that dinoflagellates seems to show different cell surface carbohydrates composition and concentration depending on the cell nitrogen status.

Compared with the other species, *P. boryanum* showed a higher temporal stability, being labelled by all glycodendrons at all times tested, except by GD-GalNac in the third day of growth. For *P. boryanum*, more complex composition of lectins throughout all the cell life cycle could give it a capacity to recognize more diverse surfaces that the other algae may not do. Differently, for *Spirogyra* sp. the lectins for L-fucose and D-mannose became important only in the last stages of cell culture (19 and 26 days) and were not detected at the beginning of this experiment. The interaction with *N*-acetylgalactosamine occurred for only the shortest (day 3) and the longest (day 26) time of culturing *Spirogyra* sp. We expected to find evidences of the presence of this lectin in at least one of the four growth times tested, as a galactose-recognizing lectin has already been isolated from other

Spyrogira (Oliveira et al. 2017). The lectins present on the cell surfaces of chlorophyte members have complex specificity with carbohydrates (Singh et al. 2018) which increases the chances that the glycidic receptors detected by the glycodendrons in *Spirogyra* sp. are even lectins, since the high specificity of recognition is a major property of these proteins.

The "glycome" comprises the complete set of glycans and glycoconjugates produced by cells in reflection of specific conditions due to their development stage or in response to environment conditions (Varki et al. 2009). In dinoflagellates, for example, the cell surface glycoconjugates composition is altered throughout the cell cycle (Aguilera and González-Gil 2001) and can change depending on their physiological state (Kremp and Anderson 2004). The lectins, which are proteins that act as carbohydrate receptors, must also have their composition altered in some way, since the expression of proteins is generally a dynamic process and reflects a given cellular moment (Aslam et al. 2017).

Mougeotia sp. did not interact with any of the three glycodendrons tested in any of the four growth ages studied. This was also observed in our previous study (Gonçalves et al. 2019) and hence *Mougeotia* can be used as a negative control among the algae due its known inactivity for the tested dendrons. However, we avoid to affirm that this species does not have at all the lectins that could detect the carbohydrate tested here. If low expression was the typical condition here, it could be the cause of no visible fluorescence in confocal microscopy. But, we have to consider that the interaction between the lectins and dendrons containing carbohydrates residuals may be stronger and more stable when the number of copies of the interacting molecules is increased, which is known as the multivalent effect (Yilmaz and Becer 2015). The glycodendrons used here has a trimeric structure, with three residuals of each carbohydrate by molecule, so tests with glycodendrons with more copies also be tested in order to confirm the lack of these lectins as well as to perform genomics and proteomics analyses to the cells.

The genomic analyses will provide information about all coding genes and proteins existing in the cell or organism, as well as understanding of their functions (Fields et al. 1999), while the proteomics will allow us to describe all the proteins expressed in the cell, their products, modifications, interactions and mapping of signaling pathways (Balbuena et al. 2011). These techniques, however, are relatively expensive and algal genomes and proteomes poorly represented in the databases (Vadlapudi and Kaladhar 2012), which limit this kind of research.

There is a variety of lectins extracted from algae (Praseptiangga 2015), but little is known for many taxonomic groups and about all the roles of these proteins in the cell. Some studies suggest that they are involved in the interaction with other organisms, such as recognition of symbionts (Wood-Charlson et al. 2006), in predation relationships (Espinosa et al. 2010) and they could also be involved in the colony formation (Ingram 1985). Although it is known that the cell surface residuals of L-fucose, D-mannose and Nacetylgalactosamine are involved in cell recognition in others organisms (Ofek and Beachey 1978, Boettner et al. 2002, Spear et al. 2003), we known almost nothing about their function in algae. We could suppose they could have similar functions, but more studies are necessary to confirm that. In fact, L-fucose, D-mannose and Nacetylgalactosamine have already been described in cell surfaces of some species of other algal phyla, such as Dinophyta (Kremp and Anderson 2004), and some macroalgae species of Rhodophyta and Phaeophyta. In the cell surface of the brown macroalgae Padina gymnospora, L-fucose was detected by using a specific fluorescence-conjugated lectin (Salgado et al. 2005) and interactions between L-fucose and D-mannose and their respective lectins appear to mediate the gametes recognition in Antithamnion nipponicum (Rhodophyta) (Kim et al. 1996). Nevertheless, these so limited and restrict when considering the great diversity of algal taxa and the higher possibilities of relationships among them, with other organisms and with other surfaces in the environment.

In conclusion, studies on the elucidation of components of cell surfaces provide important information for understanding the morphology and physiology of organisms and how they interact with each other and with the environment. However, little information is known about algae, probably due to the scarcity of studies that show the composition of biomolecules on the cell surface considering life cycles and possible temporal growth changes. We showed in this work, that the composition of the glycidic receptors (the lectins) of the four microalgae species tested appears to be species-specific and vary according to culture aging. The activity of lectins (ability to recognize and or agglutinate cells) can be altered due to physiological and abiotic factors (Babosha 2008), including growth phases (Singh et al. 2018). Thus, differences in lectin's activity may perhaps explain our results, but more refined studies, like proteome's analyses are required to confirm if the glycidic receptors are actually lectins and if their expression really changes throughout their life cycles.

Acknowledgments: C.C.F. and R.C.F. thank Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) for financial support. We also thank the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) for a Grant to C. Almeida. R.C.F thanks Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-CsF) and Fundación Carolina for financial support. J.R. thanks Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad (MINECO) of Spain (project CTQ2014-52328-P) co-financed by European Regional Development Funds (ERDF) for financial support.

5- References

Aguilera, A. & González-Gil, S. 2001. Lectin analysis of surface saccharides during the cell cycle in four dinoflagellate species. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 256:149–66.

Aslam, B., Basit, M., Nisar, M.A., Khurshid, M. & Rasool, M.H. 2017. Proteomics:

Technologies and their applications. J. Chromatogr. Sci. 55:182-96.

Babosha, A. V. 2008. Inducible lectins and plant resistance to pathogens and abiotic stress. *Biochem.* 73:812–25.

Balbuena, T.S., Dias, L.L.C., Martins, M.L.B., Chiquieri, T.B., Santa-Catarina, C., Floh,
E.I.S. & Silveira, V. 2011. Challenges in proteome analyses of tropical plants. *Brazilian J. Plant Physiol.* 23:91–104.

Basseri, H.R. 2002. Role of Lectins in Interaction Between Parasites and the Important Insect Vectors. *Iran. J. Public Health.* 31:69–74.

Boettner, D.R., Huston, C. & Petri, W.A. 2002. Galactose/*N*-acetylgalactosamine lectin: The coordinator of host cell killing. *J. Biosci.* 27:553–7.

Bondar, A. T., Tole, S. B., & Patil, S.M. 2016. Isolation and Purification of Lectin from Soybean (*Glycine max*) Mahabeej Js-335. *J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem. JPP*. 5:89–92.

Díaz, E.M., Sánchez-Elordi, E., Santiago, R., Vicente, C. & Legaz, M.E. 2016. Algal-Fungal Mutualism: Cell Recognition and Maintenance of the Symbiotic Status of Lichens. *J. Vet. Med. Res.* 3:1052.

Espinosa, E.P., Perrigault, M., Ward, J.E., Shumway, S.E. & Allam, B. 2010. Microalgal cell surface carbohydrates as recognition sites for particle sorting in suspension-feeding bivalves. *Biol. Bull.* 218:75–86.

Fields, S., Kohara, Y. & Lockhart, D.J. 1999. Functional genomics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96:8825–6.

Figueirôa, de O., Evellyne, Albuquerque da Cunha, C.R., Albuquerque, P.B.S., de Paula,R.A., Aranda-Souza, M.A., Alves, M.S. et al. 2017. Lectin-Carbohydrate Interactions:Implications for the Development of New Anticancer Agents. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 24.

Gonçalves, C. de A., Figueiredo, R.C., Giani, A., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Rojo, J. & Figueredo, C.C. 2019. Detection of glycidic receptors in microalgae using glycodendrons as probes: a new tool for studies on cell surface interactions. *J. Appl.*

Phycol. 31:211–21.

Hamid, R., Masood, A., Wani, I.H. & Rafiq, S. 2013. Lectins: Proteins with diverse applications. *J. Appl. Pharm. Sci.* 3.

Hori, K., Ogata, T., Kamiya, H. & Mimuro, M. 1996. Lectin-like compounds and lectin receptors in marine microalgae: Hemagglutination and reactivity with purified lectins. *J. Phycol.* 32:783–90.

Ingram, G.A. 1985. Lectins and lectin-like molecules in lower plants - II. Freshwater algae. Kim, G.H., Lee, I.K. & Fritz, L. 1996. Cell-Cell Recognition during Fertilization in a Red Alga , *Antithamnion sparsum* (Ceramiaceae , Rhodophyta). 37:621–8.

Kim, G.H., Yoon, M., West, J.A., Klochkova, T.A. & Kim, S.H. 2007. Possible surface carbohydrates involved in signaling during conjugation process in *Zygnema cruciatum* monitored with fluorescein isothiocyanate-lectins (Zygnemataceae, Chlorophyta). *Phycol. Res.* 55:135–42.

Kremp, A. & Anderson, D.M. 2004. Lectin binding patterns of *Scrippsiella lachrymosa* (Dinophyceae) in relation to cyst formation and nutrient conditions. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 307:165–81.

Martel, C.M. 2009. Nitrogen-deficient microalgae are rich in cell-surface mannose: Potential implications for prey biorecognition by phagotrophic protozoa. *Brazilian J. Microbiol.* 40:86–9.

Melgarejo, L.M., Vega, N. & Pérez, G. 2005. Isolation and characterization of novel lectins from *Canavalia ensiformis* DC and *Dioclea grandiflora* Mart. ex Benth. seeds. *Brazilian J. Plant Physiol.* 17:315–24.

Ofek, I. & Beachey, E.H. 1978. Mannose binding and epithelial cell adherence of *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* 22:247–54.

Ohan, J., Pelle, B., Nath, P., Huang, J.H., Hovde, B., Vuyisich, M., Dichosa, A.E.K. et al.

2019. High-throughput phenotyping of cell-to-cell interactions in gel microdroplet picocultures. *Biotechniques*. 66:218–24.

Oliveira, A.S., Lóssio, C.F., Rangel, A.J., Martins, M.G.Q., do Nascimento, F.E.P., de Andrade, M.L.L., Cavada, B.S. et al. 2017. Detection, purification and characterization of a lectin from freshwater green algae *Spirogyra* spp. *An. Acad. Bras. Cienc.* 89:2113–7.

Palacio-López, K., Tinaz, B., Holzinger, A. & Domozych, D.S. 2019. Arabinogalactan proteins and the extracellular matrix of charophytes: A sticky business. *Front. Plant Sci.* 10:1–15.

Praseptiangga, D. 2015. Algal Lectins and their Potential Uses. Squalen Bull. Mar. Fish. Postharvest Biotechnol. 10:89.

Ribeiro-Viana, R., García-Vallejo, J.J., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Bloem, K., Van Kooyk, Y. & Rojo, J. 2012. BODIPY-labeled DC-SIGN-targeting glycodendrons efficiently internalize and route to lysosomes in human dendritic cells. *Biomacromolecules*. 13:3209–19.

Rüdiger, H. & Gabius, H. 2011. Breaking the Sugar Code: Six Levels of Affinity Regulation in Glycan-lectin Interaction. *Beilstein-Institut.De*. 11–28.

Salgado, L.T., Andrade, L.R. & Amado, G.M. 2005. Localization of specific monosaccharides in cells of the brown alga *Padina gymnospora* and the relation to heavy-metal accumulation. *Protoplasma*. 225:123–8.

Santos, A.F.S., Da Silva, M.D.C., Napoleão, T.H., Paiva, P.M.G., Correia, M.T.S. & Coelho, L.C.B.B. 2014. Lectins: Function, structure, biological properties and potential applications. *Curr. Top. Pept. Protein Res.* 15:41–62.

Shi, W., Xue, C., Su, X. & Lu, F. 2017. The roles of galectins in parasitic infections. *Acta Trop.*

Singh, R.S., Walia, A.K., Kaur, J., Singh, D.P. & Rajput, A. 2018. New cell surface bound

lectins with complex carbohydrate specificity from members of green algae. *Indian J. Exp. Biol.* 56:484–92.

Spear, G.T., Zariffard, M.R., Xin, J. & Saifuddin, M. 2003. Inhibition of DC-SIGNmediated trans infection of T cells by mannose-binding lectin. *Immunology*. 110:80–5.

Tien, C.J., Sigee, D.C. & White, K.N. 2005. Characterization of surface sugars on algal cells with fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated lectins. *Protoplasma*. 225:225–33.

Vadlapudi, V. & Kaladhar, D. 2012. Present Scenario of Algal-omics: A Mini Review. *Res. Rev. J. Genomics Proteomics*. 1:8–12.

Wang, S.B., Hu, Q., Sommerfeld, M. & Chen, F. 2004. Cell wall proteomics of the green alga *Haematococcus pluvialis* (Chloroplyceae). *Proteomics*. 4:692–708.

Wood-Charlson, E.M., Hollingsworth, L.L., Krupp, D.A. & Weis, V.M. 2006. Lectin/glycan interactions play a role in recognition in a coral/dinoflagellate symbiosis. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8:1985–93.

Yilmaz, G. & Becer, C.R. 2015. Glyconanoparticles and their interactions with lectins. *Polym. Chem.* 6:5503–14.

Zheng, T., Peelen, D. & Smith, L.M. 2005. Lectin arrays for profiling cell surface carbohydrate expression. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127:9982–3.

Capítulo 4: Binding proteins of D-mannose, L-fucose and N-acetylgalactosamine on *Coelastrum microporum* cell surface: Are they lectins? Detection with glycodendrons and genomic analysis

Cíntia de Almeida Gonçalves¹, Túlio Morgan², Tiago Antônio de Oliveira Mendes³, Rute Cunha Figueiredo⁴, Alessandra Giani¹, Javier Rojo⁵, Cleber Cunha Figueredo^{1*}

¹ Department of Botany, Institute of Biological Sciences, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627, Pampulha, Caixa Postal 486, 31270-970, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

² Department of Bioinformatics, Institute of Biological Sciences, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627, Pampulha, Caixa Postal 486, 31270-970, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Federal University of Viçosa, Av. PH Rolfs, s/n, Viçosa, MG, 36570-900, Brazil

⁴ Department of Chemistry, Instituto de Ciências Exatas e Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto, Brazil.

⁵ Glycosystems Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones Químicas (IIQ), CSIC – Universidad de Sevilla, 41092, Sevilla, Spain.

*Corresponding author: cleberfigueredo@ufmg.br Phone: +553134093030

Abstract

Cell surfaces have molecules that mediate important processes that involve cell recognition. Among these molecules are the lectins, proteins of non-immune origin that recognize carbohydrates in a highly specific way. In this work, we detected glycidic receptors of three carbohydrates (L-fucose, D-mannose and N-acetylgalactosamine) on the cell surface of *Coelastrum microporum*, a green alga from the Scenedesmaceae family, using carbohydrates labeling as probes, the glycodendrons. To verify if the presence of these glicydic receptors varies with cell age, we tested the interaction of glycodendrons with cultures at four different time ages: 3, 10, 19 and 26 days of growth. To refine our results, we carried out C. microporum genome sequencing and assembly, and searched for putative lectin-coding genes. C. microporum showed a positive interaction with the three carbohydrates tested in all cell ages tested, except for the first: 3 days of growth. These results suggested that C. microporum had all proteins receptors (the lectins) for the three tested carbohydrates and that these proteins appear to have their presentation aligned with the age of cultivation. The C. microporum genome showed a large number of proteincoding genes (more than 77,000) and among them we detected a gene for a lectin and more 137 genes for proteins that are related to carbohydrate binding, which have great chances of being lectins. Further studies, however, are needed to confirm the biological function of these proteins.

Key words: *C. microporum* genome, protein annotation, lectins, green algae, cell-cell interaction.

1- Introduction

Cell surfaces play important roles in organism physiology and have a wealth of information that determines how cells interact with their environment (Mahal and Bertozzi 1997). The molecules present in cell surfaces are the first interface of contact with the environment and other organisms. Thus, these molecules are protagonists in cell recognition events (Sung et al. 1985). Reproduction, infection by pathogens, adhesion to substrates, mutualistic interactions, among others processes require a precise cell recognition (Basseri 2002, Wood-Charlson et al. 2006, Díaz et al. 2016, Shi et al. 2017). Carbohydrates and proteins, especially lectins, are the main molecules on cell surfaces that mediate cell interactions (Melgarejo et al. 2005).

Lectins are proteins of non-immune origin that bind to carbohydrates and sugar containing substances in a high specific and reversible way (Hamid et al. 2013, Santos et al. 2014). Lectins bind to glycans without altering their covalent structure (Bondar et al. 2016). One of the consequences of this recognition is cell agglutination, which distinguishes lectins from other proteins that bind to carbohydrates, like sensor/transport proteins and antibodies (Rüdiger and Gabius 2011, Santos et al. 2014). Lectin-carbohydrate recognition represents a ligand-receptor interaction that is universal in living organisms (Bulgakov et al. 2004). There are reports of this interaction for many organisms, which include humans (Figueirôa et al. 2017), animals (Roberson and Armstrong 1980), fungi (Nayyar et al. 2017), bacteria (Flannery et al. 2015), plants (Bellande et al. 2017) and also algae (Ingram 1985).

Algae has been increasingly targeted as a sustainable source of alternative raw materials for the production of biofuels and compounds with high commercial value, which are used by the pharmaceutical, cosmetics and nutrition industry (Du et al. 2016). More specifically, there is a recent increasing interest in algal lectins due to their potential

for biomedical applications such as anti-HIV, antitumoral, antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive activities (Singh et al. 2018).

With hundreds of species, Scenedesmaceae is one of the biggest families of Chlorophyceae. It is frequently dominant in freshwater lakes and rivers (Ishaq et al. 2016) and this abundance and species diversity make this family very interesting to be studied as a source of substances with commercial value. Some of the Scenedesmaceae, for example, are known to produce a huge variety of bioactive products with high added value, including their potential as a source of lectins (Silva et al. 2019).

Although there is an increasing search for new substances and more productive species and strains, there are relatively few studies focused on the algal cell surfaces, and this is proportionally more important when we consider their high taxonomic diversity. Some studies are focused on elucidating the physical-chemical properties of the algal cell coverings (Procházková et al. 2012, Ozkan and Berberoglu 2013, Xia et al. 2016, Hao et al. 2017), which influence their ability to adhere to substrates and to form biofilms. Other studies are dedicated to identifying what are the biomolecules present in the algal surfaces (Hori et al. 1996, Aguilera and González-Gil 2001, Tien et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2007). Both types of studies help us to understand how cells interact with other cells and with the environment, as well as a more detailed morphological knowledge of the organism.

In this work, based on the high specificity of interaction between carbohydrates and lectins, we used three different carbohydrates marked as probes (glycodendrons) to detect the presence of their respective receptor (the lectins) on cell surfaces of the Scenedesmaceae *Coelastrum microporum*. The use of carbohydrates as probes to detect lectins is still rare in the literature, especially regarding algae. In a recent study, Gonçalves and collaborators (2019) showed that glycodendrons are a promising and effective tool for this kind of research. In addition to their nanomeric size, glycodendrons are advantageous

because they can present several copies of the carbohydrate units on the periphery of these structures, which allows them to mimic membrane oligosaccharides.

Considering that the composition of surface molecules may not be static (Wang et al. 2004, Zheng et al. 2005) and vary according to the physiological and environmental conditions that the organism is in, we were also interested in to investigate if the glycidic receptors of *C. microporum* vary according to the culture age, and for this, we carry out experiments with cultures in four different ages. We also sequenced and analyzed the *Coelastrum microporum* genome to search for possible lectins and refine our results.

2- Material and methods

2.1- Culture

The *Coelastrum microporum* culture was obtained from the Collection of Algae and Cyanobacteria of the Phycology Laboratory of the Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil. This culture is maintained in CHU 10 medium at $20(\pm 1)$ °C and $22(\pm 0,1)$ µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹, under a light: dark cycle of 12:12 h. The experiments were performed at four growing ages: 3, 10, 19 and 26 days of growth. All experiments and analyses were performed in triplicate, using living cells, and with no fixation process.

2.2- Synthesis of the glycodendrons

Glycodendrons are non-charged molecules formed by a dendritic structure with the outermost glycidic portion composed by carbohydrates. Here, we use three glycodendrons named GD-Man, GD-Fuc and GD-GalNAc that have in their ends a glycidic portion composed of L-fucose, D-mannose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine, respectively. As a control, an analogue control dendron was synthesized, in which we use diethylene glycol instead of a carbohydrate unit. Diethylene glycol provides a soluble control molecule very similar in terms of shape, no charge, size and solubility to that of glycodendrons. These molecules

were synthesized in analytical purity, according to a methodology previously described by Ribeiro-Viana (2012).

2.3- Exposition of the species to the glycodendrons

The species was exposed to glycodendrons and subsequently evaluated using confocal microscopy, according described by Gonçalves et al. (2019). Briefly, glycodendrons and the control were dissolved to achieve a final concentration of 32 μ mol/mL in the aqueous solutions. The culture samples were centrifuged by 5 minutes under 13,792.8 g (13,000 rpm) in a microcentrifuge (Eppendorf 5424) and supernatants were discarded. Pellets were resuspended in 25 μ L of the aqueous solution containing the dendrimer to be tested. The microtubes were then kept by 1 hour at 24°C in a dark chamber and finally put on slides and evaluated under confocal confocal microscope (Zeiss 5-Live) of the Image Acquisition and Processing Center (CAPI-UFMG). The fluorophores on the slides were excited by a laser at 532 nm and the fluorescence was captured by a filter receiving waves from 550 to 615 nm. All the results presented here are representative of more than 90% of the individuals observed on the slides. We used the software LSM *IMAGE BROWSER* (Zeiss) for additional preparation of the images.

2.4- Cultivation and Genomic DNA Isolation

Coelastrum microporum was grown photoautotrophically to exponential phase in CHU 10 medium at 20 (\pm 1) °C and 22 (\pm 0,1) µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹, under a light: dark cycle of 12:12 h. Genomic DNA was extracted following the protocol adapted from Doyle and Doyle (1991). In resume, 200 mL of culture was filtered in fiberglass filter and this filter washed with 500uL mL of a 2% CTAB solution. We added liquid nitrogen into the flask containing samples and macerated cells to break their cell walls. Then, we extracted DNA with β-mercaptoethanol and chloroform solution: isoamyl-alcohol. We performed

several steps of DNA washing with ethanol and TE solution. Finally, we treated the DNA with RNAse and kept the DNA at -20 °C until use.

2.5- Genome Sequencing and Assembly

The *C. microporum* genome was sequenced using whole-genome shotgun approach. The TruSeq Nano DNA kit was used to prepare the fragments library (550 bp fragment length), and the 150 bp paired-end sequencing was carried out on Illumina NovaSeq platform. Quality control assessment and raw data filtering were performed using Fastqc (v. 0.11.5) (Andrews 2010) and Trimmomatic (v0.39) (Bolger et al. 2014), respectively. Reads with mean Q scores less than 15 considering a 4-mer sliding-window were eliminated. *De novo* genome assembly were performed with SPAdes (v3.9.0) using k-mer sizes ranging from 27 to 123.

2.6- Genome annotation

The prediction of protein-coding genes was performed with Augustus (v. 3.2.2) (Stanke and Morgenstern 2005) using the *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* genes parameters. *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* is one of the well-studied green algae in recent years (Kurotani et al. 2017). The protein functional prediction was carried out with PANNZER2 program (Törönen et al. 2018). This tool was one of the best (top 10) in the CAFA3 challenge and also had a friendly web-interface (Zhou et al. 2019). As a selection criterion to identify lectin-coding genes, we selected only proteins for wich the only or main function was "carbohydrate binding". Since PANNZER2 attributes a value for the robustness of results, we only selected proteins with scores above 0.4, which generally provide reliable results.

2.7- Comparison of chlorophyte genomes

We have collected data (genome size, GC content and number of predicted proteins) from some other Chlorophyta in the literature and compared them with the data obtained for *Coelastrum microporum* genome. Only nuclear and annotated genomes were considered, which resulted in only nine species to be compared. Many species have only their mitochondrial and plastid genomes sequenced, these were not selected.

3- Results

3.1- Detection of glycidic receptors

All results of interactions with glycodendrons are shown in Figure 1. *Coelastrum microporum* was not labeled by any glycodendrons at day 3 and was labeled by all glycodendrons (GD-Man, GD-Fuc, GD-GalNac) with 10 and 19 days of growth. At day 26, cultures were labeled by GD-Man and GD-Fuc, but not by GD-GalNac.

3.2- Assembly and functional annotation of Coelastrum microporum genome

The *C. microporum* strain studied here had a genome of 200 Mbp with 54% GC content (proportion of guanine and cytosine bases in the DNA molecule). Table 1 shows a comparison between the genome of *C. microporum* and other Chlorophyte. *C. microporum* has a much higher number of predicted proteins compared to the other species. The size of its genome was alsohigher compared with the other species, except by *Dunaliella salina*, which has a genome larger than 340Mb but almost half of the number of predicted proteins compared to *C. microporum*. *Scenedesmus obliquus* (currently called *Tetradesmus obliquus*), which belongs to the same family as *C. microporum* also had a large genome with 172.4 Mb and a large number of predicted proteins, but much smaller than *C. microporum*.
Species	Genome size (Mb)	GC%	N° of predict proteins	Reference
Coelastrum microporum	200	54	77149	This work.
Dunaliella salina	343.7	49.1	36851	Polle et al. 2000
Scenedesmus obliquus AS-6-11 (Currently, Tetradesmus obliquus)	172.3	52	31964	Chen et al. 2020
Ostreococcus tauri	12.6	59	8166	Derelle et al. 2006
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	13.2	58	7651	Palenik et al. 2007
Auxenochlorella protothecoides	22.9	63	7039	Gao et al. 2014
Volvox carteri	138	56	14520	Prochnik et al. 2010
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	121	64	15143	Merchant et al. 2007
Chlorella vulgaris	40	61	10724	Cecchin et al. 2019

Table 1- Comparison of the characteristics of the *C. microporum* genome with the genomes of other Chlorophyta.

The prediction made by Augustus showed 77,149 protein-coding genes in *Coelastrum microporum* genome, and 137 of those were related to recognition of carbohydrates according to PANNZER2 and one more was detected as a lectinAs our study was focused on interaction via the cell surface, only proteins located in that cell region or those in which the region was not predicted were considered. These 137 proteins were located in cell membrane (59), extracellular region (15) or have their locations not identified (63).



Figura 1- Confocal images of *C. microporum* and their interactions with the glycodendrons in 4 differents growth ages. Yellow color: glycodendron fluorescence. Scale bar: 10uM.

4- Discussion

In this work, we produced more information that allowed to investigate if *Coelastrum microporum* glycidic receptors are probably lectins. The first reason to consider that, is the highly specificity of lectin-carbohydrate interaction. Although the results presented here corroborate those obtained in a previous study (Gonçalves et al. 2019), with *C. microporum* interacting with the same glycodendrons, the interactions were only detectable after 10 days of culture growth, with no labeling at day 3. These results suggested that the cell surface molecules capable to recognize carbohydrates may be differently synthesized according to the *C. microporum* culture aging. In fact, organisms surface biomolecules composition seems to be dynamics, showing variations that are determined by physiological factors (Zheng et al. 2005).

Some microalgae show a carbohydrate composition in their cell surface that can vary according to its physiological status (Kremp and Anderson 2004) and is also dependent on the availability of nitrogen (Martel 2009). For benthic diatoms, the composition of extracellular polymeric substances (EPSs), which is composed of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins, also can vary according to cell's physiological state and abiotic conditions such as light availability (Smith and Underwood 2000, De Brouwer and Stal 2002). In relation to lectins, this type of information is still very rare for microalgae. However, if we consider proteins in general, the chlorophyte *Haematococcus* has a highly dynamic proteic composition of its cell surface (Wang et al. 2004).

Lectins in algae have been increasingly described (Singh et al. 2018) and those that recognize mannose, fucose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine appear to be common among organisms. D-mannose, L-fucose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine are common carbohydrates in nature and participate in various recognition processes involving other organisms (Ofek and Beachey 1978, Boettner et al. 2002, Spear et al. 2003). These carbohydrates were also detected in some recognition processes that involve algae. In *Antithamnion nipponicum* (Rhodophyta), L-fucose and D-mannose and their respective lectins appear to mediate the gametes recognition (Kim et al. 1996). In other microalgae, these carbohydrates (D-mannose, L-fucose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine) and their respective lectins seem to be responsible for the recognition of these microalgae by their predators (bivalves) (Espinosa et al. 2010). In *Tetraselmis*, despite an unknown function, mannose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine were detected by lectins on the surface of the flagellum of different strains (Becker et al. 1995) and in algae of the genus *Codium* (Chlorophyta), some lectins with specificity for GalNAc have already been described (Praseptiangga 2015). In addition, a very recent study show that a mannose-binding lectin is present in *Tetradesmus obliquus*, a Scenedesmaceae, such as *C. microporum* (Chen et al. 2020). Thus, although that are few studies focused on this subject, it was not a surprise our finds related to the presence of receptors that recognize these carbohydrates in *C. microporum*.

In order to better understand our results, we sequenced and annotated the *Coelastrum microporum* genome. Whole genomic algae sequences allowed the prediction of the encoded proteome, which allows an analysis of the potential metabolic capacities of the cell (Bowler and Allen 2007). *Coelastrum microporum* presented a genome of ~ 200 Mbp, which was large when compared to other algae species, such as *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (110-111 Mb), *Eudorina* sp (184.0 Mb.) *Chlamydomonas* schloesseri (130.2 Mb) *Edaphochlamys debaryana* (142.1 Mb) (Craig et al. 2020) and *Chloropicon primus*, with 17.4 Mb (Lemieux et al. 2019). The GC content, as expected, had a considerable value (54%), since green algae usually tend to have GC contents greater than most eukaryotes (30-40%) and rarely below 50% (Weiss et al. 2010). GC content is one of the most important qualitative aspects of the genome architecture, playing a critical role in

gene and genome regulation and determines the physical properties of DNA molecules (Šmarda et al. 2014). In prokaryotes, the GC content is well studied and widely used in the taxonomy (Šmarda et al. 2014) and combined with genome size, serves as a simple tool for basic genome characterization and taxa delimitation. In eukaryotic genomes, the general content of GC has a narrower variation, decreasing in variation with the incidence of multicellularity and an increase in structural and functional complexity (Šmarda et al. 2012). GC content also seems to be related to the amount of genes found in DNA (Bernardi et al. 1988). In fact, *C. microporum* showed a large number of genes.

The number of protein-coding genes found in C. microporum was very high, being over 77,000. It was an expressive number when compared to other algae (table1). Chlamydomonas, for comparison, has 15,143 proteins-coding genes (Merchant). A large amount of protein has already been reported for C. microporum, which presented 21% of protein of its total biomass (Carneiro et al. 2019), a high value when compared which other green algae such as Chlorella ovalis (10-11%) and Dunaliella primolecta (12-13%) (Slocombe et al. 2013). However, considering function, in general, more than half of the proteins encoded by the algae genomes are of unknown function and their functional capabilities have yet to be discovered (Blaby-Hass and Merchant 2019). In fact, the protein annotation obtained by PANNZER2 showed a large number of uncharacterized proteins or proteins without any information (data not shown). This may be due in part to the lack of characterized sequences of algae origin in public databases (Kurotani et al. 2017). Despite that, PANNZER2 predicted one protein as lectin and many others with great potential to also be lectins (137 in total). Considering that carbohydrate-binding proteins is widely distributed in freshwater microalgae (Chu et al. 2004), we have a good chance of actually detecting lectins in C. microporum.

The identification of lectins in microalgae, besides helping to understand the physiology and morphology of organisms, generate knowledge about lectins repertoire existing in algae, which have interesting biotechnological applications. Algal lectins have potential for a variety of biomedical applications (Singh et al. 2015, 2018) like potential for use in preventing HIV transmission (Li et al. 2008) and also against the hepatitis C virus (HCV) (Takebe et al. 2013). Red algae and cyanobacteria lectins are better known, but green algae lectins are also being described and their potential uses are being investigated (Oliveira et al. 2017, Singh et al. 2018). Compared to lectins characterized from animal and terrestrial plant sources, little is known about the biochemical and structural properties of macroalgal lectins (Harnedy and Fitzgerald 2011). About microalgae, although considerable progress has been made in understanding the distribution and biochemical characteristics of some lectins, much less is known in comparison with terrestrial plant lectins, which limits their uses (Silva et al. 2019). Thus, the elucidation of *C. microporum* lectins would also contribute to knowledge in this field.

In summary, this work showed that the green algae *Coelastrum microporum* has glycidic receptors for three different carbohydrates (D-mannose, L-fucose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine) and according to the functional annotation of its genome, these receptors can be lectins. However, more refined studies, such as proteomic analysis to identify and characterize these proteins, are still required.

5- References

- Andrews, S. 2010. FastQC: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. Babraham Institute http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc.
- Aguilera, A. & González-Gil, S. 2001. Lectin analysis of surface saccharides during the cell cycle in four dinoflagellate species. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 256:149–66.

Amy Sung, L., Kabat, E.A. & Chien, S. 1985. Interaction of lectins with membrane

receptors on erythrocyte surfaces. J. Cell Biol. 101:646-51.

- Basseri, H.R. 2002. Role of Lectins in Interaction Between Parasites and the Important Insect Vectors. *Iran. J. Public Health.* 31:69–74.
- Becker, B., Dreschers, S. & Melkonian, M. 1995. Lectin binding of flagellar scaleassociated glycoproteins in Different strains of teiraselmis (Chlorophyta). *Eur. J. Phycol.* 30:307–12.
- Bellande, K., Bono, J.J., Savelli, B., Jamet, E. & Canut, H. 2017. Plant lectins and lectin receptor-like kinases: How do they sense the outside? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18.
- Bernardi, Giorgio, Mouchiroud, D., Gautier, C. & Bernardi, Giacomo 1988. Compositional patterns in vertebrate genomes: Conservation and change in evolution. J. Mol. Evol. 28:7–18.
- Boettner, D.R., Huston, C. & Petri, W.A. 2002. Galactose/*N*-acetylgalactosamine lectin: The coordinator of host cell killing. *J. Biosci.* 27:553–7.
- Bolger, A.M., Lohse, M. & Usadel, B. 2014. Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. *Bioinformatics*. 30:2114–20.
- Bondar, A. T., Tole, S. B., & Patil, S.M. 2016. Isolation and Purification of Lectin from Soybean (Glycine Max) Mahabeej Js-335. *J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem. JPP*. 5:89–92.
- Bowler, C. & Allen, A. 2007. The contribution of genomics to the understanding of algal evolution. 331–40.
- Bulgakov, A.A., Park, K. II, Choi, K.S., Lim, H.K. & Cho, M. 2004. Purification and characterisation of a lectin isolated from the Manila clam *Ruditapes philippinarum* in Korea. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 16:487–99.
- Carneiro, D. de C., Mascarenhas Oliveira, M. & da Cunha Lima, S.T. 2019. Estimating protein quantities from microalgae: protein per biomass percentage, spectroscopic concentration, and lectin content. *Chem. Pap.* 73:2535–40.
- Cecchin, M., Marcolungo, L., Rossato, M., Girolomoni, L., Cosentino, E., Cuine, S., Li-Beisson, Y. et al. 2019. *Chlorella vulgaris* genome assembly and annotation reveals the molecular basis for metabolic acclimation to high light conditions. *Plant J.* 100:1289–305.
- Chen, B., Mhuantong, W., Ho, S., Chang, J. & Bai, F. 2020. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation of the self- occulating microalga *Scenedesmus obliquus*.

- Chu, C.Y., Liao, W.R., Huang, R. & Lin, L.P. 2004. Haemagglutinating and antibiotic activities of freshwater microalgae. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 20:817–25.
- Craig, R.J., Hasan, A.R., Ness, R.W. & Keightley, P.D. 2020. Comparative genomics of *Chlamydomonas. bioRxiv*. 2020.06.13.149070.
- De Brouwer, J.F.C. & Stal, L.J. 2002. Daily fluctuations of exopolymers in cultures of the benthic diatoms *Cylindrotheca closterium* and *Nitzschia* sp. (Bacillariophyceae). J. *Phycol.* 38:464–72.
- Derelle, E., Ferraz, C., Rombauts, S., Rouzé, P., Worden, A.Z., Robbens, S., Partensky, F. et al. 2006. Genome analysis of the smallest free-living eukaryote *Ostreococcus tauri* unveils many unique features. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 103:11647–52.
- Díaz, E.M., Sánchez-Elordi, E., Santiago, R., Vicente, C. & Legaz, M.E. 2016. Algal-Fungal Mutualism: Cell Recognition and Maintenance of the Symbiotic Status of Lichens. J. Vet. Med. Res. 3:1052.
- Doyle, J. 1991. DNA Protocols for Plants. Mol. Tech. Taxon. 283-93.
- Du, Y., Schuur, B., Kersten, S.R.A. & Brilman, D.W.F. 2016. Microalgae wet extraction using N-ethyl butylamine for fatty acid production. *Green Energy Environ.* 1:79–83.
- Espinosa, E.P., Perrigault, M., Ward, J.E., Shumway, S.E. & Allam, B. 2010. Microalgal cell surface carbohydrates as recognition sites for particle sorting in suspensionfeeding bivalves. *Biol. Bull.* 218:75–86.
- Figueirôa, de O., Evellyne, Albuquerque da Cunha, C.R., Albuquerque, P.B.S., de Paula, R.A., Aranda-Souza, M.A., Alves, M.S. et al. 2017. Lectin-Carbohydrate Interactions: Implications for the Development of New Anticancer Agents. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 24.
- Flannery, A., Gerlach, J., Joshi, L. & Kilcoyne, M. 2015. Assessing Bacterial Interactions Using Carbohydrate-Based Microarrays. *Microarrays*. 4:690–713.
- Gao, C., Wang, Y., Shen, Y., Yan, D., He, X., Dai, J. & Wu, Q. 2014. Oil accumulation mechanisms of the oleaginous microalga *Chlorella protothecoides* revealed through its genome, transcriptomes, and proteomes. *BMC Genomics*. 15:1–14.
- Gonçalves, C. de A., Figueiredo, R.C., Giani, A., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Rojo, J. & Figueredo, C.C. 2019. Detection of glycidic receptors in microalgae using glycodendrons as probes: a new tool for studies on cell surface interactions. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 31:211–21.
- Hamid, R., Masood, A., Wani, I.H. & Rafiq, S. 2013. Lectins: Proteins with diverse applications. J. Appl. Pharm. Sci. 3.

- Hao, W., Yanpeng, L., Zhou, S., Xiangying, R., Wenjun, Z. & Jun, L. 2017. Surface characteristics of microalgae and their effects on harvesting performance by air flotation. *Int. J. Agric. Biol. Eng.* 10:125–33.
- Harnedy, P.A. & Fitzgerald, R.J. 2011. Bioactive proteins, peptides, and amino acids from macroalgae. *J. Phycol.* 47:218–32.
- Hori, K., Ogata, T., Kamiya, H. & Mimuro, M. 1996. Lectin-like compounds and lectin receptors in marine microalgae: Hemagglutination and reactivity with purified lectins. *J. Phycol.* 32:783–90.
- Ingram, G.A. 1985. Lectins and lectin-like molecules in lower plants II. Freshwater algae.
- Ishaq, A., Tun, U., Onn, H., Monica, H. & Peralta, M. 2016. Bioactive Compounds from Green Microalga – *Scenedesmus* and its Potential Applications : A Brief Review Bioactive Compounds from Green Microalga – *Scenedesmus* and its Potential Applications : A Brief Review.
- Kim, G.H., Lee, I.K. & Fritz, L. 1996. Cell-Cell Recognition during Fertilization in a Red Alga , *Antithamnion sparsum* (Ceramiaceae , Rhodophyta). 37:621–8.
- Kim, G.H., Yoon, M., West, J.A., Klochkova, T.A. & Kim, S.H. 2007. Possible surface carbohydrates involved in signaling during conjugation process in *Zygnema cruciatum* monitored with fluorescein isothiocyanate-lectins (Zygnemataceae, Chlorophyta). *Phycol. Res.* 55:135–42.
- Kremp, A. & Anderson, D.M. 2004. Lectin binding patterns of Scrippsiella lachrymosa (Dinophyceae) in relation to cyst formation and nutrient conditions. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 307:165–81.
- Kurotani, A., Yamada, Y. & Sakurai, T. 2017. Alga-PrAS (Algal Protein Annotation Suite): A database of comprehensive annotation in algal proteomes. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 58:e6.
- Lemieux, C., Turmel, M., Otis, C. & Pombert, J.F. 2019. A streamlined and predominantly diploid genome in the tiny marine green alga Chloropicon primus. *Nat. Commun.* 10.
- Li, Y., Zhang, X., Chen, G., Wei, D. & Chen, F. 2008. Algal Lectins for Potential Prevention of HIV Transmission. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 15:1096–104.
- Mahal, L.K. & Bertozzi, C.R. 1997. Engineered cell surfaces: Fertile ground for molecular landscaping. *Chem. Biol.* 4:415–22.
- Martel, C.M. 2009. Nitrogen-deficient microalgae are rich in cell-surface mannose: Potential implications for prey biorecognition by phagotrophic protozoa. *Brazilian J*.

Microbiol. 40:86–9.

- Melgarejo, L.M., Vega, N. & Pérez, G. 2005. Isolation and characterization of novel lectins from *Canavalia ensiformis* DC and *Dioclea grandiflora* Mart. ex Benth. seeds. *Brazilian J. Plant Physiol.* 17:315–24.
- Nayyar, A., Walker, G., Wardrop, F. & Adya, A.K. 2017. Flocculation in industrial strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: role of cell wall polysaccharides and lectin-like receptors. *J. Inst. Brew.* 123:211–8.
- Ofek, I. & Beachey, E.H. 1978. Mannose binding and epithelial cell adherence of *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* 22:247–54.
- Oliveira, A.S., Lóssio, C.F., Rangel, A.J., Martins, M.G.Q., do Nascimento, F.E.P., de Andrade, M.L.L., Cavada, B.S. et al. 2017. Detection, purification and characterization of a lectin from freshwater green algae *Spirogyra* spp. *An. Acad. Bras. Cienc.* 89:2113–7.
- Ozkan, A. & Berberoglu, H. 2013. Biofouling : The Journal of Bioadhesion and Biofilm Adhesion of algal cells to surfaces. 37–41.
- Palenik, B., Grimwood, J., Aerts, A., Rouzé, P., Salamov, A., Putnam, N., Dupont, C. et al. 2007. The tiny eukaryote Ostreococcus provides genomic insights into the paradox of plankton speciation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104:7705–10.
- Polle, J.E.W., Barry, K., Cushman, J., Schmutz, J., Tran, D., Hathwaik, L.T., Yim, W.C. et al. 2000. crossm Draft Nuclear Genome Sequence of the. 5:17–9.
- Praseptiangga, D. 2015. Algal Lectins and their Potential Uses. Squalen Bull. Mar. Fish. Postharvest Biotechnol. 10:89.
- Procházková, G., Šafařík, I. & Brányik, T. 2012. Surface modification of *Chlorella vulgaris* cells using magnetite particles. *Procedia Eng.* 42:1778–87.
- Prochnik, S.E., Umen, J., Nedelcu, A.M., Hallmann, A., Miller, S.M., Nishii, I., Ferris, P. et al. 2010. Genomic analysis of organismal complexity in the multicellular green alga *Volvox carteri. Science* (80-.). 329:223–6.
- Ribeiro-Viana, R., García-Vallejo, J.J., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Bloem, K., Van Kooyk, Y. & Rojo, J. 2012. BODIPY-labeled DC-SIGN-targeting glycodendrons efficiently internalize and route to lysosomes in human dendritic cells. *Biomacromolecules*. 13:3209–19.
- Roberson, M.M. & Armstrong, P.B. 1980. Carbohydrate-binding component of amphibian embryo cell surfaces: Restriction to surface regions capable of cell adhesion. *Proc.*

Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 77:3460-3.

- Rüdiger, H. & Gabius, H. 2011. Breaking the Sugar Code: Six Levels of Affinity Regulation in Glycan-lectin Interaction. *Beilstein-Institut.De*. 11–28.
- Sabeeha S. Merchant1,*, Simon E. Prochnik2,*, Olivier Vallon3, Elizabeth H. Harris4, Steven A. Sanderfoot11, Martin H. Spalding12, Vladimir V. Kapitonov13, Qinghu Ren14, Patrick Laurence Maréchal-Drouard7, Wallace F. Marshall8, Liang-Hu Qu9, David R. Nels, A. 2007. The *Chlamydomonas* Genome Reveals the Evolution of Key. *Natl. institutes Heal.* 318:245–50.
- Santos, A.F.S., Da Silva, M.D.C., Napoleão, T.H., Paiva, P.M.G., Correia, M.T.S. & Coelho, L.C.B.B. 2014. Lectins: Function, structure, biological properties and potential applications. *Curr. Top. Pept. Protein Res.* 15:41–62.
- Shi, W., Xue, C., Su, X. & Lu, F. 2017. The roles of galectins in parasitic infections. *Acta Trop.*
- Silva, A.J., Cavalcanti, V.L.R., Porto, A.L.F., Gama, W.A. & Bezerra, R.P. 2019. The green microalgae Tetradesmus obliquus (*Scenedesmus acutus*) as lectin source in the recognition of ABO blood type : purification and characterization. *J. Appl. Phycol.*
- Singh, R.S., Thakur, S.R. & Bansal, P. 2015. Algal lectins as promising biomolecules for biomedical research. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 41:77–88.
- Singh, R.S., Walia, A.K., Kaur, J., Singh, D.P. & Rajput, A. 2018. New cell surface bound lectins with complex carbohydrate specificity from members of green algae. *Indian J. Exp. Biol.* 56:484–92.
- Slocombe, S.P., Ross, M., Thomas, N., McNeill, S. & Stanley, M.S. 2013. A rapid and general method for measurement of protein in micro-algal biomass. *Bioresour*. *Technol.* 129:51–7.
- Šmarda, P., Bureš, P., Horová, L., Leitch, I.J., Mucina, L., Pacini, E., Tichý, L. et al. 2014. Ecological and evolutionary significance of genomic GC content diversity in monocots. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111:E4096–102.
- Šmarda, P., Bureš, P., Šmerda, J. & Horová, L. 2012. Measurements of genomic GC content in plant genomes with flow cytometry: A test for reliability. *New Phytol*. 193:513–21.
- Smith, D.J. & Underwood, G.J.C. 2000. The production of extracellular carbohydrates by estuarine benthic diatoms: The effects of growth phase and light and dark treatment. *J. Phycol.* 36:321–33.

- Spear, G.T., Zariffard, M.R., Xin, J. & Saifuddin, M. 2003. Inhibition of DC-SIGNmediated trans infection of T cells by mannose-binding lectin. *Immunology*. 110:80–5.
- Stanke, M. & Morgenstern, B. 2005. AUGUSTUS: A web server for gene prediction in eukaryotes that allows user-defined constraints. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33:465–7.
- Takebe, Y., Saucedo, C.J., Lund, G., Uenishi, R., Hase, S., Tsuchiura, T., Kneteman, N. et al. 2013. Antiviral Lectins from Red and Blue-Green Algae Show Potent In Vitro and In Vivo Activity against Hepatitis C Virus. *PLoS One*. 8:1–10.
- Tien, C.J., Sigee, D.C. & White, K.N. 2005. Characterization of surface sugars on algal cells with fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated lectins. *Protoplasma*. 225:225–33.
- Törönen, P., Medlar, A. & Holm, L. 2018. PANNZER2: A rapid functional annotation web server. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46:W84–8.
- Wang, S.B., Hu, Q., Sommerfeld, M. & Chen, F. 2004. Cell wall proteomics of the green alga Haematococcus pluvialis (Chloroplyceae). Proteomics. 4:692–708.
- Weiss, T.L., Spencer Johnston, J., Fujisawa, K., Sumimoto, K., Okada, S., Chappell, J. & Devarenne, T.P. 2010. Phylogenetic placement, genome size, and gc content of the liquid-hydrocarbon-producing green microalga *Botryococcus braunii* strain berkeley (showa) (chlorophyta). *J. Phycol.* 46:534–40.
- Wood-Charlson, E.M., Hollingsworth, L.L., Krupp, D.A. & Weis, V.M. 2006. Lectin/glycan interactions play a role in recognition in a coral/dinoflagellate symbiosis. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8:1985–93.
- Xia, L., Li, H. & Song, S. 2016. Cell surface characterization of some oleaginous green algae. J. Appl. Phycol. 28:391–407.
- Zheng, T., Peelen, D. & Smith, L.M. 2005. Lectin arrays for profiling cell surface carbohydrate expression. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127:9982–3.
- Zhou, N., Jiang, Y., Bergquist, T.R., Lee, A.J., Kacsoh, B.Z., Crocker, A.W., Lewis, K.A. et al. 2019. The CAFA challenge reports improved protein function prediction and new functional annotations for hundreds of genes through experimental screens. *Genome Biol.* 20:1–23.

Considerações finais

Nesse trabalho foram geradas informações sobre coberturas e superfícies celulares de microalgas. As paredes celulares de seis espécies de microalgas verdes, pertencentes aos filos Chlorophyta e Charophyta foram estudadas. Moléculas receptoras de carboidratos foram detectados na superfície de cinco delas e *Coelastrum microporum*, teve ainda seu genoma sequenciado e anotado.

As microalgas possuem um diversificado repertório de coberturas celulares. Apesar disso, notamos que havia uma limitação de conhecimento sobre o assunto, principalmente considerando a grande diversidade do grupo. Poucas espécies são bem estudadas, sendo frequentemente feitas generalizações, que podem ser equivocadas. Assim, vimos a necessidade de fazer um levantamento minucioso sobre as informações disponíveis a respeito de coberturas celulares algais, o que resultou na revisão bibliográfica apresentada no capítulo 1. Espera-se que a publicação dessa revisão seja útil para consulta rápida por ficologistas, assim como foi fundamental para nortear os experimentos desse projeto. Vimos que as coberturas celulares algais são variadas em termos de composição e arquitetura, tanto entre os grandes grupos (Okuda 2002), quanto dentro de um mesmo táxon (Domozych et al. 2012).

De fato, as espécies aqui testadas mostraram uma composição de parede celular variada quanto aos tipos de pectinas e hemiceluloses. Essa variação, que ocorreu não somente entre espécies, mas também em uma mesma espécie com diferentes tempos de cultivo, sugere que existe uma dinâmica dos componentes da parede celular associada ao estado fisiológico das células. Em plantas, as pectinas da parede celular passam por processos de de-esterificação bem conhecidos (Voiniciuc et al. 2018) e, apesar de não esclarecido para algas, o metabolismo de pectinas descrito para *Penium margaritaceum* é semelhante ao descrito para plantas (Domozych et al. 2014). No presente trabalho, os

resultados da imunocitoquímica sugeriram que *C. microporum* também possui uma dinâmica de pectinas semelhante à descrita para plantas. Considerando a grande similaridade na composição e dinâmica de parede celular apresentadas, sugerimos essa espécie como um possível organismo modelo para estudos de células vegetais.

Assim como a composição das paredes celulares, os receptores glicídicos para Dmanose, L-fucose e *N*-acetilgalactosamina detectados nas superfícies celulares das espécies também variaram de acordo com a idade das células, sugerindo uma expressão coordenada desses receptores com o estado fisiológico do organismo. Os carboidratos presentes nas superfícies das células podem ter sua expressão diferenciada durante o crescimento celular (Zheng et al. 2005) e, portanto, uma expressão diferenciada de proteínas receptoras de carboidratos também pode ser esperada, já que a interação entre carboidratos e proteínas (especialmente as lectinas) são chave para muitos processos que envolvem reconhecimento celular (Melgarejo et al. 2005, Reina and Rojo 2013).

As lectinas são proteínas ubíquas na natureza e conhecidas por sua capacidade de interagir com carboidratos de forma altamente específica (Santos et al. 2014). Por causa dessa especificidade, lectinas são consideradas sondas confiáveis e muito úteis para detecção de carboidratos em superfícies celulares. A via contrária (uso de carboidratos como sondas, como os glicodendrons por exemplo) ainda é raramente explorada, mas como mostrado recentemente por Gonçalves e colaboradores (2019), também é uma ferramenta promissora para esse tipo de estudo. Os glicodendrons são moléculas que apresentam várias cópias de um carboidrato, o que mimetiza os glicídios presentes na natureza (Reina and Rojo 2013), conferindo maior robustez para as interações e os resultados. Utilizando os glicodendrons, detectamos receptores nas superfícies das microalgas testadas, os quais provavelmente são lectinas receptoras dos carboidratos testados: D-manose, L-fucose e *N*-acetilgalactosamina.

122

Os glicodendrons permitem uma segura detecção de receptores glicídicos nas superfícies celulares, mas, no entanto, não permite sua caracterização. O sequenciamento e anotação do genoma de *C. microporum* permitiu a busca por lectinas e foi encontrado um número considerável de proteínas (137) com tais características. No entanto, estudos complementares, como análises proteômicas, ainda são necessários para comprovação e caracterização dessas moléculas.

Referências

- Baudelet, P.H., Ricochon, G., Linder, M. & Muniglia, L. 2017. A new insight into cell walls of Chlorophyta. *Algal Res.* 25:333–71.
- Bulgakov, A.A., Park, K. Il, Choi, K.S., Lim, H.K. & Cho, M. 2004. Purification and characterisation of a lectin isolated from the Manila clam *Ruditapes philippinarum* in Korea. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*. 16:487–99.
- Cavalier-Smith, T. 2016. Higher classification and phylogeny of Euglenozoa. *Eur. J. Protistol.* 56:250–76.
- Dixon, C. & Wilken, L.R. 2018. Green microalgae biomolecule separations and recovery. *Bioresour. Bioprocess.* 5.
- Domozych, D.S., Ciancia, M., Fangel, J.U., Mikkelsen, M.D., Ulvskov, P. & Willats,W.G.T. 2012. The cell walls of green algae: A journey through evolution and diversity. *Front. Plant Sci.* 3.
- Domozych, D.S., Sørensen, I., Popper, Z.A., Ochs, J., Andreas, A., Fangel, J.U., Pielach,
 A. et al. 2014. Pectin metabolism and assembly in the cell wall of the charophyte
 green alga *Penium margaritaceum*. *Plant Physiol*. 165:105–18.
- Du, Y., Schuur, B., Kersten, S.R.A. & Brilman, D.W.F. 2016. Microalgae wet extraction

using N-ethyl butylamine for fatty acid production. Green Energy Environ. 1:79-83.

- Eikrem, W., Medlin, L.K., Henderiks, J., Rokitta, S., Rost, B., Probert, I. & Throndsen, J. 2017. Handbook of the Protists.
- Gigova, L. and & Marinova, G. 2016. Significance of microalgae-grounds and areas. Genet. Plant Physiol. 6:85–100.
- Gonçalves, C. de A., Figueiredo, R.C., Giani, A., Collado, D., Pérez-Inestrosa, E., Rojo, J.
 & Figueredo, C.C. 2019. Detection of glycidic receptors in microalgae using glycodendrons as probes: a new tool for studies on cell surface interactions. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 31:211–21.
- Hopes, A. & Mock, T. 2015. Evolution of Microalgae and Their Adaptations in Different Marine Ecosystems. *eLS*. 1–9.
- Melgarejo, L.M., Vega, N. & Pérez, G. 2005. Isolation and characterization of novel lectins from *Canavalia ensiformis* DC and *Dioclea grandiflora* Mart. ex Benth. seeds. *Brazilian J. Plant Physiol.* 17:315–24.

Okuda, K. 2002. Structure and phylogeny of cell coverings. J. Plant Res. 115:283-8.

- Reina, J.J. & Rojo, J. 2013. Glycodendritic structures: Tools to interact with DC-SIGN. Brazilian J. Pharm. Sci. 49:109–24.
- Santos, A.F.S., Da Silva, M.D.C., Napoleão, T.H., Paiva, P.M.G., Correia, M.T.S. & Coelho, L.C.B.B. 2014. Lectins: Function, structure, biological properties and potential applications. *Curr. Top. Pept. Protein Res.* 15:41–62.
- Singh, R.S., Thakur, S.R. & Bansal, P. 2015. Algal lectins as promising biomolecules for biomedical research. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 41:77–88.

- Singh, R.S., Walia, A.K., Kaur, J., Singh, D.P. & Rajput, A. 2018. New cell surface bound lectins with complex carbohydrate specificity from members of green algae. *Indian J. Exp. Biol.* 56:484–92.
- Voiniciuc, C., Pauly, M. & Usadel, B. 2018. Monitoring polysaccharide dynamics in the plant cell wall. *Plant Physiol.* 176:2590–600.
- Wu, C., Xiao, Y., Lin, W., Li, J., Zhang, S., Zhu, J. & Rong, J. 2017. Aqueous enzymatic process for cell wall degradation and lipid extraction from *Nannochloropsis* sp. *Bioresour. Technol.* 223:312–6.
- Zheng, T., Peelen, D. & Smith, L.M. 2005. Lectin arrays for profiling cell surface carbohydrate expression. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127:9982–3.